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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)

E3) ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013

OR

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission file number 001-36017

Control4 Corporation

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its @rart

Delaware 42-158320¢
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
incorporation or organizatior Identification No.)

11734 S. Election Road
Salt Lake City, Utah 84020
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(801) 523-3100
(Registrant's telephone number, including area)code

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(thefct:

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which register
Common Stock, $0.0001 par value per sl The NASDAQ Stock Market LL(

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(¢ghefct:
None




Indicate by check mark if the registrana well-known seasoned issuer, as defined ie R0b of the Securities Act. Yds No X
Indicate by check mark if the registrntot required to file reports pursuant to Secfi@ or Section 15(d) of the Act. YdS No &

Indicate by check mark whether the regig (1) has filed all reports required to bediley Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchafgeof 1934 during the preceding 12 months
(or for such shorter period that the registrant veggiired to file such reports), and (2) has besdsjest to such filing requirements for the pasti@gs. YesX No O

Indicate by check mark whether the rtegig has submitted electronically and posted ®oatporate Web site, if any, every InteractiveeCrite required to be submitted and posted
pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.40thisf chapter) during the preceding 12 monthsdostich shorter period that the registrant wasireduo submit and post such

files). Yes & No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosuredefinquent filers pursuant to Iltem 405 of Regulat®K (§ 229.405 of this chapter) is not contaiheckin, and will not be contained, to the best
of registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy afdrmation statements incorporated by referend®gin I1l of this Form 10-K or any amendment to thegm 10-K.

Indicate by check mark whether the rtegig is a large accelerated filer, an accelerfiexd a nonaccelerated filer or a smaller reporting comparge 8efinition of "accelerated filel
"large accelerated filer" and "smaller reportingnpany" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated fileEd Accelerated filerd Non-accelerated filef Smaller reporting companid
(do not check if a
smaller reporting compan’

Indicate by check mark whether the tegig is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12ifthe Exchange Act). Ye&l No &

As of June 30, 2013, the last businegsad the registrant's most recently completed iséciarter, there was no established public mdiokehe registrant's common stock. The
registrant's common stock began trading on the NAQBlobal Select Market on August 2, 2013. The aggte market value of voting and non-voting commequity held by noraffiliates
of the registrant as of August 2, 2013 was appreséty $199.7 million (based on a closing sale poit$20.05 per share as reported for the NASDACh&I&elect Market on August 2,
2013). For purposes of this calculation, sharemaimon stock held by officers, directors and théfitiated holders and shares of common stock bglgersons who hold more than 10% of
the outstanding common stock of the registrant feeen excluded from this calculation because secspps may be deemed to be affiliates. This detetion of executive officer or
affiliate status is not necessarily a conclusiviedrination for other purposes.

As of February 14, 2014, 22,901,986 ehaf the registrant's Common Stock, $0.0001 paeysvere outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrant's definitReoxy Statement relating to its 2014 Annual Meeth@tockholders are incorporated by reference Rau 111 of this Annual Report on Form 10-
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Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K ("Form 10}Kontains "forward-looking statements" within thieaning of the "safe harbor"
provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Bef Act of 1995, including but not limited to, statents regarding Control4's financial
outlook. All statements other than statements stohical fact contained in this Form 10-K are ford«ooking statements. In some cases, you
can identify forward-looking statements by termomt such as "may," "will," "should," "expects," §pis," "anticipates," "believes,"
"estimates," "predicts," "potential" or "continua"the negative of these terms or other comparebhinology. These forward-looking
statements are made as of the date they werésBrstd and were based on current expectations)ass, forecasts, and projections as well a:
the beliefs and assumptions of management. Forieaidng statements are subject to a number of @skkuncertainties, many of which
involve factors or circumstances that are beyondt@il's control. Control4's actual results coulffied materially from those stated or implied
in forward-looking statements due to a number ofdes, including but not limited to, those discubsethe section titled "Risk Factors"
included in this Form 10-K, as well as other docotaghat may be filed by the Company from timenetwith the SEC. The forward-looking
statements included in this Form 10-K representt@btis views as of the date of this Form 10-K. Tmmpany anticipates that subsequent
events and developments will cause its views tmgbaControl4 undertakes no intention or obligatmapdate or revise any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new informafidare events, or otherwise. References in thisrFt0-K to the "Company," "Control4,"
"we," "us," and "our" refer to Control4 Corporatiand, where appropriate, its subsidiaries, unléssrovise stated.
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PART I.
ITEM 1. Business
Overview

We are a leading provider of automation emwtrol solutions for the connected home. We untbe potential of connected devices,
making entertainment systems easier to use, horoes eomfortable and energy efficient, and famifiesre secure. We provide our consumer
with the ability to integrate music, video, lighgintemperature, security, communications and dtlmtionalities into a unified home
automation solution that enhances our consumeilg'ld@s. More than 78% of our consumers havedgraéed two or more of these
functionalities with our solution. At the centeranir solution is our advanced software platformiclvtwe provide through our products that
interface with a wide variety of connected devittet are developed both by us and by third parties.

Our solution functions as the operatingeysof the home, making connected devices workttegeo control, automate and personalize
the homes of our consumers.

Consumer need for simplicity and a persaedlexperience, combined with advances in teclyyplare driving rapid growth in the
connected home market. As a result of the sigmifigaowth in smart devices, mobile data networksné broadband access and in-home
wireless networking, consumers are more comfortaftte ubiquitous connectivity and device interogmslity. Accustomed to network
connectivity and control of their digital lives, m&umers are now looking for affordable ways to edttnis functionality into their homes,
driving growth in the mainstream home automatiomkeg

We were founded in 2003 to deliver a ma@@mh home automation solution by enabling consumoeusify their connected devices into a
personalized system at an accessible and affor@ale point. Sold through our worldwide networkosfer 3,000 active direct dealers, our
solution sits at the center of the mainstream haantemation market by providing integrated and esitda control of over 7,700 third-party
devices and services. These devices and serviaesasiproad variety of product categories includingic, video, lighting, temperature,
security, communications and other devices. Oufgrta capabilities provide consumers with solutitingt are easy to use, comprehensive,
personalized, flexible and affordable.

Based on our analysis, we estimate thatave automated more than 150,000 homes representinglative sales of more than 340,000
of our controller appliances, the brain of the @xtad home. We sell and deliver our solutions thhoan extensive worldwide dealer and
distributor network and have solutions installe@¥countries. Our top 100 dealers represented &fa%ar total revenue in 2013.

We generated revenue of $93.4 million, $308illion, and $128.5 million in 2011, 2012 andl20respectively. We had a net loss of
$3.9 million and $3.7 million, and a net income$3t5 million in 2011, 2012 and 2013, respectively.

Our Industry

Within the last decade, the pace of inniovain the electronics industry has acceleratedhapNetwork-aware devices—such as
televisions, smartphones, tablets, thermostatdiaaqmes and security systemshat separately connect to a home network creatécttnnecte:
home." Home automation technology integrates devit¢he connected home, unlocking the collectivptial of these devices working
together to improve consumers' lives. The homenaation market has reached a major inflection pairt is becoming a mainstream offering
accessible by a broad base of consumers.

Home automation solutions unify the conttbimusic, video, lighting, temperature, securdlgmmunications and other devices in the
connected home to provide consumers with improved
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convenience, comfort, energy efficiency and segufibhe key functional elements of home automatiaiude:

Our Solution

Control. Controlling devices is the most basic capabdityhome automation solutions. From a single int@faonsumers can
operate a wide array of devices using wired or lef® connections. With the recent growth in smamels and tablets, control
functionality is increasingly being extended tosthénobile devices;

Automation. After initial programming, automation enables idesg to function without additional human intenient
Automation also enables various devices to wortoincert to perform more complex tasks and to takierss based on external
conditions; and

Personalization. Personalization enables home automation solutmbe tailored to the unique lifestyle requirenseoit
individual consumers and their families. Persomaian unlocks the full potential of home automatiorenhance, enrich and
simplify the lives of consumers.

The Control4 solution, built around our adeed software platform, sits at the center ofdlsegrowing mainstream segment of the home
automation market. We unlock the potential of catee devices, making entertainment systems easieset, homes more comfortable and
energy efficient, and families more secure. Ouuntsoh functions as the operating system of the hontegrating music, video, lighting,

temperature,

security, communications and otheicdevnto a unified automation solution that enfeenaur consumers' lives.

The Control4 solution integrates more tAaf00 third-party devices and systems into a uthifg@sy-to-use solution for mainstream
consumers. As a result, our solution provides tirssamer with the following benefits:

Easy to Use Our solution is designed to be simple and intaitiThrough our unified software platform, consusnean easily
interact with their entire automated home with@atrhing multiple interfaces or numerous remoterotsitWe have designed
our solution so that anyone, from a young child grandparent, can pick up a Control4 device, jaustitton and watch a movie
without any prior instruction;

Broad Device Interoperability Our open and flexible platform provides consunvéth access to a broad universe of third-
party devices that become connected and interolgetfatough our solution. The Control4 software foah currently operates
with over 7,700 discrete third-party devices;

Advanced Personalizatior Our adaptable solution enables our consumersrsppalize the features and functionality of their
Control4 system. Our modular design also enabkestiooth integration of new third-party productsieet the evolving needs
of our consumers as their lifestyles change;

Attractive Entry Point. Consumers can start with a single room multi-meditomation experience for about $1,000 and scale
to an integrated solution with an average cost2&,@00. Based on our research, more than halfrof@sumers have Control4
system configurations with one controller, witharerage cost of $4,000 and a median cost of $ZjB6iding estimated
installation costs);

Professional Installation and Support through Ourl@bal Dealer Network As the number and types of connected devices
continues to grow, the need for local professi@oalsultation, installation and support is curreetgential for a successful
home automation experience. We have built a globaliork of over 3,000 active direct dealers antrithistors. Our certified
dealers receive in-depth training, on-going edocaséind support, enabling them to help consumersldgand
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install their personalized home automation expegsrwith the Control4 solution. To further increasasumer satisfaction, we
also maintain a Customer Advocacy & Care Group itegpponds directly to consumer questions and casgand

. Remote Acces: We have developed service offerings that compteroer product solutions in order to provide constsrevel
more access, control and enhanced functionality theer automated homes. 4Sight subscription sesvzovide consumers
with the ability to remotely monitor and adjustts®js in their homes (such as lights, temperateténgs, door locks, gates and
cameras) as well as receive event-based emai alben predefined events either occur or do natrdey a specific time.

Our Growth Strategy

Our goal is to be the leading provider @fimstream home automation solutions and the opegratistem of choice for the home. The
following are key elements of our growth strategy:

. Enhance Our Software Platform and Product We believe that our success to-date has beeelyaigven by the capabilities
of our software platform. We will continue to intés our software platform to develop and suppeswrmproducts, features and
capabilities that deliver exceptional performanied walue to our consumers;

. Strengthen and Expand Our Global Dealer NetworkWe have developed a global network of over 3@€/e direct dealers
and 29 distributors to sell, install and suppornt snlutions. We will continue to expand and optienaur dealer network to
ensure that we have sufficient geographic coveaagass both existing and new markets. We will atsttinue to devote
significant resources to increase the productiaitg competency of our dealers and distributorsrbyiging them with ongoing
training, tools and support;

. Increase Penetration of Our North America Core Magk We intend to continue to focus on the residemtatket in North
America, which represented approximately 76% ofrevenue for the year ended December 31, 2013.aMevk the residenti
market offers us an opportunity for significantdeterm growth, and we will continue to devote saed marketing resources to
increase penetration of that core market;

. Expand Our Focus on Adjacent MarketsWe are also making investments to capitalize pocunities outside the residential
market and internationally. Internationally, oueumterfaces are now available in 28 languagesoangroducts are distributed
in 87 countries. In addition, we have had initia¢cess in the light commercial, multi-dwelling uaitd hospitality markets, and
we plan to continue our focus on these and othjacadt opportunities to expand our addressable etiark

. Enhance Our Solution with Services and Apy In addition to automating devices within the hommer solution also enables a
wide variety of service and application opportwestiWe plan to continue to enhance our 4Sight sighisn services to provide
consumers with enhanced home monitoring and coosqhbilities from any Internet-connected mobileicke or computer;

. Pursue Technology Licensing Opportunitie We plan to make our technology increasingly add to third parties through
licensing agreements. We have also begun makindeutice auto-discovery technology, Simple Devicecbvery Protocol
("SDDP"), available on a royalty-free basis todhirarties to streamline and automate the setuptifbation and configuration
of their devices into our system. As of December2RiL 3, 59 third parties had agreed to license SB&R us, and 22 of them
had begun shipping SDDP-enabled devices. We aisotplexpand our licensing activities to leverdgedtparty distribution
channels, grow our partner relationships, simptiy home automation experience for dealers andiocosis, and increase
interoperability; and
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. Pursue Strategic Acquisitions.We believe that our software platform has a stfiatposition as the operating system of the
connected home. As a result, we believe we ardlydeasitioned to identify, acquire and integrateagegic acquisitions that are
complementary to our current offerings, strengthed expand our technology foundation, enhance @ukeh positioning,
distribution channels and sales, and are consiat#émiour overall growth strategy.

Our Products and Services

The primary benefits we provide consumeid @dealers lie in the value and competitive difféiaion of our software platform. We deli
value and differentiation to consumers and geneeatenues by embedding our software into a rangygdical products.

Software Platform

At the center of the Control4 product linghe Control4 Home Operating System, which werred as the C4 OS, and the associated
application software and software development kits$SDKs. The high-level software components inetud

. Director. Director is a reatime, extensible home operating system kernelighasponsible for monitoring and receiving ev
from numerous devices and services, processing #wsnts according to consumer personalized seftamgl then dispatching
commands to the appropriate devices to performggireetl actions. Director runs on our controller lagres and certain
authorized partner products such as Sony ES raseive

. Navigator. Navigator displays intuitive and rich graphicakuinterfaces on televisions, in-wall and tablettmuch panels,
smartphones and tablets, as well as list-basede®guch as remote controls with LCD text-displays;

. Composer Professional Editior Composer Professional Edition is a software apfibn that enables trained and certified
Control4 dealers and installers to design, conégand personalize a Control4 home automation sy&iegonsumers;

. Composer Home Edition and Composer Media Editic Composer Home Edition and Media Edition enablesomers to view
and configure their Control4 managed devices. Thesg-and-drop programs provide the ability to ngendigital media and
create and modify simple programs and policiesH®scchanging lighting scenes, modifying custontdmstand controlling
behaviors among devices based on schedules or ¢iftiles day);

. DriverWorks SDK. DriverWorks SDK is a software development kittteaables dealers, programmers and device
manufacturers to independently develop and tesbousvo-way interface drivers to support the ingign of a new device or
device model into our system, or to customize arfthace an existing driver. DriverWorks SDK has éehi@,700 different
products and services to be incorporated into th&iGl4 ecosystem; and

. Navigator SDK and Application SDk Navigator SDK and Application SDK are softwareelepment kits that enable third-
party dealers and programmers to customize andedlalew application functionality within Navigatoser interfaces on
Control4 interface devices through the developnoéaipps.

Products with Embedded Software and Servi

Our products leverage our software platfesmprovide consumers with a comprehensive and-eaege connected home experience. We
designed our software platform to be extensibldéckvhas allowed us to improve and augment the fonality of hardware products (both
those designed by us
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and by others) over time. We also design and matwra our products via contract manufacturers dsasecertify partner products for sale
through our dealers. Our products and servicesidtec!

. Controller Appliances Our controller appliances run our Director softevedo monitor, process and automate events, statuse
and actions for numerous devices and servicestinges comprehensive connected home experienceelyr we offer the HC-
800, a whole home controller appliance, and the23C-a single-room controller appliance;

. Interface Devices We offer touch panels, handheld remote contnotskeeypads as interface devices. We also develdp an
deliver software applications for Apple iOS and Agid smartphones and tablets that enable thesenmdrdevices to become
control interfaces to Control4 connected homed) botpremise and remotely;

. Audio/Video Equipment The Wireless Music Bridge is a simple, elegany tzaallow consumers to enjoy the music available
on their smartphone, tablet or computer—their owrsia collection as well as streaming services Riadora, Rhapsody,
Spotify or Tuneln—by wirelessly streaming theiresgion to their home audio system using AirPlayN2Lor Bluetooth
technologies. We also offer 4x4 and 8x8 zone pamaplifiers, network-enabled 4x4 and 8x8 zone mamyplifiers, and a
16x16 audio matrix switch for versatile multi-ro@md whole-home audio distribution. In addition, ef&er an 8x8 HDMI
matrix switch and an HDBaseT receiver that distebeight HDMI sources to eight video display looat with full HD, an
integrated digital media player for integrationafal digital audio and video, as well as Wi-Fi dtthernet amplified speaker
points for streaming digital audio to speakersrgaa without an audio receiver;

. Lighting Products. We offer a suite of lighting products that pravigersonalized control and energy management. (@ter &f
wireless light switches and dimmers can easilyaspldevices in an existing home or be installetein homes. We offer
innovative in-wall wireless switches and dimmens¥a0V, 240V and 277V electrical loads, which mibetrequirements of
North America and many international markets. o alffer panelized systems, where all of the ligdhtontrol will be done o
a remote panel. In addition to providing lightingnérol, our switches can be programmed to opertiier systems in the home,
such as allowing consumers to access their favimitsic playlist with the touch of a button.

. Thermostats Our wireless multi-stage thermostat is complepeygrammable with up to six set points per day, aisthg our
4Sight subscription service, is remotely accessiblg controllable. Through the Control4 operatipgtam, we also integrate
with third-party products (such as automated shadespool controls) that provide additional enesgyings, convenience and
efficiency;

. Security Products We provide a set of products and software sesviceated by us as well as distribute certifieddtparty
products, including deadbolts, door and window sefjsnotion sensors, garage access systems andleak@etection systen
from our security partners such as Baldwin, Cardess, Kwikset and Yale. Through our SDDP technglagyalso integrate
with over 1,500 network video recorders and sulaede cameras sold by five of the top security towimig manufacturers;

. Communication Products We offer full motion video and high quality audidercom capability through our in-wall and
tabletop touchscreens, as well as our exteriorlvegatsistant door stations; and
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. Subscription Services.4Sight is a subscription service that enableg 2Z¥ome monitoring and control from virtually anywge
remote home programming and support, and instaatl @terts based on home events so that homeownei@ways in-the-
know. For example, 4Sight allows consumers to reigyainlock the front door to let in a repairmanfum on the air
conditioning on the way home, and to monitor tineime security cameras from a smartphone.

Sales of our controller appliances, inahgdsoftware, represented 37% of our total reven#9i3.

Our installed solutions include functiotiak in the following percentages:

Video 10C%
Music 57
Lighting 51
Communication: 32
Security 31
Temperature 23

More than 78% of our consumers have integrawo or more of these functionalities with oalusion.

Our Distribution Network

In 2005, we started selling our solutidm®tigh a network of over 450 independent dealéngeShat time, our distribution network has
grown to over 3,000 active direct dealers anditistors in 87 countries. Dealers range in size fenall family businesses to very large
organizations.

Our dealers are home automation speciahiatshave significant experience in designingtaltisg and servicing both low- and high-
voltage systems including music, video, securigmmunications and temperature control. Every Cohulealer has gone through extensive
training and has passed the necessary certificai&is—either in one of our training facilities locatedthe United States, the United Kingdc
China, or India or in a training facility of one ofir 29 distributors. Every installer for each @eahust complete course work and pass pre-

training examinations, as well as pass rigorouinigat the conclusion of the multi-day formal biaig in order to become certified to sell and
install our solutions.

We sell directly through dealers in the tddiStates, Canada, the United Kingdom and 43 cthantries. We partner with 29 distributors
to serve 41 additional countries where currentlyd@anot have dealer training and support facilittear distributors recruit, train and manage
dealers within their region and also help deald ¢ountry specific solutions for unique needseolagn the special home automation market
characteristics within each country. In recent geare have moved more toward a dealer-direct madsdecific international regions as we
have added and continue to add sales and supafirtrgtmely in the United Kingdom, China and India.

During the years ended December 31, 20012 2and 2013, none of our dealers or distributoc®anted for more than 5% of our revenue
None of our dealers or distributors have minimurfoag-term purchase obligations. Dealer orders are &fyiplaced on a project-by-project
basis. As such, our dealers do not typically caigyificant levels of inventory. The resulting justtime model helps reduce dealer inventory
investment and also reduces dealer returns. Olerdesround the world are each responsible foll lmeaketing, selling, installing and
servicing our solution for the consumer.
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Our Partners

The home automation market is made upanfilaction of thousands of electronically contrblproducts made by hundreds of key
manufacturers. We believe that our success has,dorpart, due to our success in forming relatigoshvith many of these manufacturers. As
of December 31, 2013, we had agreements with ds@mndanufacturers, of which 49 have formally subadittheir devices to us for Control4
certification so that our worldwide dealer netwgda be assured that these third-party devices welkwith our platform.

In addition to standard interoperabilitttwControl4, more and more manufacturers are fieglithe value our technology can bring when
it is embedded inside their products. For exampkerecently launched our device auto-discoveryrteldgy, SDDP, which enables seamless
installation of devices by embedding code at thaufecturer, making it easier for dealers and coresarto add new products to existing
systems. As of December 31, 2013, 59 third pah#ssagreed to license SDDP from us, and 22 of thmeabegun shipping SDDP-enabled
devices.

Third-party manufacturers are currentljisglover 800 different products representing 48nlois (including brands such as Sony,
Baldwin, Kwikset, Leaf, Yale and TruAudio) throughr online store. Our online store provides manufaes valuable reach into our trained
dealer network, and it helps our dealers gain aasgss to products that they know are certifie@bgtrol4. We also partner with other
companies for purposes of strategic initiatives.

Our Technology
Core Automation Enabling Technology

At the core of the Control4 platform is t8é OS. The C4 OS consists of two main componentsDirector and Navigator software that
work in concert with different modules within thgstem to provide consumers with a unified and cahensive connected home experience.
These modules help our software platform manageaneddate connected devices and interoperate asiagiety of communication protoc
including Ethernet, Wi-Fi, Bluetooth, ZigBee, Infea, or IR, serial interfaces and more.

. Director Software. Director is the brain of the C4 OS and interfawéh a Linux kernel. Director architecture inclugia
proprietary "driver pairing" technology that createhardware abstraction layer and exposes a singlenon software
Applications Programming Interface ("API") for dievices of the same type. This enables an apgicdtgveloper to write an
application to manage a lighting system that wirkvwith any brand of lighting control equipmentir&tor also includes an
advanced scheduling engine and astronomical cloatkalows for time-based control of anything i€antrol4 system. Director
has a component called "Connection Manager" thasigonsible for discovering new devices and maiimntg connections with
all of the diverse devices in an automation system.

. Navigator Software. Navigator is the C4 OS user interface applicatidavigator connects to Director through the Dioe&PI
and based on what is in the system, automaticadlyigles a customized user interface for contrahefsystem. All Control4
controller appliances and touch panels run Navig&then running on a controller appliance, Naviggmduces an "On-
Screen" interface for use on TVs and projectionesys with a remote control. Navigator can also poedan interface that is
touch-based. Navigator is also available for M&3s, Apple iOS and Android devices.

. Media Manager. Media Manager discovers, scrubs and indexes naedi® and video content across various sourcegsa-fro

local content spread across Macs, PCs, NAS driabkets, smartphones, cable boxes and satelliggvess to streaming content
scattered across online services such as Rhaptodg|n, Netflix, Vudu, Hulu and Amazon Prime. Usilg C4 OS, a
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consumer can search for music by a particulartantid get a unified result of all content from thettst across all devices and
services.

. Update Manager Update Manager manages complex device and sygidates in a synchronized way. The Update Manage!
will automatically check for updates on devicesreexted to the Control4 system, and when promptedtepall of the disparate
devices in the correct order, whether or not threydirectly connected to the Internet.

. Audio Server. Audio Server is the C4 OS component that managesc playback in a Control4 system. Audio Server
implements Control4's patented audio synchroninatistem that enables synchronized music playbadssa traditional analc
wired digital and wireless digital audio devices.

. ZigBee Server ZigBee Server creates an Internet Protocol-t@gggbridge and maintains a robust wireless comnatinits
system through ZigBee's open wireless mesh netwgikiandard. Our controller appliances use thigerio communicate with
low-bandwidth, low-cost and low-power applicatiacngh as thermostats, light switches and remoteaent

. IO Server. 10 Server functions as an Internet Protocol teitlgvarious incompatible communication protocoishsas IR, RS-
232, RS-485 and contact closures. Our controllptiapces implement these physical layers in ordéraindle the devices that
do not implement Internet Protocol, allowing th@wcected home to communicate with more devices.

Simple Device Discovery Protocol (SDD

We have a patented device auto-discovehn@ogy called Simple Device Discovery ProtocolS®DP, that we developed to enable
seamless installation of devices in our system. Wthaew SDDP-enabled device is installed in a hahgedevice sends out a signal that is
immediately discovered by the system, thereby afigwthe new device to easily be added.

4Sight Subscription Service

We offer a subscription service called 48ifat enables secure remote access to the cedneate without exposing the installer or
consumer to the complexities of communicating adofirewalls and private Internet Protocol addres$éss service facilitates connections
between remote client devices and our systemsdhraicloud-based service. Using 4Sight, consunaarsamotely monitor and control their
Control4 systems as if they were at their homes.

Our Research and Development

Our flexible research and development moeleds upon a combination of huse staff and offshore design and manufacturamtpers ti
improve and enhance our existing products andsesyas well as develop new products, featurefusmationality in a cost-effective manner.
We believe that our software platform is critioaletxpanding our leadership position within the rsiam home automation market. As a
result, we devote the majority of our research dexklopment resources to software development. Wik alosely with our consumers to
understand their current and future needs and thesigned a product development process that capamekintegrates feedback from our
consumers.

As of December 31, 2013, we had 164 emg@sye our research and development organizatidrstantially all of whom were located at
our headquarters in Salt Lake City, Utah. Our nadeand development expenses were $19.2 milli@dii, $20.3 million in 2012 and
$25.0 million in 2013. We intend to continue torsfgcantly invest in research and development tpaex our solutions and capabilities in the
future.
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Our Manufacturing

We outsource the manufacturing of our hamgworoducts to contract manufacturers. The mgjofibur hardware products are
manufactured by Sanmina and LiteOn at their regpetacilities located in southern China, with aéhal manufacturing performed by six
contract manufacturers located throughout Asia. &@ueement with Sanmina expires in June 2017, wah it automatically renews for
successive one-year terms unless either partyrlatem the agreement with 90 days' notice. Our aggeewith LiteOn expires in December
2014, after which it automatically renews for sigsiee one-year terms unless either party termirthteagreement with 180 days' notice. Our
manufacturing partners assemble our products usinglesign specifications, quality assurance progrand standards, and procure
components and assemble our products based oremamdi forecasts. These forecasts represent onva¢ss of future demand for our
products based upon historical trends and andiysis our sales and product management functionsmadatain fulfilment centers in Salt
Lake City, Utah and York, England. Our manufactgnpartners currently ship all hardware productsuofulfillment centers and then we ship
them directly to our dealers and distributors arbtire world.

We have multiple sources for most of ounponents. However, we do depend on single sourceifacturers for certain critical
components, including processors, memory moduldg@rch panels. We can choose to change processanemory modules for any of our
products but because of high implementation cegtggenerally choose to make these changes only dgariopment of new products. We
also rely on certain custom connectors, cableshanical enclosures for our hardware productsatteesingle sourced because of the high
tooling costs of sourcing the components from rplétsuppliers. In each of these cases, we ownrdeidgs and design of these custom
components.

Our Marketing

Our marketing team supports our sales oflamith dealer-directed advertising and promotideadgeneration, social media engagem:
and training events, as well as the design andygtaxh of consumer-facing collateral, showroom aiggmand market-specific advertising. Our
website is the anchor to our online and social msttiategy, from which we direct leads to our dsal€ontrol4's bi-annual magazine, Home
Smart Home, features lifestyle stories of Continktallations from around the world and is avaidabh iTunes and on our website. The
publication is also reproduced and distributedustemers and prospects on our behalf by our deafetpartners.

We are active participants at global indusbnferences and maintain a significant presen€EDIA trade shows. Beyond CEDIA in the
United States, we sponsored the 2013 CEDIA ConéeréamnLondon and an exhibit at Integrated Systemrsfge ("ISE") in February 2014, the
annual industry trade show held in Amsterdam. Addglly, beginning in the second quarter of 2014,will be participating in CEDIA-
specific events and tradeshows throughout Chinaak&¥drequently featured in the trade press andtauai strong relationships with the
industry's key analysts and associations.

In 2013 and early 2014, we invested in alomated marketing platform to deliver leads arghtive assets to our dealers that can be
customized at a local level. Dealers can leveragatitomated marketing platform to run online atilsieg campaigns, download and
customize video and ad creative, showroom collgtdi@ect mail templates and newsletters.

We believe that partnering with device nfaoturers, leveraging co-marketing partnershippaexling our sales channels and increasing
our brand recognition among consumers are key cosrie of our growth strategy.
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Our Competition

The market for home automation systemsaigmented, highly competitive and continually ewadv Our current competitors fall into
several categories:

. Providers that focus primarily on the luxury segingfithe home automation market, including AMX, §lren and Savant;

. Providers of point products that address a naretvefcontrol and automation capabilities, inclgdlrogitech, Lutron, Nest
Labs (recently acquired by Google), Roku, Sonoslamgersal Remote Control; and

. Providers of managed home automation and sga@eivices, including ADT, Comcast, Verizon andixiywhich in turn may
utilize third-party software from companies inclngiAlarm.com and iControl).

Companies that provide popular point sohaihave eliminated or restricted, and may ag&immgte or restrict, our ability to control and
be compatible with their products.

In addition, large technology companieshsas Apple, Google (which recently acquired Nedid)aMicrosoft and Samsung offer control
capabilities among their own products, applicatiand services, and have ongoing development etimdsidress the broader home automatio
market. Given the growth dynamics of this marketré are many new and existing companies targpbniipns of the mainstream home
automation market. To the extent that consumerptgmtoducts, applications and services from a sitaylge technology company or any of
these companies broaden their home automation idigéipabwe will face increased competition.

The principal competitive factors in ournket include the:

. Breadth of home automation capabilities provided,;

. Simplicity of use and installation;

. Interoperability with third-party devices;

. Price and total cost of ownership;

. Sales reach and local installation and suppabilities; and
. Brand awareness and reputation.

We believe that our home automation sofutiompetes favorably with respect to these facidevertheless, many of our competitors
have substantially greater financial, technical atigér resources, greater name recognition, laales and marketing budgets, broader
distribution channels, and larger and more matutedlectual property portfolios than we do.

Our Intellectual Property

Our success and ability to compete effetgidepend in part on our ability to protect oungmietary technology and to establish and
adequately protect our intellectual property righis accomplish these objectives, we rely on a doatlon of patent, trademark, copyright and
trade secret laws in the United States and othisdjations, as well as license agreements, confidity agreements and other contractual
protections.

As of December 31, 2013, we owned 41 isdirgited States patents (16 of which are desigmpsit¢hat are scheduled to expire betweer
2025 and 2031, with respect to utility patents, bativeen 2020 and 2022, with respect to desigmfmté/e continue to file patent applicatis
in multiple jurisdictions and as of December 31120~e had one patent application allowed, 8 papptications published and 11 patent
applications pending in the United States. We hbtwo issued
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patents and 10 pending patent applications undeigfio jurisdictions and treaties such as CanadatrAlin, New Zealand, the United Kingdom
and the European Patent Convention. The claimwlitch we have sought patent protection apply td loatr hardware and software products.
Our patent and patent applications generally afupthe features and functions of our C4 OS andfipications associated with our platform.

We also rely on several registered andgistered trademarks to protect our brand. We hegistered the trademarks Control4, Control4
MyHome, the Control4 logo, the Control4 design,ct&tand Everyday Easy in the United States, andr@drin the European Union and
Mexico. We have a trademark application pendinth@United States, and 10 trademark applicatiarsydrious marks, pending in Brazil,
Canada, China, the European Union, and India.

We have filed for United States copyrigtdtpction for our source code for all major relsaskour software. We also license software
from third parties for integration into or use wihr products, including open-source software ahdrocommercially available software.

In addition, we seek to protect our intetilel property rights by requiring our employeed andependent contractors involved in
development to enter into agreements acknowledtiaigall inventions, trade secrets, works of awghipr, developments, concepts, processes
improvements and other works generated by thenuobehalf are our intellectual property, and agsigto us any rights, including
intellectual property rights, that they may claimtose works.

Employees

As of December 31, 2013, we had 386 emgsymcluding 353 employees in the United Statels3employees internationally. None of
our employees are represented by a labor unionredhect to his or her employment with us. We haoteexperienced any work stoppages
we consider our relations with our employees tgbed.

Available Information

We were incorporated in Delaware in 2008t frincipal executive offices are located at 11%8&4ith Election Road, Salt Lake City, Utah
84020, and our telephone number is (801) 523-3000.principal website addressvisvw.control4.com Information contained on our website
does not constitute a part of, and is not incorgardy reference into, this Form 10-K or in anyestteport or document we file with the
Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC").

Control4, the Control4 logo, 4Sight, 4Starel Control4 MyHome are registered trademarksagieimarks of Control4 Corporation in the
United States and, in certain cases, in other c@snfThis Form 10-K contains additional trade nantedemarks and service marks of other
companies. We do not intend our use or displape$é companies' trade names, trademarks or semgides to imply a relationship with, or
endorsement or sponsorship of us by, these otmepanies.

We are an emerging growth company as defim¢he Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act o22fe "JOBS Act"). We will remain an
emerging growth company until the earliest to oafuthe last day of the fiscal year in which werd@anore than $1.0 billion in annual rever
the date we qualify as a "large accelerated fileith at least $700 million of equity securitieddby non-affiliates; the issuance, in any three-
year period, by us of more than $1.0 billion in -convertible debt securities; or the last day effiecal year ending after the fifth anniversary
of our initial public offering.

We file reports with the SEC, including Arah Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Fa@+Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K,
and any other filings required by the SEC. Throaghwebsite, we make available free of charge aurual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly
Reports on
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Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and all aegmeents to those reports, as soon as reasonalslycpiae after we electronically file
such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC.

The public may read and copy any matevigdile with, or furnish to, the SEC at the SEQbRC Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE,
Washington, DC 20549. The public may obtain infatioraon the operation of the Public Reference Rbagnaealling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-

0330. The SEC maintains an Internet siteriw.sec.goy that contains reports, proxy and informationestants, and other information
regarding issuers that file electronically with BEC.
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ITEM 1A. Risk Factors

A description of the risks and uncertainties asata with our business is set forth below. You khoarefully consider such risks and
uncertainties, together with the other informatmontained in this report, and in our other publinfys. If any of such risks and uncertainties
actually occurs, our business, financial conditmmoperating results could differ materially frotmet plans, projections and other forward-
looking statements included in the section titlishthagement's Discussion and Analysis of Financ@idition and Results of Operations" and
elsewhere in this report and in our other publi;fis. In addition, if any of the following riske@ uncertainties, or if any other risks and
uncertainties, actually occurs, our business, fitiahcondition or operating results could be harnmtbstantially, which could cause the
market price of our stock to decline, perhaps gigantly.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
We have incurred operating losses in the past, nrayur operating losses in the future, and may nattdeve or maintain profitability.

We began our operations in 2003. For sutisity all of our history, we have experienced lesses and negative cash flows from
operations. As of December 31, 2013, we had annaalated deficit of $102.1 million. We expect ouroating expenses to increase in the
future as we expand our operations. Furthermora,mslic company, we incur additional legal, actowg and other expenses that we did nof
incur as a private company. If our revenue doegrmt to offset these increased expenses, we atilbacome profitable. We may incur
significant losses in the future for a number @s@ns, including without limitation the other risksd uncertainties described herein.
Additionally, we may encounter unforeseen operatintggal expenses, difficulties, complicationdagte and other unknown factors that may
result in losses in future periods. If these logse®ed our expectations or our revenue growthaapens are not met in future periods, our
financial performance will be harmed.

The markets in which we participate are highly costiive and many companies, including large techagl companies, broadband and
security service providers and other managed sex\pcoviders, are actively targeting the home autdioa market. Our failure to
differentiate ourselves and compete successfullhviiiese companies would make it difficult for us &dd and retain consumers, and would
reduce or impede the growth of our business.

The market for automation and control Sohg for the connected home is increasingly cortipetand global. Many large technology
companies have expanded into the connected honteetigr developing their own solutions, or by aciopgrother companies with home
automation solution offerings. For example, Micfbgborporation recently acquired id8 Group R2 Stsdinc., a home entertainment
technology company, and Google recently acquirest Nabs, which manufactures thermostats and smetexirs. These large technology
companies already have broad consumer awarenesethadvariety of devices for the home, and coremsrmay choose their offerings insteac
of ours, even if we offer superior products andiisess. Similarly, many managed service provideushsas cable TV, telephone and security
companies, are beginning to offer services thatigeodevice control and automation capability witlie home for an additional monthly
service fee. For example, Comcast is expandinfitsty service to provide residential security,ezgy and automation services. These
managed service providers have the advantage efdging their existing consumer base, network stialtation and support technicians and
name recognition to gain traction in the home awatiiom market. In addition, consumers may prefemtioithly service fee with little to no
upfront cost offered by some of these managedseprioviders over a larger upfront cost with litteno monthly service fees.
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We expect competition from these large nebdligy companies and managed service providersctease in the future. This increased
competition could result in pricing pressure, reztlisales, lower margins or the failure of our sohg to achieve or maintain broad market
acceptance. To remain competitive and to maintairposition as a leading provider of automation emwtrol solutions for the connected
home, we will need to invest continuously in proddevelopment, marketing, dealer and distributovise and support, and product delivery
infrastructure. We may not have sufficient resosicecontinue to make the investments in all ofdifess needed to maintain our competitive
position. In addition, most of our competitors hémeger operating histories, greater name recagmitarger consumer bases and significantly
greater financial, technical, sales, marketing atiér resources than us, which may provide them antadvantage in developing, marketin
servicing new solutions. Increased competition daatluce our market share, revenue and operatingimsaincrease our operating costs,
harm our competitive position and otherwise harmhbmsiness and results of operations.

Consumers may choose to adopt point products thawjule control of discrete home functionality rath¢éhan adopting our unified home
automation solution. If we are unable to increaseanket awareness of the benefits of our unified stiun, our revenue may not continue to
grow, or it may decline

Many vendors have emerged, and may contmeenerge, to provide point products with advarfeedtionality for use in the home, such
as a thermostat that can be controlled by an agiflit on a smartphone. We expect more and moraiowgrselectronic and consumer applie
products to be network-aware and connected—eaghlikety to have its own smart device (phone olégbapplication. Consumers may be
attracted to the relatively low costs of these ppmoducts and the ability to expand their hometimdisolution over time with minimal upfront
costs, despite some of the disadvantages of tpi®aph. While we have built our solution to be fié& and support third-party point products,
these products may reduce the revenue we recaiwabh installation. It is therefore important that have technical expertise and provide
attractive top quality products in many areas, aghghting and video, and establish broad maaletreness of these solutions. If a significan
number of consumers in our target market chooseldgt point products rather than our unified autiimnasolution, then our business,
financial condition and results of operations Wil harmed, and we may not be able to achieve sastgrowth or our business may decline.

Many of the competitors in our market, including priders of luxury integrated installations with lanoperating histories, establishe
markets, broad user bases and proven consumer aecee, may be successful in expanding into the nsileam home automation market,
which may harm our growth and future prospects.

Many companies with which we directly congpbave been operating in this industry for mamgrg@nd, as a result, have established
significant name recognition in the home automaiiatustry. For example, Crestron, a provider ollyxintegrated installations, has been in
business for over 40 years and has become anisibpresence in the home automation industrytifengrovider of luxury integrated
installations is Savant Systems, which providesdantomation based on the Apple iOS operatingglatf To the extent these providers are
able to develop more affordable products that caenpre directly with our solution, our growth mag constrained and our business could
suffer. In addition, given the strong growth poighof the market, we expect there to be many netraats in the future.
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Since we rely on thir-party dealers and distributors to sell and installir solutions, we do not have a direct sales pipe] which makes it
difficult for us to accurately forecast future sadeand correctly predict manufacturing requirements.

We depend on our dealer and distributowaek to sell and install our solution. As a resule do not develop or control our sales pipe
making it difficult for us to predict future saldg.addition, because the production of certaiowfproducts requires long lead times, we entel
into agreements for the manufacture and purchasertdin of our products well in advance of theetiim which those products will be sold.
These contracts are based on our best estimates akar-term product needs. If we underestimatsumer demand, we may forego revenue
opportunities, lose market share and damage aationships. Conversely, if we overestimate consuieerand, we may purchase more
inventory than we are able to sell at any giveretior at all. If we fail to accurately estimate @dewd for our products, we could have excess ol
obsolete inventory, resulting in a decline in tladue of our inventory, which would increase ourtsad revenues and reduce our liquidity. Our
failure to accurately manage inventory relativeléonand would adversely affect our results of opamat

We have relatively limited visibility regarding theonsumers that ultimately purchase our productsidawe often rely on information from
third-party dealers and distributors to help us mage our business. If these dealers and distributta# to provide timely or accurate
information, our ability to quickly react to markethanges and effectively manage our business mahdrened.

We sell our solutions through dealers aisttibutors. These dealers and distributors worthwonsumers to design, install, update and
maintain their home automation installations. Whike are able to track orders from dealers andiligbrs and have access to certain
information about the configurations of their Cadrsystems that we receive through our contralfgliances, we also rely on dealers and
distributors to provide us with information aboohsumer behavior, product and system feedbackucmgrsdemographics, buying patterns
information on our competitors. We use this chasedifthrough data, along with other metrics, teems consumer demand for our solutions,
develop new products, adjust pricing and make attrategic business decisions. Channel sell-thralagh is subject to limitations due to
collection methods and the third-party nature efdhta and thus may not be complete or accurataldition, to the extent we collect
information directly from consumers, for exampleotigh surveys that we conduct, the consumers wpplgthis sell-through data self select
and vary by geographic region and from period tooge which may impact the usefulness of the rastfitwe do not receive consumer
information on a timely or accurate basis, or ifdeenot properly interpret this information, ouildy to quickly react to market changes and
effectively manage our business may be harmed.

Our quarterly results of operations have fluctuatesd may continue to fluctuate. As a result, we nfajt to meet or exceed the expectations
of investors or securities analysts, which couldusa our stock price to decline.

Our quarterly revenue and results of op@matmay fluctuate as a result of a variety ofdestmany of which are outside of our control. If
our quarterly revenue or results of operationslfalbw the expectations of investors or securaigslysts, the price of our common stock coulc
decline substantially. Fluctuations in our resofteperations may be due to a number of factoduding:

. Demand for and market acceptance of our solutions;

. Our ability to increase, retain and incentivize tleetified dealers and distributors that markelt, sestall and support our
solutions;

. The ability of our contract manufacturers to thome to manufacture high-quality products, andupply sufficient products to

meet our demands;
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. The tim_ing and success of introductions of new pobg, solutions or upgrades by us or our competéod the entrance of new
competitors;

. The strength of regional, national and global ecoies;

. The impact of natural disasters or manmade problsuch as terrorism;

. Changes in our business and pricing policieshose of our competitors;

. Competition, including entry into the industry bew competitors and new offerings by existing pefitors;

. The impact of seasonality on our business;

. The amount and timing of expenditures, includimgse related to expanding our operations, inargassearch and

development, introducing new solutions or payitigdtion expenses; and

. Changes in the payment terms for our solutions.

Due to the foregoing factors and the othsks discussed herein, you should not rely ontgudo-quarter comparisons of our results of
operations as an indication of our future perforagaryou should not consider our recent revenue tiraw indicative of our future
performance.

If we are unable to develop new solutions, sell amutions into new markets or further penetrate oexisting markets, our revenue may rn
grow as expecte(

Our ability to increase sales will dependiairge part on our ability to enhance and improwesolutions, to introduce new solutions in a
timely manner, to sell into new markets and tolfertpenetrate our existing markets. The succeasyo&nhancement or new product or
solution depends on several factors, includingithely completion, introduction and market accept&anf enhanced or new solutions, the
ability to attract, retain and effectively trainesand marketing personnel, the ability to devetdationships with dealers and distributors and
the effectiveness of our marketing programs. Any peoduct or solution we develop or acquire mayb®introduced in a timely or cost-
effective manner, and may not achieve the broadehacceptance necessary to generate significamtue. Any new markets into which we
attempt to sell our solutions, including new vatimarkets and new countries or regions, may noebeptive. Our ability to further penetrate
our existing markets depends on the quality ofsmlmtions and our ability to design our solutioosriteet consumer demand. Moreover, we ar
frequently required to enhance and update ourisakias a result of changing standards and tecitalodevelopments, which makes it
difficult to recover the cost of development anctés us to continually qualify new solutions witlr @onsumers. If we are unable to
successfully develop or acquire new solutions, rod@ur existing solutions to meet consumer requergs, sell solutions into new markets or
sell our solutions to additional consumers in ousting markets, our revenue may not grow as exgokect

Our success depends, in part, on our ability to elep and expand our global network of dealers aridtdbutors.

As of December 31, 2013, we have devel@pglbbal network of over 3,000 active direct deskand 29 distributors to sell, install and
support our solutions. We rely on our dealers &sttidutors to provide consumers with a successtuitrol4 home automation experience. In
some cases, dealers may choose not to offer auticgoland instead offer a product from one of aampetitors or, in other cases, the dealer
may simply discontinue its operations. In ordecdatinue our growth and expand our business,j@rtant that we continue to add new
dealers and distributors and maintain most of aistieg relationships. We must also work to expandnetwork of dealers and distributors to
ensure that we have sufficient geographic coveaagietechnical expertise to address new markets and

19




Table of Contents

technologies. While it is difficult to estimate ttwtal number of available dealers in our markidiste are a finite number of dealers that are
able to perform the types of technical installasioequired for home automation systems. In thetethen we saturate the available dealer pool
or if market or other forces cause the availablel pbdealers to decline, it may be increasingficlilt to grow our business. As consumers'
home automation options grow, it is important tivatenhance our dealer footprint by broadening ¥pektise of our dealers, working with
larger and more sophisticated dealers and exparigéngnainstream consumer products our dealers. dffige are unable to expand our
network of dealers and distributors, our businesdccbe harmed.

We rely on our dealers and distributors to sell aemlution, and if our dealers and distributors faib perform, our ability to sell and
distribute our products and services will be limiteand our results of operations may be harmed.

Substantially all of our revenue is genedlahrough the sales of our solution by our deaadsdistributors. Our dealers and distributors
are independent businesses that voluntarily selpmducts as well as the products of other congsata consumers. We provide our dealers
and distributors with specific training and progsato assist them in selling our products, but wenocaassure that these steps will be effective
We have observed, and expect to continue to obskigte volatility in the monthly, quarterly and aral sales performance of individual
dealers and distributors. Although we can makeregtd forecasts of cumulative sales of large nuswbkdealers and distributors, we cannot
assure their accuracy collectively or individualccordingly, we may not be able to reduce or sbaw spending quickly enough if our actual
sales fall short of our expectations. As a resudt expect that our revenues, results of operaaodscash flows may fluctuate significantly on a
quarterly basis. We believe that period-to-periothparisons of our revenues, results of operatiodscash flows may not be meaningful and
should not be relied upon as an indication of fifperformance.

Our dealers and distributors may be unssfakin marketing, selling, and supporting ourdurcts and services. If we are unable to
develop and maintain effective sales incentive o for our third-party dealers and distributers,may not be able to incentivize them to
sell our products to consumers and, in partictalarger businesses and organizations. Our deatetglistributors may also market, sell and
support products and services that are competititteours, and may devote more resources to th&etiag, sales, and support of such
competitive products. Our dealers and distributoay have incentives to promote our competitorsipets to the detriment of our own, or n
cease selling our products altogether. Our agretswath our dealers and distributors may genetadiyerminated for any reason by either
party with advance notice. We cannot assure youbawill retain these dealers and distributorsthat we will be able to secure additional or
replacement dealers and distributors. Furthergifalter our sales process in a region by switchimm a distributor to a direct dealer model,
our sales may be impacted leading up to or in cotiorewith such change in sales process. In additidile we take certain steps to protect
ourselves from liability for the actions of our tkya and distributors, consumers may seek to re@weunts from us for any damages causec
by dealers in connection with system installatiaghe failure of a system to perform properly dman incorrect installation by a dealer. In
addition, our dealers and distributors may usenamne and our brand in ways we do not authorizeaagdsuch improper use may harm our
reputation or expose us to liability for their acts.

If we fail to effectively manage our exrgdisales channels, if our dealers or distributoesuasuccessful in fulfilling the orders for our
products, or if we are unable to enter into arramgygts with, and retain a sufficient number of, higfality dealers and distributors in each of
the regions in which we sell products, and keemthgotivated to sell our products, our results cérapions may be harmed. The terminatio
our relationship with any significant dealer ortdisutor may also adversely impact our sales asdlte of operations.
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We have entered into several strategic arrangementd intend to pursue additional strategic opportties in the future. If the intended
benefits from our strategic relationships are natalized, our results of operations may be harmed

We are in the process of growing our retathips with strategic partners in order to attetopeach markets that we cannot currently
address cost-effectively and to increase awaresfemsr solution. If these relationships do not depen the manner we intend, our future
growth could be impacted. Furthermore, the terndmadf our relationship with a partner may causéousicur expenses without corresponc
revenue, incur a termination penalty and harm al@ssand results of operations. For example, ir2 2@ discontinued energy products for
utility customers and, in connection with that démn, we incurred an expense related to an invemorchase commitment and paid a fee to
our counterparty to terminate the arrangement. laay of a major partner or distribution channebtbrer channel disruption could harm our
results of operations and make us more dependesitermate channels, damage our reputation, inenedsing and promotional pressures fi
other partners and distribution channels, increagenarketing costs, or harm buying and invent@aiegns, payment terms or other contrac
terms.

If we do not maintain the compatibility of our sofions with third-party products and applications that our consumerse, demand for our
solutions could decline

Our solutions are designed to interopenatie a wide range of other third-party productgliding products in the areas of music, video,
lighting, temperature and security. If we do ngipsart the continued integration of our solutionghvthird-party products and applications,
including through the provision of application praghming interfaces that enable data to be traresfeadily between our solutions and third-
party products and applications, demand for ourt&wis could decline and we could lose sales. Wiealgio be required to make our solutions
compatible with new or additional third-party pratkiand applications that are introduced into tlekets that we serve. To help us meet this
challenge, we have developed our Simple Devicedvixy Protocol ("SDDP"), designed to enable ouride/to recognize and control third-
party products by embedding software in such prtedacthe manufacturer, making it easier for dsaded consumers to add them to their
Control4 systems. Although we are making SDDP alégl on a royalty-free basis to product manufacsyits adoption is not yet substantial,
and may not achieve greater or broad market aceeptén addition, companies that provide populantpgolutions have and may continue to
eliminate or restrict our ability to control and d@mpatible with these products. As a result, wg mat be successful in making our solutions
compatible with these third-party products and @pgibns, which could reduce demand for our sohgidn addition, if prospective consumers
require customized features or functions that weatooffer, then the market for our solutions mayharmed.

Our inability to adapt to technological change callmpair our ability to remain competitive.

The market for home automation and corgodlitions is characterized by rapid technologitange, frequent introductions of new
products and evolving industry standards. Ourigtidi attract new consumers and increase reveone éxisting consumers will depend in
significant part on our ability to anticipate chasgn industry standards and to continue to enhanggroduce existing solutions on a timely
basis to keep pace with technological developmé&tesare currently changing several aspects of parating system, and may utilize Andr
open source technology in the future, which mayseadifficulties including compatibility, stabilitgnd time to market. The success of this or
any enhanced or new product or solution will dependeveral factors, including the timely completand market acceptance of the enhance
or new product or solution. Similarly, if any ofrocompetitors implement new technologies beforeavgeable to implement them, those
competitors may be able to provide more effectirapcts than ours, possibly at lower prices. Ankager failure in
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the introduction of new or enhanced solutions cdwadn our business, results of operations and ¢iahnondition.

We currently rely on contract manufacturers to mafacture our products and component vendors to sypparts used in our products. The
majority of our components are supplied by a singleurce. Any disruption in our supply chain, or odiailure to successfully manage our
relationships with our contract manufacturers or agponent vendors could harm our business.

Our reliance on contract manufacturers cedwur control over the assembly process, expasirg risks, including reduced control over
quality assurance, production costs and produgtlgu/e rely on a limited number of contract maratifeers to manufacture substantially all
of our products. We also do business with a numobeomponent vendors, and the parts they supplymoayperform as expected. For certain
of our products and components, we rely on a smleeg manufacturer or supplier. For the year efdzbmber 31, 2013, two contract
manufacturers, Sanmina and LiteOn, manufactured G284ar inventory purchases. Certain of our cortraanufacturers and component
vendors are located outside of the United Statdsvaay be subject to political, economic, social kgl uncertainties that may harm our
relationships with these parties. If we fail to raga our relationships with our contract manufactuoe component vendors effectively, or if
our contract manufacturers or component vendorsréxpce delays, disruptions, capacity constraintguality control problems in their
operations, our ability to ship products may beaimgd and our competitive position and reputationld be harmed. In addition, any adverse
change in our contract manufacturers' or compownemdors' financial or business condition couldufisiour ability to supply quality products
to our dealers and distributors. If we are requitedhange contract manufacturers or componentorspnde may lose revenue, incur increase
costs or damage our relationships, or we mightriable to find a new contract manufacturer or congporendor on acceptable terms, or a
In addition, qualifying a new contract manufacturecomponent vendor can be an expensive and lgipgtitess. If we experience increased
demand that our contract manufacturers or comporerdors are unable to fulfill, or if they are uteato provide us with adequate supplies of
high-quality products for any reason, we could edgee a delay in our order fulfillment, and ousiness, results of operations and financial
condition would be harmed.

Growth of our business will depend on market awaess and a strong brand, and any failure to develomintain, protect and enhance our
brand would hurt our ability to retain or attract@nsumers.

Because of the early stage of developmEtiiteomainstream home automation market, we beliesebuilding and maintaining market
awareness, brand recognition and goodwill is @itio our success. This will depend largely onahility to continue to provide high-quality
solutions, and we may not be able to do so effelstiwVhile we may choose to engage in a broadekatiag campaign to further promote our
brand, this effort may not be successful. Our ¢ffor developing our brand may be affected by tlaeketing efforts of our competitors and our
reliance on our dealers, distributors and stratpgitners to promote our brand. If we are unabtgi-effectively maintain and increase
awareness of our brand, our business, resultsevhtipns and financial condition could be harmed.

We operate in the emerging and evolving home auttioramarket, which may develop more slowly or difatly than we expect. If the
mainstream home automation market does not grownasexpect, or if we cannot expand our solutionsieet the demands of this market,
our revenue may decline, fail to grow or fail to gw at an accelerated rate, and we may incur addiiboperating losses.

The market for home automation and corgodlitions is in an early stage of development,itirsduncertain whether, how rapidly or how
consistently this market will develop, and eveit ffoes develop, whether our solutions will achiane sustain high levels of demand and
market acceptance.
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Some consumers may be reluctant or unwilling toausesolutions for a number of reasons, includiatis§action with traditional solutions,
concerns for additional costs and lack of awarenéssir solutions. Unified home automation solusi@uch as ours have traditionally been
luxury purchases for the high end of the residéntirket. Our ability to expand the sales of odusons to a broader consumer base depend:
on several factors, including the awareness okolutions, the timely completion, introduction andrket acceptance of our solutions, the
ability to attract, retain and effectively trainesand marketing personnel, the ability to devetdationships with dealers and distributors, the
effectiveness of our marketing programs, the cofstair solutions and the success of our competitbrge are unsuccessful in developing and
marketing our home automation solutions to maiastreonsumers, or if these consumers do not peroeivalue the benefits of our solutions,
the market for our solutions might not continueléwelop or might develop more slowly than we expeither of which would harm our
revenue and growth prospects.

Our consumers may experience service failures demuptions due to defects in the software, infrastture, third-party components or
processes that comprise our existing or new solngipor due to dealer errors in product installatipany of which could harm our busines

Our solutions may contain undetected dsfcthe software, infrastructure, third-party caments or processes. If these defects lead to
service failures after introduction of or an upgrad a product or solution by a dealer, we coujoeeience harm to our branded reputation,
claims by our consumers, dealers, distributoratedlic partners or developers or lost revenue duhia period required to address the cause c
the defects. We may find defects in new or upgrastgdtions, resulting in loss of, or delay in, metrkicceptance of our solutions, which could
harm our business, results of operations and finhnondition.

Since our solutions are installed by owalees, if they do not install or maintain our saus correctly, our solutions may not function
properly. If the improper installation or maintegarof our solutions leads to service failures dftgoduction of, or an upgrade to, a product o
solution, we could experience harm to our bran@gditation, claims by our consumers, dealers, Higrs, strategic partners or developers ol
lost revenue during the period required to addifessause of the problem. This could harm our lassinresults of operations and financial
condition.

Any defect in, or disruption to, our sotms could cause consumers not to purchase addipor@ucts from us, prevent potential
consumers from purchasing our solutions, or harnreputation. Although our contracts with our comsus limit our liability to our consume
for these defects, disruptions or errors, we naglesis could be subject to litigation for actuahtbeged losses to our consumers' businesses,
which may require us to spend significant time amahey in litigation or arbitration, or to pay sifjoant settlements or damages. Defending a
lawsuit, regardless of its merit, could be codaiyert management's attention and affect our ghiitobtain or maintain liability insurance on
acceptable terms and could harm our business. édtihave currently maintain some warranty reservescannot assure you that these
warranty reserves will be sufficient to cover fauiabilities. Furthermore, we may be requiredndeimnify our dealers, distributors and
partners against certain liabilities they may inasita result of defects of our products. In 2012jneurred significant costs associated with the
recall and replacement of a defective chip frorhialtparty component used within one of our product

We encounter seasonality in sales, which could haitm amount, timing and predictability of our revele and cause our stock price to
fluctuate.

We have little recurring revenue or backdogl our revenue is generated from orders of dutisns from new and existing consumers,
which may cause our quarterly results to fluctudte.may experience seasonality in the sales ofolutions. Historically, our revenue is
generally higher in the fourth quarter and lowethe first quarter. Seasonal variations in oursalay lead to significant
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fluctuations in our cash flows and results of ofiers on a quarterly basis. If we experience aydilaigning or a failure to sign a significant
partner agreement in any particular quarter, therresults of operations for such quarter and filwsequent quarters may be below the
expectations of securities analysts or investorsclivmay result in a decline in our stock price.

We may not generate significant revenue as a restilour current research and development efforts.

We have made and expect to continue to re@kgficant investments in research and developraed related product opportunities. For
the year ended December 31, 2013, we spent $28i0mun research and development expenses. Higd®f expenditures for research and
development could harm our results of operatiogigeeially if not offset by corresponding future @aue increases. We believe that we must
continue to dedicate a significant amount of resesito our research and development efforts totaiainur competitive position. However, it
is difficult to estimate when, if ever, we will gerate significant revenue as a result of thesestnvents.

Our strategy includes pursuing acquisitions and opotential inability to successfully integrate negywhcquired technologies, assets or
businesses may harm our financial results.

We believe part of our growth will be dnivby acquisitions of other companies or their tetbgies, assets and businesses. Any
acquisitions we complete will give rise to risks;luding:

. Incurring higher than anticipated capital exgames and operating expenses;

. Failing to assimilate the operations and persbaonfailing to retain the key personnel of thguaiced company or business;

. Failing to integrate the acquired technolog@dncurring significant expense to integrate aceglitechnologies into our
solutions;

. Disrupting our ongoing business;

. Dissipating our management resources;

. Failing to maintain uniform standards, controls aoticies;

. Incurring significant accounting charges;

. Impairing relationships with employees, dealerstriiutors, partners or consumers;

. Finding that the acquired technology, asset orass does not further our business strategy, thatwerpaid for the technolog

asset or business or that we may be required te wffi acquired assets or investments partiallgrdirely;

. Failing to realize the expected synergies oftthasaction;
. Being exposed to unforeseen liabilities and iog@ncies that were not identified prior to acqugrthe company; and
. Being unable to generate sufficient revenue froguasitions to offset the associated acquisitiort<os

Fully integrating an acquired technologsset or business into our operations may takerdfisignt amount of time. We may not be
successful in overcoming these risks or any othalolpms encountered with acquisitions. To the extendo not successfully avoid or
overcome the risks or problems related to any seguisitions, our results of operations and finalhoondition could be harmed. Acquisitions
also could impact our financial position and cdpiteds, or could cause fluctuations in our qurtemd annual results of operations.
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Acquisitions could include significant gaall and intangible assets, which may result irufetimpairment charges that would reduce ou
stated earnings. We may incur significant costaunefforts to engage in strategic transactionsthase expenditures may not result in
successful acquisitions.

Future acquisitions of technologies, assets or messes, which are paid for partially or entirelyrfugh the issuance of stock or stock
rights, could dilute the ownership of our existirggockholders.

We expect that the consideration we migiyt for any future acquisitions of technologies gés®r businesses could include stock, rights
to purchase stock, cash or some combination dbttegoing. If we issue stock or rights to purchstsek in connection with future
acquisitions, net income (loss) per share and &xsting holders of our common stock may experieadilgion.

Our gross margins can vary significantly depending multiple factors, which can result in fluctuatios in our results of operations.

Our gross margins are likely to vary duedasumer demand, product mix, new product intrédos, unit volumes, commodity and
supply chain costs, product delivery costs, gedutagales mix, foreign currency exchange ratessgxand obsolete inventory and the
complexity and functionality of new product innoieais. In particular, if we are not able to introdutew solutions in a timely manner at the
cost we expect, or if consumer demand for our mistis less than we anticipate, or if there agalpct pricing, marketing and other initiatives
by our competitors to which we need to react thaelr our margins, then our overall gross margih bélless than we project. The impact of
these factors on gross margins can create unaatécigluctuations in our results of operations,alihinay cause volatility in our stock price.

If we are unable to substantially utilize our neperating loss carryforwards, our financial resultsill be harmed.

As of December 31, 2013, our net operdtisg ("NOL") carryforward amounts for U.S. federadome and state tax purposes were
$77.4 million and $75.6 million, respectively. Umdection 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, a catjpm that undergoes an "ownership
change" may be subject to limitations on its apiid utilize its pre-change NOLs to offset futuagable income. Purchases of our common
stock in amounts greater than specified levelscwhiill be beyond our control, could create an &ddal limitation on our ability to utilize ot
NOLs for tax purposes in the future. Limitationgiosed on our ability to utilize NOLs could caus&federal and state income taxes t
paid earlier than would be paid if such limitatiomsre not in effect and could cause such NOLs pirexunused, in each case reducing or
eliminating the benefit of such NOLs. Furthermave, may not be able to generate sufficient taxaiderme to utilize our NOLs before they
expire. If any of these events occur, we may natvdesome or all of the expected benefits from H@Ls. In addition, at the state level there
may be periods during which the use of NOLs is sadpd or otherwise limited, which would accelemtpermanently increase state taxes
owed.

Governmental regulations affecting the import or part of products could harm our revenue.

The U.S. and various foreign governmentsehmposed controls, export license requirementisrastrictions on the import or export of
some technologies, especially encryption technglagg may impose additional or broader controlppexicense requirements and
restrictions on the import or export of some tedbgies in the future. In addition, from time to #irgovernmental agencies have proposed
additional regulation of encryption technology, Is@s requiring the escrow and governmental recovepyivate encryption keys. Although
do not believe that any of our products currergiyuire an export license, if our products or congmis of our products become subject to
governmental regulation of encryption technologytirer governmental regulation of imports or exponte may be required to obtain import
or export approval for such products, which coulct@éase our costs and harm our international anteditic sales and our revenue. In addition
failure to comply with such regulations could reésnlpenalties, costs and restrictions on expavilpges, which would harm our results of
operations.
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If we are unable to manage our growth and diversedacomplex operations, our reputation in the markad our ability to generate revent
from new or existing consumers may be harm

Because our operations are geographicalsrse and complex, our personnel resources anasinficture could become strained and our
reputation in the market and our ability to suctidgsimplement our business plan may be harmed.Hakee experienced a period of rapid
growth in our headcount and operations. The gromthe size, complexity and diverse nature of awsibess and the expansion of our produc
lines and consumer base have placed increased dermarour management and operations, and furtbertky if any, may place additional
strains on our resources in the future. Our ahititgffectively compete and to manage our plannégé growth will depend on, among other
things:

. Maintaining continuity in our senior management &ag personnel;

. Increasing the productivity of our existing emplege

. Attracting, retaining, training and motivatingreemployees, particularly our technical and mansgg# personnel;
. Maintaining existing relationships and develapirew relationships with contract manufacturers;

. Improving our operational, financial and managetrcontrols; and

. Improving our information reporting systems gmmdcedures.

If we do not manage the size, complexitgl diverse nature of our business effectively, wald@xperience delayed product releases anc
longer response times by our dealers for assistimgonsumers with implementation of our solutiars] could lack adequate resources to
support our consumers on an ongoing basis, anyhwhacould harm our reputation in the market, dility to successfully implement our
business plan and our ability to generate reverama fiew or existing consumers.

If we fail to retain our key employees, our busirsesould be harmed and we might not be able to impdat our business plan successful

Given the complex nature of the technologywhich our business is based and the speed whithvguch technology advances, our future
success is dependent, in large part, upon outyatiliattract and retain highly qualified managk®sagineering and sales personnel.
Competition for talented personnel is intense,@adannot be certain that we can retain our mar@gengineering and sales personnel or
we can attract, assimilate or retain such persanrtbe future. Our inability to attract and retaimch personnel could harm our business, re
of operations and financial condition.

Downturns in general economic and market conditigriscluding but not limited the global housing anchortgage market, and reductions
spending may reduce demand for our solutions, whimbuld harm our revenue, results of operations aaash flows.

Our revenue, results of operations and flagls depend on the overall demand for our sohgidConcerns about the systemic impact of
potential widespread recession, energy costs, diopbissues, the availability and cost of credtitd the global housing and mortgage market
have contributed to increased market volatilitycréased consumer confidence and diminished groxygteatations in the U.S. economy and
abroad. The current unstable general economic @rkleanconditions have been characterized by a dreuthecline in consumer discretionary
spending and have disproportionately affected plerg of products and services that represent digoegy purchases. While the decline in
consumer spending has recently moderated, thes@mio conditions could still lead to continued diees in consumer spending over the
foreseeable future, and may have resulted in
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a resetting of consumer spending habits that maentainlikely that such spending will return tagarlevels for the foreseeable future.

During weak economic times, the availalbelwf dealers and distributors may decline asptiespects for home building and home
renovation projects diminish, which may have aegponding impact on our growth prospects. In aallitihere is an increased risk during
these periods that an increased percentage ofealers will file for bankruptcy protection, whichagpnharm our reputation, revenue,
profitability and results of operations. We alsodaisks from international dealers and distribsithiat file for bankruptcy protection in foreign
jurisdictions, in that the outcome of the applioatdf foreign bankruptcy laws may be more diffidolpredict. In addition, we may determi
that the cost of pursuing any claim may outweighrécovery potential of such claim. Likewise, cansu bankruptcies can detrimentally afi
the business stability of our dealers and distatsitProlonged economic slowdowns and reductiom&w home construction and renovation
projects may result in diminished sales of our sohs. Further worsening, broadening or protraete#nsion of the economic downturn could
have a negative impact on our business, revensigliseof operations and cash flows.

If our estimates or judgments relating to our crital accounting policies are based on assumptionattbthange or prove to be incorrect, o
results of operations could fall below expectatioofsecurities analysts and investors, resultingardecline in our stock price.

The preparation of financial statementsdnformity with generally accepted accounting pipies ("GAAP") requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the mnoeported in our consolidated financial stateisiand accompanying notes. We base ou
estimates on historical experience and on varitlisrassumptions that we believe to be reasonaglerithe circumstances, as provided in
"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Finarn€@idition and Results of Operations,” the resultshich form the basis for making
judgmentsabout the carrying values of assets, liabilitied aquity, and the amount of revenue and expensésite not readily apparent from
other sources. Significant assumptions and estsnated in preparing our consolidated financiabst&nts include, or may in the future
include, those related to revenue recognitionwadloce for doubtful accounts, inventories, produatranties, income taxes and stock-based
compensation expense. Our results of operationsbmdnarmed if our assumptions change or if actvemstances differ from those in our
assumptions, which could cause our results of dipasato fall below the expectations of securieglysts and investors, resulting in a decline
in our stock price.

Changes in existing financial accounting standards practices, or taxation rules or practices, magrm our results of operations.

Changes in existing accounting or taxatidas or practices, new accounting pronouncemartexation rules, or varying interpretations
of current accounting pronouncements or taxati@etwe could harm our results of operations omtla@ner in which we conduct our business

Mergers or other strategic transactions involvingiocompetitors could weaken our competitive positiavhich could harm our results @
operations.

Our industry is highly fragmented, and vedidwve it is likely that some of our existing contifmrs will consolidate or be acquired. In
addition, some of our competitors may enter inte a#liances with each other or may establish @argjthen cooperative relationships with
systems integrators, third-party consulting firmsther parties. Any such consolidation, acquisitialliance or cooperative relationship could
lead to pricing pressure and our loss of marketeshad could result in a competitor with greateaficial, technical, marketing, service and
other resources, all of which could harm our bussneesults of operations and financial condition.
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We incur increased costs and demands upon managerasra result of complying with the laws and regtitms affecting public companie:
which could harm our results of operations and oability to attract and retain qualified executivesd board members.

As a public company, we have and will coné to incur significant legal, accounting and o#agenses that we did not incur as a private
company, including costs associated with public gany reporting and corporate governance requiresnghese requirements include
compliance with Section 404 and other provisionthefSarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Dodd-Frankl\&tket Reform and Consumer
Protection Act (the "Dodd-Frank Act"), as well aters implemented by the Securities and Exchangeniission ("SEC"), The NASDAQ
Stock Market LLC, and other applicable securitiesxchange-related rules and regulations. In a@dibur management team has also had tc
adapt to the requirements of being a public comp#fg expect complying with these rules and regatestiwill substantially increase our legal
and financial compliance costs and make some #esvinore difficult, time consuming or costly, peutarly if we are no longer an "emerging
growth company," as defined in the Jumpstart OwsifBass Startups Act of 2012 (the "JOBS Act").

As a public company, we also expect thatdy be more difficult and more expensive for umtintain director and officer liability
insurance, and we may be required to accept redumlary limits and coverage or incur substantidigher costs to obtain the same or similar
coverage. As a result, it may be more difficult fisrto attract and retain qualified individualséve on our board of directors or as our
executive officers.

We are an "emerging growth company," and any deacision our part to comply with certain reduced diesure requirements applicable to
emerging growth companies could make our commorckttess attractive to investors.

We are an "emerging growth company,” agédfin the JOBS Act, and we may take advantageéin exemptions from various
reporting requirements that are applicable to opludrlic companies that are not "emerging growth ganies" including not being required to
comply with the auditor attestation requirementSettion 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reducedatisre obligations regarding executive
compensation in our periodic reports and proxyest@nts, and exemptions from the requirements afitnplan annual non-binding advisory
vote on executive compensation and nonbinding &imder approval of any golden parachute paymentgmwiously approved. If we choose
not to comply with the auditor attestation requiegrts of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Actamditors will not be required to opine on
the effectiveness of our internal control over fioi@l reporting. As a result, investors may becdese comfortable with the effectiveness of
internal controls and the risk that material wealses or other deficiencies in our internal contgolsindetected may increase. If we choose tc
provide reduced disclosures in our periodic repamis proxy statements while we are an emerging troampany, investors would have
access to less information and analysis aboutxeoutive compensation, which may make it diffidolt investors to evaluate our executive
compensation practices. We cannot predict if irvmssivill find our common stock less attractive hessmwe may rely on these exemptions ant
provide reduced disclosure. If some investors findcommon stock less attractive as a result, g be a less active trading market for our
common stock and our stock price may be harmedwiVeemain an "emerging growth company" for upfitee years following our initial
public offering or such earlier time that we arelmager an emerging growth company. We will remairemerging growth company until the
earliest to occur of: the last day of the fiscahyim which we have more than $1.0 billion in anmeaenue; the date we qualify as a "large
accelerated filer," with at least $700 million @fuity securities held by non-affiliates; the isstann any three-year period, by us of more thar
$1.0 billion in non-convertible debt securities;tbe last day of the fiscal year ending after ifth inniversary of our initial public offering.
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In addition, Section 107 of the JOBS Adaipdes that an emerging growth company can takargdge of the extended transition period
provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities AE1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), fimplying with new or revised accounting
standards. In other words, an emerging growth compan delay the adoption of certain accountingdsdeds until those standards would
otherwise apply to private companies. However, axetchosen to "opt out” of such extended transjienod, and as a result, we will comply
with new or revised accounting standards on threvegit dates on which adoption of such standandsjisired for non-emerging growth
companies. Section 107 of the JOBS Act providesdhadecision to opt out of the extended transifieriod for complying with new or
revised accounting standards is irrevocable.

Failure to achieve and maintain effective internabntrol over financial reporting could result in aufailure to accurately report our
financial results. Any inability to report and fileur financial results accurately and timely coulsterm our business and adversely impz
investor confidence in our company and, as a restlite value of our common stock.

Effective internal controls are necessarnyuis to produce reliable financial reports andiamgortant to helping prevent financial fraud. If
we cannot provide reliable financial reports orverg fraud, our business and results of operationtd be harmed, investors could lose
confidence in our reported financial informationgdahe trading price of our stock could drop sigaintly. We will be required, pursuant to
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002utaith a report by management on, among otherghihg effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting in the second aameport we file with the SEC. This assessmentmeéed to include disclosure of any materia
weaknesses identified by our management in ourmat&ontrol over financial reporting. However, @uditors will not be required to formally
opine on the effectiveness of our internal condradr financial reporting pursuant to Section 40#luve are no longer an "emerging growth
company" as defined in the JOBS Act if we take ativge of the exemptions available to us throughl@BS Act.

We are in the early stages of the costty @rallenging process of compiling the system anodgssing documentation necessary to
perform the evaluation needed to comply with Sectio4. We may not be able to remediate any futwrterial weaknesses, or to complete ou
evaluation, testing and any required remediatioa timely fashion. During the evaluation and tegfnocess, if we identify one or more
material weaknesses in our internal control oveairitial reporting, we will be unable to assert thatinternal controls are effective. If we are
unable to assert that our internal control oveaidicial reporting is effective, or if our auditorg ainable to express an opinion on the
effectiveness of our internal controls when theyraquired to issue such opinion, investors consé kconfidence in the accuracy and
completeness of our financial reports, which cdwddm our stock price.

Our failure to raise additional capital or generateash flows necessary to expand our operations anest in new technologies in the futu
could reduce our ability to compete successfullydamarm our results of operations.

We believe that our existing cash and @aglivalents will be sufficient to meet our antidgcash requirements for at least the next
12 months. We may need to raise additional funad,vee may not be able to obtain additional dekgauity financing on favorable terms, if at
all. If we raise additional equity financing, owrcsirity holders may experience significant dilutafrtheir ownership interests and the value of
shares of our common stock could decline. If weagiegn debt financing, we may be required to actspts that restrict our ability to incur
additional indebtedness, force us to maintain $igelcliquidity or other ratios or restrict our abjlto pay dividends or make acquisitions. If we
need additional capital and cannot raise it on gtedse terms, if at all, we may not be able to, agother things:

. Develop and enhance our solutions;
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. Continue to expand our research and developmdat and marketing organizations;
. Hire, train and retain employees;

. Respond to competitive pressures or unanticipatatting capital requirements; or

. Pursue acquisition opportunities.

Our inability to do any of the foregoingutd reduce our ability to compete successfully hadn our results of operations.
We may be subject to additional tax liabilities, igh would harm our results of operations.

We are subject to income, sales, use, \adided and other taxes in the United States ar otluntries in which we conduct business,
which laws and rates vary greatly by jurisdicti@ertain jurisdictions in which we do not collectesa use, value added or other taxes on our
sales may assert that such taxes are applicabileh wbuld result in tax assessments, penaltiesraacest, and we may be required to collect
such taxes in the future. Significant judgmentiguired in determining our worldwide provision focome taxes. These determinations are
highly complex and require detailed analysis ofdiailable information and applicable statutes ragalilatory materials. In the ordinary course
of our business, there are many transactions dondlafons where the ultimate tax determinationnsertain. Although we believe our tax
estimates are reasonable, the final determinafidexcaudits and any related litigation could bifedent from our historical tax practices,
provisions and accruals. If we receive an advarbeg as a result of an audit, or we unilateralgtedmine that we have misinterpreted
provisions of the tax regulations to which we arbject, our tax provision, results of operationgash flows could be harmed. In addition,
liabilities associated with taxes are often subje@n extended or indefinite statute of limitatigreriod. Therefore, we may be subject to
additional tax liability (including penalties anatérest) for a particular year for extended perigidsme.

Our business is subject to the risks of earthquakié®, power outages, floods and other catastropbkivents, and to interruption by manma
problems such as terrorisn

A significant natural disaster, such agarthquake, fire or a flood, or a significant powatage could harm our business, results of
operations and financial condition. Natural disesst®uld affect our manufacturing vendors or lagssproviders' ability to perform services
such as manufacturing products or assisting wihnsénts on a timely basis. Sanmina and LiteOn,dfwour contract manufacturers that
manufactured 72% of our inventory purchases fory#a ended December 31, 2013, have manufactuaiilities located in China. In the
event our manufacturing vendors' information tedbgw systems or manufacturing or logistics abisiteee hindered by any of the events
discussed above, shipments could be delayed, iresuitmissing financial targets, such as revemeshipment targets, for a particular
quarter. Further, if a natural disaster occursiiegion from which we derive a significant portiohour revenue, such as metropolitan areas in
North America, consumers in that region may delafporego purchases of our solutions from dealedsdistributors in the region, which m
harm our results of operations for a particulaiqeerin addition, acts of terrorism could causegisions in our business or the business of ou
manufacturers, logistics providers, dealers, diatagrs, consumers or the economy as a whole. Giuetypical concentration of sales at the
end of each month and quarter, any disruptionérbiisiness of our manufacturers, logistics prosgidéealers, distributors and consumers that
impacts sales at the end of our quarter could hayeater impact on our quarterly results. Alllaf aforementioned risks may be augmented |
the disaster recovery plans for us and our sugpiesve to be inadequate. To the extent that atlyeodbove results in delays or cancellations
of orders, or delays in the manufacture, deployneeshipment of our products, our business, finsinmndition and results of operations
would be harmed.
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Global or regional economic, political and sociabaditions could harm our business and results ofevptions.

External factors such as potential tert@itacks, acts of war, financial crises, tradetiivh or geopolitical and social turmoil in thosaris
of the world that serve as markets for our soligj@uch as Europe, Asia or elsewhere, could harrbusiness and results of operations. Thes
uncertainties may cause our consumers to reduceetimary spending on their home and make itdiffifor us to accurately plan future
business activities. More generally, these gedpaljtsocial and economic conditions could resulnicreased volatility in worldwide financial
markets and economies that could harm our salesard/eot insured for losses or interruptions catmsegtrrorist acts or acts of war. The
occurrence of any of these events or circumstacaelsl harm our business and results of operations.

Failure to comply with laws and regulations couldahm our business.

Our business is subject to regulation hyouss federal, state, local and foreign governmeagancies, including agencies responsible for
monitoring and enforcing employment and labor lawstkplace safety, product safety, environmentaklaconsumer protection laws, anti-
bribery laws, import/export controls, federal sétes laws and tax laws and regulations. In cerjaiisdictions, these regulatory requirements
may be more stringent than in the United Statesicdmpliance with applicable regulations or requieats could subject us to investigations,
sanctions, mandatory product recalls, enforcemelidrss, disgorgement of profits, fines, damagesl and criminal penalties or injunctions. If
any governmental sanctions are imposed, or if waalg@revail in any possible civil or criminal fftion, our business, results of operations
and financial condition could be materially harmiedaddition, responding to any action will likelgsult in a significant diversion of
management's attention and resources and an irdrepeofessional fees. Enforcement actions andt&ers could further harm our business,
results of operations and financial condition.

Risks Related to Our International Operations

In recent years, a significant amount of our reveathas come from sales outside of the United Statesl we are therefore subject tc
number of risks associated with international salesd operations.

We have a limited history of marketing lisgl, and supporting our products and servicegmationally. However, consumers in countries
outside of North America accounted for 22% of awenue for the year ended December 31, 2013 arekpext that percentage to grow in the
future. As a result, we must hire and train experéel personnel to staff and manage our foreignatipeis. To the extent that we experience
difficulties in recruiting, training, managing, anetaining an international staff, and specificallgff related to sales management and sales
personnel, we may experience difficulties in salesluctivity in foreign markets.

If we are not able to increase the salasuofsolutions to consumers located outside of INArherica, our results of operations or revenue
growth may be harmed. In addition, in connectiothwiur expansion into foreign markets, we are aiwer of currencies other than the U.S.
dollar. Accordingly, changes in exchange rates,ianghrticular a strengthening of the U.S. dolaitl negatively affect our net sales and gross
margins as expressed in U.S. dollars. There isaatssk that we will have to adjust local curremegduct pricing due to competitive pressures
when there has been significant volatility in fgreicurrency exchange rates.

Conducting and launching operations omaernational scale requires close coordinatiorctif’dies across multiple jurisdictions and
time zones and consumes significant managemenineso Our limited experience in operating our ess outside of the United States
increases the risk that our current and any futtegnational expansion efforts will not be sucégls€onducting
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international operations subjects us to risks tip@nerally, we do not face in the United Stateduiting:

. Fluctuations in currency exchange rates;

. Unexpected changes in foreign regulatory requirgémen

. Longer accounts receivable payment cycles anccdlffes in collecting accounts receivable;

. Difficulties in managing and staffing internatiormderations, including differences in labor laws;

. Potentially adverse tax consequences, includingtneplexities of foreign value added tax systentsrastrictions on the

repatriation of earnings;

. Localization of our solutions, including trartste into foreign languages and associated expenses
. Localization of our customer agreements undefiegble foreign law;
. The burdens of complying with a wide variety ofdign laws and different legal standards, includawgs and regulations relai

to privacy and data security and limitations ombilisy;

. Increased financial accounting and reporting busdeerd complexities;
. Political, social and economic instability abrotatrorist attacks and security concerns in genaral;
. Reduced or varied protection for intellectual pmtypeights in some countries.

The impact of any one of these risks ctnddn our international business and, consequentlyresults of operations generally.
Additionally, operating in international markets@lrequires significant management attention amhfiial resources. We cannot be certair
the investment and additional resources requirestiablishing, acquiring or integrating operationsther countries will produce desired lex
of revenue or profitability.

Due to the global nature of our business, we coblkel harmed by violations of the U.S. Foreign Corruptactices Act, the U.K. Bribery A«
or similar anti-corruption laws in other jurisdictbns in which we operate, or various internationahtie and export laws.

The global nature of our business creaée®us domestic and local regulatory challengeg. UtS. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the
"FCPA"), the U.K. Bribery Act 2010 (the "U.K. Bribg Act"), and similar anti-corruption laws in othigirisdictions generally prohibit U.S.-
based companies and their intermediaries from ngakiproper payments to non-U.S. officials for thegose of obtaining or retaining
business. In addition, U.S.-based companies aréreshjto maintain records that accurately andyfagpresent their transactions and have an
adequate system of internal accounting controlsopérate in areas of the world that experienceuption by government officials to some
degree and, in certain circumstances, compliantte amti-corruption laws may conflict with local ¢ams and practices. Our global operations
require us to import from and export to severalntoas, which geographically stretches our coméaabligations. In addition, changes in
such laws could result in increased regulatory irequents and compliance costs which could harnbasimess, financial condition and results
of operations. Our employees or other agents mgggin prohibited conduct and render us respansitdier the FCPA, the U.K. Bribery #
or similar anti-corruption laws. If we are foundhe in violation of the FCPA, the U.K. Bribery Aat other anti-corruption laws (either due to
acts or inadvertence of our employees, or dued@dtits or inadvertence of others), we could suffieninal or civil penalties or other sanctions,
which could harm our business.
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Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

From time to time, we are defendants in legal predéngs as to which we are unable to assess our sypwand which could become
significant liabilities in the event of an advergedgment.

We are defendants in legal proceedings fiora to time. Companies in our industry have badrject to claims related to patent
infringement and product liability, as well as aaect and employment-related claims. We may notiibe ® accurately assess the risks related
to these suits, and we may be unable to accurassigss our level of exposure. In 2012 and 201&ntered into three separate settlement
agreements relating to alleged patent infringemevitgch included future royalty payments on cergaioducts, the payment of a lump sum
amount for alleged past damages, and/or the payofientixed amount in exchange for a covenant octue.

If we fail to protect our intellectual property androprietary rights adequately, our business colid harmed

We believe that proprietary technologydsemtial to establishing and maintaining our lesltiprposition. We seek to protect our
intellectual property through trade secrets, capys, confidentiality, non-compete and nondiscleaagreements, patents, trademarks, domail
names and other measures, some of which affordliomited protection. We also rely on patent, tradekntrade secret and copyright laws to
protect our intellectual property. Despite our efdo protect our proprietary rights, unauthoripagties may attempt to copy aspects of our
technology or to obtain and use information thatregard as proprietary. Our means of protectingoooprietary rights may not be adequate o
our competitors may independently develop simitasuperior technology, or design around our intdllal property. In addition, the laws of
some foreign countries do not protect our proprjeteghts to as great an extent as the laws ofxhited States. Intellectual property protecti
may also be unavailable, limited or difficult toferce in some countries, which could make it eafsiecompetitors to capture market share.
Our failure or inability to adequately protect dantellectual property and proprietary rights cobltm our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

To prevent substantial unauthorized useuofintellectual property rights, it may be necegsa prosecute actions for infringement and/or
misappropriation of our proprietary rights agaitistd parties. Any such action could result in $igant costs and diversion of our resources
and management's attention, and we cannot assurthgbwe will be successful in such action. Furti@re, many of our current and potential
competitors have the ability to dedicate substintiaeater resources to enforce their intellecpralperty rights than we do. Accordingly,
despite our efforts, we may not be able to prettdnd parties from infringing upon or misappropiit our intellectual property.

An assertion by a third party that we are infringinits intellectual property could subject us to ¢ligsand time-consuming litigation or
expensive licenses that could harm our business agslilts of operations.

The industries in which we compete are att@rized by the existence of a large number arjiat copyrights, trademarks and trade
secrets, and by frequent litigation based on afiegs of infringement or other violations of inettual property rights. We have been subje
patent litigation in the past and we may be suli@similar litigation in the future. Given thatosplution integrates with all aspects of the
home, the risk that our solution may be subjethé&se allegations is exacerbated. As we seek éméxiur solutions, we could be constrained
by the intellectual property rights of others. tiddion, our dealer and distributor contracts regjuis to indemnify them against certain
liabilities they may incur as a result of our infyjement of any third-party intellectual property.

We might not prevail in any intellectuabperty infringement litigation given the complexhaical issues and inherent uncertainties in
such litigation. Defending such claims, regardlafstheir merit, could be time-consuming and digiragto management, result in costly
litigation or settlement, cause development detay®quire us to enter into royalty or licensingesgnents. In addition, we
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currently have a limited portfolio of issued pateabmpared to our larger competitors, and therafag not be able to effectively utilize our
intellectual property portfolio to assert defensesounterclaims in response to patent infringenstiims or litigation brought against us by
third parties. Further, litigation may involve patéolding companies or other adverse patent owmkeshave no relevant products or rever
and against which our potential patents provideeterrence, and many other potential litigants hheecapability to dedicate substantially
greater resources to enforce their intellectuaperty rights and to defend claims that may be binbagainst them. If our solutions exceed the
scope of in-bound licenses or violate any thirdypproprietary rights, we could be required to wittw those solutions from the market, re-
develop those solutions or seek to obtain licefrees third parties, which might not be availablereasonable terms or at all. Any efforts to re
develop our solutions, obtain licenses from thiatties on favorable terms or license a substitthriology might not be successful and, in
case, might substantially increase our costs and bar business, financial condition and resultepdrations. If we were compelled to
withdraw any of our solutions from the market, business, financial condition and results of openatcould be harmed.

We are generally obligated to indemnify our dealedéstributors and partners for certain expensesdaliabilities resulting from intellectual
property infringement claims regarding our produgtahich could force us to incur substantial cos

We have agreed, and expect to continugreeato indemnify our dealers, distributors andras for certain intellectual property
infringement claims regarding our products. Assute in the case of infringement claims againsséhdealers, distributors and partners, we
could be required to indemnify them for losses Itegyifrom such claims or to refund amounts theyehpaid to us. We expect that some of
dealers, distributors and partners may seek ind&ration from us in connection with infringemenaiths brought against them. We evaluate
each such request on a case-by-case basis andywsotrgucceed in refuting all such claims. If aldealistributor or partner elects to invest
resources in enforcing a claim for indemnificataggainst us, we could incur significant costs dispuit. If we do not succeed in disputing it,
we could face substantial liability.

The use of open source software in our solutionsyrexpose us to additional risks and harm our inegtual property.

Some of our solutions use or incorporafensoe that is subject to one or more open soucemses. Open source software is typically
freely accessible, usable and modifiable. Certpigncsource software licenses require a user wkadstto distribute the open source software
as a component of the user's software to disclobgly part or all of the source code to the ussdftware. In addition, certain open source
software licenses require the user of such softivareake any derivative works of the open souraeavailable to others on potentially
unfavorable terms or at no cost.

The terms of many open source licenseshiolwwe are subject have not been interpreted By &t. foreign courts, and accordingly there
is a risk that those licenses could be construednmanner that imposes unanticipated conditiomssdrictions on our ability to commercialize
our solutions. In that event, we could be requteeseek licenses from third parties in order toticme offering our solutions, to re-develop our
solutions, to discontinue sales of our solutiontoaelease our proprietary software code undeteimas of an open source license, any of
which could harm our business. Further, given tieime of open source software, it may be moreyikiet third parties might assert copyright
and other intellectual property infringement claiagainst us based on our use of these open smftaae programs.

While we monitor the use of all open sowc#ware in our products, solutions, processesteetthology and seek to ensure that no oper
source software is used in such a way as to regsite disclose the source code to the relatedustam solution when we do not wish to do
we are currently conducting a comprehensive addipen source software contained in our solutions.
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Although we are not aware of any use of open soswévare in our solutions that would require usliszlose all or a portion of the source
code underlying our solutions, we have not compleigr open source software audit; therefore, foissible that such use may have
inadvertently occurred in deploying our solutioAdditionally, if a third-party software provider figncorporated certain types of open source
software into software we license from such thiadty for our solutions without our knowledge, weilth under certain circumstances, be
required to disclose the source code to our saiati®his could harm our intellectual property positand our business, results of operations
and financial condition.

We rely on the availability of third-party licenseH these licenses are available to us only onddavorable terms or not at all in the future,
our business and results of operations may be hadme

We have incorporated third-party licensaxhhology into our products. It may be necessatiiarfuture to renew licenses relating to
various aspects of these products or to seek additlicenses for existing or new products. Thesseary licenses may not be available on
acceptable terms, or at all. The inability to obte@rtain licenses or other rights, or to obtawsthlicenses or rights on favorable terms, or the
need to engage in litigation regarding these mattaruld result in our inability to include certd@atures in our products or delays in product
releases until such time, if ever, as equivaletttirielogy could be identified, licensed or developad integrated into our products, which may
have a material adverse effect on our businessitses operations and financial condition. Moregwbe inclusion in our products of
intellectual property licensed from third partiesanonexclusive basis could limit our ability t@{ect our proprietary rights in our products.

Failure to maintain the security of our informatiorand technology networks, including information rating to our dealers, distributors,
consumers and employees, could adversely affect us.

We are dependent on information technologiyvorks and systems, including the Internet, teess, transmit and store electronic
information and, in the normal course of our busfeave collect and retain certain information pgaia to our dealers, distributors, consurn
and employees. The legal, regulatory and contrbetuaronment surrounding information security gmivacy is constantly evolving and
companies that collect and retain such informagi@under increasing attack by cyber-criminals agialhe world. A significant actual or
potential theft, loss, fraudulent use or misusdedler, distributor, consumer, employee or othesq@wlly identifiable data, whether by third
parties or as a result of employee malfeasanc¢herwise, non-compliance with our contractual dreotiegal obligations regarding such data
or a violation of our privacy and security policiegh respect to such data could result in sigaifiiccosts, fines, litigation or regulatory actions
against us. Such an event could additionally raswdtiverse publicity and therefore adversely dffiee market's perception of the security and
reliability of our services. Security breachesafsustained attacks against, this infrastructorgdccreate system disruptions and shutdowns
that could result in disruptions to our operationg cannot be certain that advances in cyber-chiyedbr other developments will not
compromise or breach the technology protectinghtevorks that access our products and servicasylbne of these risks materializes our
business, financial condition, results of operatiand cash flows could be materially and adversfécted.

If security breaches in connection with the deliweof our services allow unauthorized third partiés obtain control or access of ot
consumers' appliances containing our products, a@putation, business, results of operations anddircial condition could be harmed.

Certain of our employees and dealers caasscand update certain of our home automatiorupte@nd services through the Internet. If
security breaches in connection with the delivdrgur services via the Internet allow unauthoristgidd parties to obtain control of our
consumers' appliances containing our productsrequrtation, business, results of operations arahfiral condition could be
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harmed. Furthermore, although we do not recommeiagprove of port forwarding for remote accessunsmlutions, certain of our dealers
have in the past and may in the future enablefpostarding, which could create security vulneralsh in a consumer's home network. If
security breaches in connection with the delivergur solutions occur, our reputation, businessults of operations and financial condition
could be harmed.

Risks Related to Owning Our Common Stock
Our share price may be volatile, which may resuitdecurities class action litigation against us.

The market price of our common stock cdagdsubject to wide fluctuations in response to miaskyfactors listed in this section, and ot
factors beyond our control, including:

. Actual or anticipated fluctuations in our fingaccondition and results of operations;

. Overall conditions in our industry and market;

. Addition or loss of consumers;

. Changes in laws or regulations applicable tosmlutions;

. Actual or anticipated changes in our growth ratetinee to our competitors;

. Announcements by us or our competitors of signifiGecquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ueas$ or capital commitmen
. Additions or departures of key personnel;

. Competition from existing products or new produbist may emerge;

. Issuance of new or updated research or repgrseturities analysts;

. Fluctuations in the valuation of companies pee by investors to be comparable to us;

. Disputes or other developments related to pedary rights, including patents, litigation mattarsd our ability to obtain

intellectual property protection for our technolegji

. Sales of our common stock by us or our stockhojders

. Share price and volume fluctuations attributablmtmnsistent trading volume levels of our shares;

. The expiration of contractual lock-up agreementhwur executive officers, directors and stockhdgdand
. General economic and market conditions.

Furthermore, the stock markets have expeei@ extreme price and volume fluctuations thattaffected and continue to affect the me
prices of equity securities of many companies. €fkgtuations often have been unrelated or digmtagnate to the operating performance of
those companies. These broad market and industtufitions, as well as general economic, politcal market conditions such as recessions
interest rate changes or international currenastdiations, may harm the market price of our comstonk. In the past, companies that have
experienced volatility in the market price of theliock have been subject to securities class alitigation. We may be the target of this type
litigation in the future. Securities litigation agat us could result in substantial costs and dioer management's attention from other busines
concerns, which could harm our business.
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If securities or industry analysts do not publislesearch or reports about our business, or publistgative reports about our business, ¢
share price and trading volume could declir

The trading market for our common stockedes in part on the research and reports thatifeswr industry analysts publish about us o
our business. We do not have any control over theatysts. If one or more of the analysts who cagetlowngrade our shares or change theil
opinion of our shares, our share price will likdigcline. If one or more of these analysts ceaserage of our company or fail to regularly
publish research or reports on us, we could losigility in the financial markets, which could causur stock price or trading volume to
decline.

The concentration of ownership of our capital stotiknits your ability to influence corporate matters

As of December 31, 2013, our directorscexge officers and holders of more than 5% of cammon stock, together with their affiliat
beneficially own, in the aggregate, 65.8% of ouistanding common stock. As a result, these stoddns| acting together, would have the
ability to control the outcome of matters submitteadur stockholders for approval, including theotibn of directors and any merger,
consolidation or sale of all or substantially dlborr assets. In addition, these stockholdersngdtigether, would have the ability to control the
management and affairs of our company. Accordiniig, concentration of ownership might harm thekaaprice of our common stock by:

. Delaying, deferring or preventing a change irpooate control;
. Impeding a merger, consolidation, takeover or otheiness combination involving us; or
. Discouraging a potential acquirer from making alemroffer or otherwise attempting to obtain contls.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents andder Delaware law could make an acquisition of wghich may be beneficial to our
stockholders, more difficult and may prevent attetajpy our stockholders to replace or remove ourrent management and limit th
market price of our common stock.

Provisions in our amended and restatedficate of incorporation and amended and restayais may have the effect of delaying or
preventing a change of control or changes in ouragament. Our amended and restated certificatecofporation and amended and restated
include provisions that:

. Authorize our board of directors to issue, withfurther action by the stockholders, up to 25,000,8Bares of undesignated
preferred stock;

. Require that any action to be taken by our stotiders be effected at a duly called annual origpeteeting and not by written
consent;
. Specify that special meetings of our stockholderstoe called only by our board of directors, thai@han of the Board, the

Chief Executive Officer or the President;

. Establish an advance notice procedure for stockdn@gprovals to be brought before an annual meefigr stockholders,
including proposed nominations of persons for @@ecto our board of directors;

. Provide that directors may be removed only fuse;

. Provide that vacancies on our board of direateay be filled only by a majority of directors thignoffice, even though less than
a quorum;

. Establish that our board of directors is dividet ithree classes—Class I, Class Il and Class llith-&ach class serving

staggered terms; and
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. Require a super-majority of votes to amend cetéthe above-mentioned provisions.

These provisions, alone or together, coeldy or prevent hostile takeovers and changesritral. These provisions may also frustrate or
prevent any attempts by our stockholders to reptagemove our current management by making it nddfeeult for stockholders to replace
members of our board of directors, which is resfidagor appointing the members of our management.

As a Delaware corporation, we are alsoextitip provisions of Delaware law, including Sect93 of the Delaware General Corporation
law, which prevents some stockholders holding ntloa@ 15% of our outstanding common stock from emmgpip certain business
combinations without approval of the holders ofstahtially all of our outstanding common stock.

Any provision of our certificate of inconm@tion or bylaws or Delaware law that has the ¢féédelaying or deterring a change of control
could limit the opportunity for our stockholdersraxeive a premium for their shares of our commonks and could also affect the price that
some investors are willing to pay for our commarckt

ITEM 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
ITEM 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters are locatealinL@ke City, Utah, where we lease approximat&y0B80 square feet of commercial space
under a lease that expires on June 30, 2018. Wthissgpace for sales, research and developmeaigrdand distributor service and support,
administrative purposes. We also lease approximdtD00 square feet of warehouse space in Sa#t Citly, Utah under a lease that expires
on March 31, 2017.

In connection with our sales efforts in theited States and abroad, we lease office spgéeatly on a short-term renewable basis
domestically in San Jose, California, CharlottertN&arolina and Chicago, lllinois, and internatifiy in York, United Kingdom, Shanghai,
China, and Bangalore, India.

We believe that our facilities are suitafoleneet our current needs. We intend to expanexisting facilities or add new facilities as we
add employees and enter new geographic marketsyarelieve that suitable additional or alternapace will be available as needed to
accommodate any such growth. However, we expdntto additional expenses in connection with suelv or expanded facilities.

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we may become involvedegal proceedings arising in the ordinary cowfseur business. We are not presently a
party to any legal proceedings that, if determiaddersely to us, we believe would individually oithe aggregate have a material adverse
effect on our business, results of operationspfire condition or cash flows.

ITEM 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
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PART II.
ITEM 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases &quity Securities
Market Information

Our common stock has been listed on the DIAG Global Select Market under the symbol "CTRLicg August 2, 2013. Prior to that
time, there was no public market for our commortlsto

Price Range of Common Stock

The price range per share of common stoekgmted below represents the highest and lowesingl prices for our common stock on the
NASDAQ Global Select Market during each quartecsiour initial public offering

2013 High Low
Fourth Quarte $ 17.8¢ $ 14.17
Third Quarter (commencing August 2, 20: $ 2380 $ 17.3-

Holders of Record

As of February 14, 2014, there were 76 édaf record of our common stock. The actual nurobstockholders is greater than this
number of holders of record, and includes stoclkérsldvho are beneficial owners, but whose shareleddein street name by brokers and o
nominees. This number of holders of record als® admé include stockholders whose shares may beiméldst by other entities.

Stock Performance Graph and Cumulative Total Return

Notwithstanding any statement to the contrary ig ehour previous or future filings with the SE@e tfollowing information relating to
the price performance of our common stock shalbeotieemed to be "filed" with the SEC or to bei¢golg material” under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchaogeawd it shall not be deemed to be incorporatgddierence into any of our filings unt
the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, exceftaaktent we specifically incorporate it by refereimto such filing.

The following graph shows a comparison frdagust 2, 2013 (the date our common stock comntktragling on the NASDAQ Global
Select Market) through December 31, 2013 of thal mimulative return of our common stock with tb&at cumulative return of the S&P 500
Index and S&P 500 Information Technology Sectoebdrhe comparisons in this graph below are basddstorical data and are not inten:
to forecast or be indicative of future performanteur common stock.

The comparison assumes that $100.00 wasted in our common stock, the S&P 500 Index ang S80 Information Technology Sec
Index, and assumes reinvestment of dividends yif @he graph assumes the initial value of our comstock on August 2, 2013 was the
closing sale price on that day of $20.05 per shatknot the initial offering price to the public%f6.00 per share. The performance shown on
the graph below is based on historical resultsiamtt intended to suggest future performance.
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Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any casdelids on our common stock and do not intend togpgycash dividends in the foreseeable
future. We anticipate that we will retain all ofrduture earnings for use in the operation of cusibess and for general corporate purposes.
Any determination to pay dividends in the futurdl e at the discretion of our board of directgkscordingly, investors must rely on sales of
their common stock after price appreciation, whitdy never occur, as the only way to realize anyréugains on their investments.

Unregistered Sale of Equity Securities

From January 1, 2013 through August 2, 20d8sold and issued to our employees, consultardormer service providers an aggregat
of 51,454 shares of common stock pursuant to ogb@nmcises under our 2003 Equity Incentive Plagxatcise prices ranging from $0.52 to
$8.84 per share for an aggregate purchase pri$22if,591.60.

From January 1, 2013 through August 2, 2@48granted options under our 2003 Equity IncenBlan to purchase an aggregate of
386,898 shares of common stock to our employees;tdrs and consultants, having an exercise pfiéd b.28 per share for an aggregate
exercise price of $4,365,757.03.

In August 2013, we issued 293,232 shareswimon stock pursuant to the cashless net exatigarrants to purchase our common
stock.

Unless otherwise stated, the sales of loge@securities were deemed to be exempt fromtragian under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the "Securities Act"), in reliance upon
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Section 4(2) of the Securities Act (or RegulatiooRegulation S promulgated thereunder), or ROk pfromulgated under Section 3(b) of the
Securities Act as transactions by an issuer natlirg any public offering or pursuant to benefdns and contracts relating to compensation
as provided under Rule 701. The recipients of doaisties in each of these transactions represehésdintentions to acquire the securities for
investment only and not with a view to or for samleonnection with any distribution thereof, angegpriate legends were placed upon the
stock certificates issued in these transactionsteglpients had adequate access, through theitioekhips with the Registrant, to information
about the Registrant. The sales of these secuwies made without any general solicitation or atisiag.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
We did not purchase any of our securitiasngd) the year ended December 31, 2013.
Use of Proceeds from Public Offering of Common Stéc

On August 7, 2013, we closed our initiabjpi offering ("IPO"), in which we sold 4,600,00Baes of common stock at a price to the
public of $16.00 per share. The offer and saldlaffghe shares in the IPO were registered unkierSecurities Act pursuant to a registration
statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-189736), whwels declared effective by the SEC on August 1, 208 raised $65.6 million in net
proceeds after deducting underwriting discountsamdmissions of $5.2 million and offering expens&$2.8 million. No payments were
made by us to directors, officers or persons owtgngpercent or more of our common stock or torthgsociates, or to our affiliates, other t
payments in the ordinary course of business ta@fsi for salaries. There has been no material ehiantipe planned use of proceeds from our
IPO as described in our final prospectus filed wiith SEC on August 2, 2013 pursuant to Rule 42%{ta) invested the funds received in
accordance with our board approved investment ypolibe managing underwriters of our IPO were Meksginch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith
Incorporated and Raymond James & Associates, Inc.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Comensation Plans

See Part lll, Item 12 of this Form 10-K thsclosure relating to our equity compensatiompl&uch information will be included in our
proxy statement relating to our 2014 annual meatirgfockholders, which is incorporated herein éfgrence.

ITEM 6. Selected Financial Data

We have derived the selected consolidatgdraents of operations data for the years endedmiger 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013 and the
selected consolidated balance sheet data as ohibece31, 2012 and 2013 from our audited consoliifitancial statements and related note:
included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. We have datithe selected consolidated statements of opesadiata for the years ended
December 31, 2009 and 2010 and the selected cdasadi balance sheet data as of December 31, 26rhlofar audited consolidated financial
statements not included in this Form K0T he following selected consolidated financialadahould be read in conjunction with "Managem
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &websults of Operations” and our consolidated firarstatements and related notes includec
elsewhere in this Form 10-K. Our historical resalts not necessarily indicative of the resultse¢@kpected for any future period and

41




Table of Contents
the results for any interim period are not necélysadicative of the results to be expected in thiéyear.

Years Ended December 31
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
(In thousands, except per share date

Consolidated Statements o
Operations Data:

Revenue $ 67,74. $ 74,92¢ $ 93,37¢ $ 109,51: $ 128,51:
Cost of revenu 41,67+ 43,357 50,53« 57,22¢ 64,23
Cost of revenue—inventory purchas

commitment — — — 1,84( (380)
Gross margir 26,06¢ 31,56¢ 42,84 50,441 64,651
Operating expense

Research and developm 10,86: 15,92: 19,21: 20,31( 24,97¢

Sales and marketir 16,48: 22,49: 17,54¢ 20,18: 21,97t

General and administrati\ 6,69( 8,87¢ 9,80¢ 10,15( 12,32¢

Litigation settlemen — — — 2,86¢ 44C
Total operating expens 34,03¢ 47,28¢ 46,56: 53,51: 59,72
Income (loss) from operatiol (7,967 (15,722 (3,720 (3,069 4,93¢
Interest and other expense, (407) (544 (165) (51¢) (1,189
Income (loss) before income tax (8,369 (16,265 (3,885 (3,589 3,751
Income tax expens — — — (141) (24¢)
Net income (loss $ (8,36 $ (16,26°) $ (3,885 $ (3,72) $ 3,50
Net income (loss) per common shg

Basic $ B4 $ (999 % (209 $ (159 % 0.3:

Diluted $ (B4 $ (999 % (20 $ (159 % 0.1¢€

Nor-GAAP Financial Measures

In addition to our GAAP operating resut® use certain non-GAAP financial measures to wsided and evaluate our operating
performance and trends, to prepare and approvarowal budget, and to develop short- and long-tgyerational plans. These measures,
which we refer to as our non-GAAP financial measyege not prepared in accordance with generatig@ed accounting principles in the
United States. Non-GAAP gross margin, non-GAAP imedrom operations, and non-GAAP net income exchmiecash expenses related to
stock-based compensation as well as gains or lassgsentory purchase commitments. We furtherwelexpenses related to litigation
settlement, stock warrants, and executive severfaoeenon-GAAP income from operations and non-GA#dR income.

Management believes that it is useful tdwke stock-based compensation expense becauamtnt of such expense in any specific
period may not directly correlate to the underlypegformance of our business operations. We beltagauseful to exclude gains or losses on
inventory purchase commitments because it is incomexpense that arose from our commitment to @sekenergy-related products from our
contract manufacturing partner that we will not dse to our decision to discontinue our energy pebdne for utility customers. We have not
recognized that type of income or expense in psrbr to 2012, and we believe that past and &upariods are more comparable if we
exclude that income or expense. Furthermore, wievgelt is useful to exclude expenses relatedtigelion settlement, stock warrants and
executive severance because of the variable an@dinfable nature of these expenses which arendatative of past or future operating
performance. We believe that past and future peréwd more comparable if we exclude those expenses.
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We believe these adjustments provide usefiparative information to investors. Non-GAAPules are presented for supplemental
informational purposes only for understanding querating results. The non-GAAP results should motdnsidered a substitute for financial
information presented in accordance with genewdlyepted accounting principles, and may be diftdrem non-GAAP measures used by
other companies. Our non-GAAP financial measureg mad provide information that is directly compaletn that provided by other
companies in our industry, as other companies irirmustry may calculate non-GAAP financial resui§erently, particularly related to non-
recurring, unusual items. We urge our investongteew the reconciliation of our non-GAAP financiakasures to the comparable GAAP
financial measures included below, and not to oelyany single financial measure to evaluate ouiniess.

Years Ended December 31
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
(in thousands, except percentages and per share da

Reconciliation of Gross Margin to No-GAAP Gross Margin:

Gross margir $ 26,066 $ 31,56¢ $ 42,84: $ 50,447 $ 64,65
Stocl-based compensation expense in cost of rev 26 28 49 78 63
Cost of reveni—inventory purchase commitme — — — 1,84( (380)
Non-GAAP gross margil $ 26,090 $ 3159 $ 4289. $ 5236 $ 64,34(
Revenue $ 67,74: $ 74,92 ¢ 93,37¢ $ 109,51. $ 128,51:
Gross margin percenta 38.5% 42.1% 45.€% 46.1% 50.2%
Non-GAAP gross margin percenta 38.5% 42.2% 45.% 47.&% 50.1%

Reconciliation of Income (Loss) From Operations ttNon-GAAP
Income (Loss) From Operations:

Income (loss) from operatiol $ (7,967 $ (15,72) $ (3,720 $ (3,069 $ 4,93«
Stocl-based compensation expel 1,03¢ 1,46¢ 2,01z 2,86¢ 3,76(
Cost of reveniL—inventory purchase commitme — — — 1,84( (380
Litigation settlemen — — — 2,86¢ 44C
Convertible preferred stock warre 6 14C (227) 254 70¢
Executive severanc — — — — 34C
Non-GAAP income (loss) from operatio $ (6929 $ (14,11) $ (1,939 $ 476t $ 9,80t
Revenue $ 67,74. $ 74,92 $ 93,37¢ $ 109,51. $ 128,51:
Operating margin percenta -11.8% -21.(% -4.C% -2.8% 3.8%
Non-GAAP operating margin percenta -10.2% -18.&% -2.1% 4.4% 7.€%
Reconciliation of Net Income (Loss) to Non-GAAP Nelncome

(Loss):
Net income (loss $ (836 ¢ (16,26Y) ¢ (3,887 $ (3,72Y) $ 3,50¢
Stock-based compensation expel 1,03¢ 1,46¢ 2,01z 2,86¢ 3,76(
Cost of reveniL—inventory purchase commitme — — — 1,84( (380
Litigation settlemen — — — 2,86¢ 44C
Convertible preferred stock warre 6 14C (227) 254 70¢
Executive severanc — — — — 34C
Non-GAAP net income (loss $ (7,329 $ (14,650 $ (2,099 $ 4,10¢ $ 8,37-
Reconciliation of Net Income (Loss) per Share to Ni-GAAP

Net Income (Loss) per Share:
Basic net income (loss) per sh: $ (B4 $ (999 $ (202 $ (159 $ 0.3
Stocl-based compensation expel 0.67 0.9C 1.0¢ 1.22 0.3€
Cost of revent—inventory purchase commitme — — — 0.7¢ (0.09)
Litigation settlemen — — — 1.2Z 0.04
Convertible preferred stock warre — 0.0¢ (0.19) 0.1C 0.07
Executive severanc — — — — 0.0
Non-GAAP basic net income (loss) per sh $ (4795 $ (B89 $ (@1.09 $ 174 $ 0.7¢
Diluted net income (loss) per sh $ (54 $ (999 $ (202 $ (020 $ 0.1€
Stocl-based compensation expel 0.67 0.9C 1.0F 0.1fF 0.17
Cost of reveni—inventory purchase commitme — — — 0.1C (0.02)
Litigation settlemen — — — 0.1t 0.0z
Convertible preferred stock warre — 0.0¢ (0.12) 0.0z 0.0z
Executive severanc — — — — 0.0Z
Non-GAAP diluted net income (loss) per sh: $ (475 $ (89H $ (1.09 $ 02z $ 0.3¢
Weighte-average number of shart

Basic 1,54: 1,63¢ 1,92¢ 2,36( 10,60¢

Diluted 1,54: 1,63¢ 1,92t 18,90¢ 22,26
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Consolidated Balance Sheet Data
The following table sets forth our selectetsolidated balance sheet data as of the dagserged:

As of December 31
2011 2012 2013
(In thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Date

Cash and cash equivalel $ 18,46¢ $ 18,69t $ 84,54¢
Property and equipment, r 2,12 2,66¢ 3,94:
Working capital, excluding deferred rever 24,90¢ 23,83: 95,42:
Total asset 43,53¢ 50,63¢ 122,68t
Long-term debt, including current portic 2,32( 3,15¢ 2,96¢
Redeemable convertible preferred stock and waliamitity 116,66( 116,91« —
Total stockholders' equity (defici (92,50¢) (92,607) 98,47

ITEM 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis dfinancial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the various sections in MD&A injoantion with our consolidated financial statemeatsl the notes thereto included
elsewhere in this Form 10-K. The following discasstontains forward-looking statements that reftmat plans, estimates and beliefs. Our
actual results could differ materially from thosealissed in the forward-looking statements. Factioas could cause or contribute to these
differences include those discussed below and bemwn this Form 10-K, particularly in the "Spekiote Regarding Forward-Looking
Statements" and the "Risk Factors" section.

Our Management's Discussion and Analysisimdincial Condition and Results of Operations (M&)&s provided in addition to the
accompanying consolidated financial statementsnatgls to assist readers in understanding our apesafinancial condition and cash flows.
MD&A is organized as follows:

. Overview. Discussion of our business and overall analysimancial and other highlights affecting the caany in order to
provide context for the remainder of MD&A.

. Factors and Trends Affecting our Performanc&.summary of certain market factors and trends we believe are important to
our business which we must successfully addressdier to continue to grow our business.

. Key Operating and Financial MetricsKey operating and financial metrics that we wsevaluate and manage our business.
. Results of OperationsAn analysis of our financial results comparind2@o 2011 and comparing 2013 to 2012.
. Quarterly Results of Operations and Other DatAn analysis of our quarterly results of operasiéor each of the quarters in 1

two-year period ended December 31, 2013.

. Liquidity and Capital ResourcesAn analysis of changes in our balance sheetgasi flows, and discussion of our financial
condition and potential sources of liquidity.

. Critical Accounting Estimates.Accounting estimates that we believe are mosbmant to understanding the assumptions and
judgments incorporated in our reported financialtes and forecasts.

. Contractual Obligations and Off-Balance Sheet Agaments. Overview of contractual obligations, contingdabllities,
commitments and off-balance sheet arrangementtaodiag as of December 31, 2013, including expeptganent schedule.
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Overview

Control4 is a leading provider of automatand control solutions for the connected home.ueck the potential of connected devices,
making entertainment systems easier to use, horoes eomfortable and energy efficient, and famifiesre secure. We provide our consumer
with the ability to integrate music, video, lighgintemperature, security, communications and dthestionalities into a unified home
automation solution that enhances our consumeilg'ld@s. At the center of our solution is our aaced software platform, which we provide
through our products that interface with a wideetgrof connected devices that are developed kndsby third parties.

We derive virtually all of our revenue frdahe sale of products that contain our proprietafyware, which functions as the operating
system of the home. We derive a smaller portioousfrevenue from licensing our MyHome software, ekihéllows consumers to access their
home control system from within their home usingitlsmartphone, tablet or laptop. In 2013, we bdgardling the MyHome software
licenses with our controller appliances. As a resu are currently only selling MyHome softwareelses to legacy system owners. We
anticipate that sales of individual MyHome softwktenses will continue to decline and we will etrgadly discontinue the sale of the
unbundled software. We also generate revenue finensdle of annual subscriptions to our 4Sight serwihich allows consumers to remotely
access and control their home control system, dsaweeceive alerts regarding activities in tHeme. 4Sight also allows dealers to perform
remote diagnostic services. Although our subsaipbased revenue is currently insignificant, werat over time to develop additional
subscription-based services and increase our sptisnrbased revenue.

Consumers purchase our products from ouldwide network of certified independent dealeegjional and national retailers and
distributors. These dealers design and install@isa to fit the specific needs of each consumérether it is a oneeom home theatre solutic
or a whole-home automation solution that includesihtegration of music, video, lighting, temperafisecurity and communications devices.
Our products are installed in both new and existésidences. In addition, a portion of our reveisustributable to small commercial
installations and multi-dwelling units, includingtels. During the year ended December 31, 2013aMkour products directly to over 3,000
active direct dealers in the United States, CanthaalJnited Kingdom and 43 other countries, andneaed with 29 distributors to cover an
additional 41 countries where we do not have dideetler relationships. These distributors sellsmiutions through dealers and provide
warehousing, training, technical support, billimglaservice for dealers in each of those countries.

We were founded in 2003 and began shippirgoroducts and generating revenue in 2005. Ompooinded annual growth rate for
revenue between 2006 and 2013 was 28%, as shatlva following table (dollars in millions):

For the Year Ended December 31
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Revenue $ 23.C $ 401 $ 571 $ 67.7 $ 74¢ $ 934 $ 109t $ 128t
Growth over prior yea 215% 75% 42% 19% 11% 25% 17% 17%

Our revenue growth has resulted primarityrf a combination of adding new dealers and distoits to our sales channels, as well as
increasing revenue from existing dealers and bistors by enhancing and expanding our productioffjerand solutions.

To date, nearly all of our revenue growdis been organic. We have completed small acquisitiout those acquisitions have been
technology and distribution-related and have naotrilouted materially to our revenue. We plan tanitifg, acquire and integrate strategic
technologies, assets and businesses that we bealikwmhance the overall strength of our business.
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We have historically experienced seasoaaghtions in our revenue as a result of holidagtesl factors that are common in our industry.
Our revenue is generally highest in the fourth tpradue to consumers' desires to complete theirehaostallations prior to the Thanksgiving
and Christmas holidays. We generally see decreseded in the first quarter due to the number dhifegions that were completed in the fourth
quarter and the resulting decline in dealer agftiwitthe first quarter. We generally expect thes@ssnal trends to continue in the future, which
may cause quarterly fluctuations in our resulteférations and certain financial metrics.

On August 7, 2013, we completed our inpiablic offering ("IPO") of common stock in whichevsold and issued 4,600,000 shares of
common stock and received net proceeds of appraeiyn$65.6 million after deducting underwriting digints and commissions and offering
expenses.

Factors and Trends Affecting Our Performance

A number of industry trends have facilithtaur growth over the past several years, incluttegproliferation of connected devices and
ubiquity and growth of network-enabled homes. F&fi6 through 2008, the majority of our sales weraike in new, single-family homes.
During the slowdown in the new housing market beigig in 2008, our dealers redirected their focuexisting homes, and today, we estimate
that the majority of our installations are in eixigthomes. We expect that future increases in leitee home construction or existing home
renovations will have a positive impact on our rawe We recently announced an initiative with Bibthers, Inc., a leading home builder in
the United States, for Toll Brothers to offer segre-configured Control4 automation packagestsective home buyers through on-site
product demonstrations, videos, marketing colld&nd other materials. We plan to offer similargnams to other national and regional home
builders in the United States.

We believe that the growth of our busiresg our future success are dependent upon mamygauicluding the rates at which consumer
adopt our products and services, our ability tergjthen and expand our dealer and distributor n&tvear ability to expand internationally a
our ability to meet competitive challenges. Whikele of these areas presents significant opporésritir us, they also pose important
challenges that we must successfully address ier dodsustain or expand the growth of our busia@ssimprove our results of operations.
These challenges include:

. Increasing Adoption Rates of Our Products and Sees. We are focused on increasing adoption rates opmducts and
services through enhancements to our softwareophathnd product offerings. We intend to accomplisse enhancements
through both continued investment in research awvetldpment activities and acquisitions of completagnbusinesses and
technologies;

. Optimizing Our North America Dealer Networl We intend to continue to optimize the performaofand expand our netwc
of dealers in North America to ensure that we hga@graphic coverage and technical expertise toeaddyur existing markets
and new markets into which we plan to expand;

. Expanding our International Dealer and DistributoNetwork. We believe that our future growth will be sigoéntly impacte
by our ability to expand our dealer and distributetwork outside of North America, adapt our pradwmnd services to foreign
markets and increase our brand awareness intema#lyioln particular, we believe that we will hasignificant opportunities to
expand our business in emerging markets such asm@hid India; and

. Managing Competition. The market for home automation is fragmentedhlizigompetitive and continually evolving. A
number of large technology companies such as Agegle, Microsoft and Samsung offer home contaplabilities among
some of their own products, applications and ses/end are engaged in ongoing development effoaddress the broader
home
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automation market. For example, Google recentlyimed Nest Labs, Inc. which manufactures thermestiatl smoke detectors.
Our ability to gain significant market share in thmme automation market and interoperate with #ve technologies developed
by other large technology companies over the nexeml years will be key factors in our abilitydontinue to grow our busine
and meet or exceed our future expectations.

Key Operating and Financial Metrics

We use the following key operating and ficial metrics to evaluate and manage our business.

North America Direct Dealers

December 31

2011 2012 2013
Authorized dealers at the beginning of the y 2,008 2,30¢ 2,38¢
Additions 402 32z 28¢
Terminations (109 (239 (133
Authorized dealers at the end of the y 2,30¢ 2,38t 2,54«
Number of active deale 2,21t 2,35C 2,46t
% of active dealer 96% 98% 97%

International Direct Dealers

December 31
2011 2012 2013

Authorized dealers at the beginning of the y 327 474 62¢
Additions 156  19¢ 157
Terminations (99 @43 (15)
Authorized dealers at the end of the y 474  62¢ 63E
Number of active deale 37t 501 57¢
% of active dealer 7% 8% 91%

For the Years Ended
December 31,

2011 2012 2013
Number of controller appliances st 62,76( 69,20¢ 66,67«
Core revenue growl 24% 20% 20%
International core revenue as a percentage of t
revenue 18% 22% 22%
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Number of North America and International Directdlers

Because our dealers promote, sell, inatadl support our products, a broader dealer netaltos us to reach more potential consumers
across more geographic regions. We expect our mieefeork to continue to grow, both in North Ameriand internationally. While we have
historically focused on dealers affiliated with Bastom Electronics Design and Installation Asstimia("CEDIA"), we believe there is an
opportunity to establish relationships with deatautside of CEDIA, including electrical contractongating and cooling specialists, and
security system installers. We define an activdedess one that has placed an order with us itrétikng 12-month period.

Our active international dealer networigémerally growing at a faster rate than our adileeth America dealer network, and we expect
this trend to continue as we increase our presencew and existing international markets. In additin some international markets, we plan
to establish direct relationships with selectedetsahat we previously served through distributarsich we expect will further increase our
number of direct international dealers. In 2013,mazle a concerted effort to evaluate our internatidealers and terminated 151 dealers wh
failed to meet training and sales volume minimums.

While we believe we continue to have sigaifit international opportunities, we face challefh@ international expansion. Such
challenges may cause our growth rate to be sldveer anticipated. During the third quarter of 204:8,0pened our technical support and
training center in China which we believe will help expand our presence in China and accelerateamsition from a distributor to direct-to-
dealer channel model. A similar facility was opeirethdia during the fourth quarter of 2013. In diteh, our efforts are focused on addressing
other impediments to growth through new produabitidiction as well as promotion and pricing programsertain markets.

Number of Controller Appliances Sc

Our controller appliances contain our pietary software and provide consumers with therg&sesoftware technology to enable home
control, automation and personalization. The nunatbeontroller appliances we sell in a given penmwdvides us with an indication of
consumer adoption of our technology. Our salesafroller appliances also create significant opyoaty to sell our other products and
services. Once a consumer has deployed our cartagpliances, we believe that the consumer is tilaly to remain committed to our
technology platform and purchase more of our prtgdwapplications and services in the future.

In the first quarter of 2012, we introduaad HC-800 controllers and in the second quat@042, we introduced our HZ50 controllers
These controllers offer increased capability andgpmance compared to the controllers that theyau (i.e. the HC-1000, the HC-300, and
the HC-200). As a result of the increased capahilitd higher performance of these controllers, mastallations now require fewer
controllers per system and we have therefore seet@ase in the average number of controllersystem in 2013 compared to 2012. In
addition, in 2013, we began bundling the MyHomehgafe licenses with our controller appliances. Ttmduction of new controllers and the
bundling of MyHome software with our controllersuéted in an increase in the average selling pricaur controllers by 29% in 2013
compared to 2012. The net result is an increasevienue and a decrease in the number of contraitgdsfor the year ended December 31,
2013 compared to the same period of 2012.

Core Revenue Growth

The majority of our revenue comes from sateour products through our distribution chanmeisiprised of dealers in the United States
and Canada and dealers and distributors locateddhout the rest of the world. We refer to reveattigbutable to sales through dealers loc
in the United States and Canada as North America @venue, and revenue attributable to sales ghrdealers
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and distributors located throughout the rest ofviibeld as International Core revenue. Core reveatags not include revenue from sales to
hotels or multi-dwelling units or certification fe@aid to us. Our revenue from sales to hotelstitdwielling units and other sources is
generally project-based and has been significasbine periods and insignificant in other periodghk future, we expect revenue from these
sources to continue to be attributable to largéepte and will continue to be significant in sonegipds and insignificant in other periods. We,
therefore, believe that our core revenue growthd®od measure of our market penetration and thetgrof our business.

International Core Revenue as a Percentage of TRéalenut

We believe that the international markeresents a large and underpenetrated opportumitystdn recent years, we have established
offices in the UK, China, and India, we have formel&tionships with international dealers and distiors and we have expanded foreign
language support for our solutions. We track Iraéomal revenue as a percentage of total revenaekag measure of our success in expandin
our business internationally.

Results of Operations
Revenut

The following is a breakdown of our revergtween North America and International and ahirbreakdown between our Core revenut
and other revenue:

Years Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013
(in thousands)
North America Core Revent $ 71,47 $ 81,13( $ 98,07(
Other North America Revent 2,63¢ 1,28( 1,53¢
Total North America Revent 74,10¢ 82,41( 99,60¢
International Core Reveni 16,797 24,47 28,32
Other International Revent 2,47¢ 2,631 584
Total International Revent 19,27: 27,10: 28,90°
Total Revenut $ 93,37¢ $ 109,51 $ 128,51:
North America Core Revenue as a % of T
Revenue 77% 74% 76%
International Core Revenue as a % of Tot
Revenue 18% 22% 22%

2012 Compared to 2011. North America core revenue increased $9.7 amlor 14%, from 2011 to 2012 primarily as a resfia net
increase in the number of active direct dealelghgebur products.

International core revenue increased $illfom or 46%, from 2011 to 2012 primarily dueda increase in the number of active dealers
and distributors selling our products as we growxisting markets and expand into new ones.

Other revenue decreased by $1.2 milliontdieedecrease in sales to hotels and other mukilithg units. Revenue from sales to hotels
and multi-dwelling units is difficult for us to pdéect and we are uncertain as to how much revenueileeceive from these projects in the
future.

2013 Compared to 2012. North America core revenue increased $16.9anillor 21%, from 2012 to 2013 primarily as a restila net
increase in the number of active direct dealelggebur
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products and services and an increase in salesdristing direct dealers. In addition, while thewher of controllers sold in 2013 decreased
4% from 2012, the average selling price per colgrelas up 29% during that same period.

International core revenue increased $3léom or 16%, from 2012 to 2013 primarily dueda increase in the number of dealers and
distributors selling our products and services thedresulting increase in the number of systenssale

Our International core revenue growth dedi from 46% in 2012 to 16% in 2013. The numbent&rnational dealers was relatively fla
the end of 2013 compared to 2012, but the percergbthose dealers who are active increased fra¥h iBR012 to 91% in 2013 as a result of
our efforts to terminate non-performing dealers. Maae investments internationally to improve ouwlées’ abilities to sell and install our
products, particularly in India and China whereapened technical support and training centers gu201.3. We believe this will help us
expand our presence in China and accelerate mgiticn from a distributor to direct-to-dealer chahmodel. We are also investing in new
products and pricing programs to meet certain im@gonal market requirements.

Gross Margin

As a percentage of revenue, our gross mauy@s been and will continue to be affected byraewaof factors. Our gross margin is
relatively consistent across our products. Ourgrargin on thirgsarty products we sell through our online distribatplatform is higher tha
our gross margin on our other product sales beosasmly recognize our net profit on these sale®asnue. Our gross margin is higher on
software licensing and subscription revenue th&@an product sales. Our gross margin is alsoérigh our sales made directly through
dealers than it is on our sales made through bligtsis. Gross margin may be negatively affectedrime competition in our target markets anc
associated promotional or volume incentive rebaffesed to our dealers and distributors.

Gross margin for the years ended Decembge2@®11, 2012, and 2013 was as follows (in thousaextept percentages):

Years Ended December 31
2011 2012 2013

Gross margit $ 42,84: $ 50,44 $ 64,65’
Percentage of reveni 46% 46% 50%

2012 Compared to 2011. Our total cost of revenue for the year endeddbwer 31, 2012 included a $1.8 million loss oremrtery
purchase commitments resulting from our decisiodisoontinue our energy product line. We generldssi than 1% of our total revenue from
our energy product line in each year. Excludingltss on inventory purchase commitments, gross imagja percentage of revenue would
have increased from 45.9% in 2011 to 47.7% in 2Th2t increase was due primarily to a decreasixéd fmanufacturing overhead as a
percentage of revenue and component cost reductions

2013 Compared to 2012. As a percentage of revenue, our gross margheased from 46% in 2012 to 50% in 2013. In 2018, w
recorded a gain related to inventory purchase comenits of approximately $0.4 million, as our prate&om liquidating the underlying
inventory and our ability to consume common compisiexceeded our original estimates. Adjustinglierimpact in 2012 and 2013 on
inventory purchase commitment reserves, our gr@sgimas a percent of revenue would have increfiead47.7% in 2012 to 50.0% in 2013.
That increase was due to a variety of factorspigiolg higher prices charged for our controller pretd and associated software, higher sales
third party products sold through our online disttion platform and lower component costs as agueraf revenue.
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We expect the favorable impact on our groasgin percentage related to higher prices forcoutroller products and associated software
to continue in future periods; however, the impaittdecline as software sold separately for usthwegacy systems will diminish over time.

We expect the positive impact on our gragsgin percentage resulting from increased salésimfparty products sold through our onl
distribution platform to continue in future perigd®wever, the impact will be less significant las growth rate of that revenue slows in future
periods.

We expect product component cost reductiom®ntinue to have a positive impact on our groasgin as a percentage of revenue as
reductions are the result of negotiated price des&e with our contract manufacturers that are teng-in nature.

The impact of lower manufacturing overhaadh percentage of revenue on our gross margiemege will vary depending on overhead
spending in a given period. For the year ended Dbee 31, 2013, we received credits for duties pajatevious periods. We expect to receive
duty draw-back credits in future periods, whichl\wdve a favorable impact on our gross margin peecges; however, we anticipate that the
favorable impact will be less significant in futyveriods.

Research and Development Exper

Research and development expenses conisigtrjy of compensation for our engineers and picidnanagers. Research and developi
expenses also include prototyping and field-testixijgenses incurred in the development of our prisdirecluding products used for testing.
We also include fees paid to agencies to obtainla¢gry certifications.

Research and development expenses foretns ynded December 31, 2011, 2012, and 2013 wéodiaws (in thousands, except
percentages):

Years Ended December 31
2011 2012 2013

Research and developme $ 19,21 $ 20,31( $ 24,97¢
Percentage of reveni 21% 19% 19%

2012 Compared to 2011. Research and development expenses increasgt bynillion, or 6%, in 2012 compared to 2011. The
increase in research and development expense waarily due to increased compensation, including-nash stock-based compensation, as
result of increased research and development peesas well as due to prototyping and complianenay fees for new product introductions
in 2012.

2013 Compared to 2012. Research and development expenses increaskgt bynillion, or 23%, in 2013 compared to 2012. Sehe
increases were primarily due to an increase indwmat and related expenses, including non-castk$tased compensation expense, to su|
on-going and expanded product development activitie

We expect our research and developmentsgsao increase in absolute dollars for the fesie future as we continue to invest in the
development of new solutions; however, we expeatahexpenses to fluctuate as a percentage ofwemue in future periods based on
fluctuations in our revenue and the timing of thespenses.

Sales and Marketing Expenses

Sales and marketing expenses consist ghinedrcompensation and related travel expensestiorsales and marketing personnel. Sales
and marketing expenses also include expenses assbuiith trade shows, marketing events, advegiaimd other marketing-related programs
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Sales and marketing expenses for the yated December 31, 2011, 2012, and 2013 werelas/$ofin thousands, except percentages):

Years Ended December 31
2011 2012 2013

Sales and marketir $ 17,54¢ $ 20,18: $ 21,97*
Percentage of reveni 19% 18% 17%

2012 Compared to 2011. Sales and marketing expenses increased byn$llién, or 15%, in 2012 compared to 2011. The @age in
sales and marketing expense was due primarilycre@sed payroll related expenses from hiring amfthfi sales and marketing personnel. In
addition, we increased spending on advertisinglipuélations and general marketing expenses ir22@mpared to 2011. These increases
were partially offset by a reduction in our domestadeshow expenses.

2013 Compared to 2012. Sales and marketing expenses increased byndllién, or 9%, in 2013 compared to 2012. The permwer
period increases in absolute dollars for salesmaadketing expenses was primarily due to headcauméases and the related expenses as we
as increased credit card merchant fees, which greportionate to our growth in revenue. In additise increased our spending for tradeshoy
and other marketing related expenses to supporipneduct releases and grow our dealer and distiilmetworks throughout the world.

We expect our sales and marketing expetosesrease in absolute dollars for the foreseehltlee as we add sales personnel, particu
in our international channel, and continue to inwesdvertising and promotions to increase awagié our products.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses copsistarily of compensation for our employees in executive administration, finance,
information systems, human resource and legal tleeats. Also included in general and administratixpenses are outside legal fees, audit
fees, facilities expenses and insurance costs.

General and administrative expenses foy#aes ended December 31, 2011, 2012, and 2013asdatlows (in thousands, except
percentages):

Years Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013
General and administratiy $ 9,80t $ 10,15( $ 12,32¢
Percentage of reveni 11% 9% 10%

2012 Compared to 2011. General and administrative expenses increap&d 3 million, or 4%, in 2012 compared to 2011eTh
increase in general and administrative expenseslu@aso increased compensation expense, includingcash stock-based compensation
expense, resulting from increased administrativeqrenel. In addition, legal fees were higher in28&mpared to 2011, offset in part by lower
rent expense resulting from the renegotiation efaauporate office lease.

2013 Compared to 2012. General and administrative expenses increag&2 2 million, or 21%, in 2013 compared to 201BeT
increase in absolute dollars in general and adtnatige expenses was due primarily to increaseddmat and related expenses, professiona
fees and facilities related costs as we preparée @ public reporting company. In addition, weuimed $0.3 million in expenses resulting fr
an executive severance agreement.

We expect our general and administratiygeases to increase in absolute dollars primarily sesult of the increased cost associated wit
being a public company. However, we also expect our
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general and administrative expenses to fluctuatef@scentage of our revenue in future periodsardluctuations in our revenue and the
timing of those expenses.

Litigation Settlement Expens
Litigation settlement expenses for the gearded December 31, 2011, 2012, and 2013 werdl@ass (in thousands, except percentages)

Years Ended December 31
2011 2012 2013

Litigation settlemen $ — $ 2,86¢ $ 44C
Percentage of reveni — 3% 0%

2012 Compared to 2011. During 2012, we expensed $2.9 million in coriimecwith two separate legal settlements. Thereswner
similar expenses in 2011.

2013 Compared to 2012. During 2013, we expensed $440,000 in connegetitimtwo separate legal matters.
Other Income (Expense)
Other income (expense) for the years efmbmber 31, 2011, 2012, and 2013 were as followth@usands, except percentages):

Years Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013
Other income (expens $ 227 $ (254 $ (729
Percentage of reveni 0% 0% (D%

Other income (expense) increased by $0llimin 2012 compared to 2011 and increased b$ #tillion in 2013 compared to 2012. The
increases were due to change in the fair valubeofvarrant liability. Upon the effective date ofr anitial public offering, we adjusted the
liability to fair value based upon the offeringqeiof $16.00 per share. As a result, we recogriiged million of other expense in 2013. Upon
the closing of our initial public offering, the ligrs of the Series G-1 warrants net-exercised tegirants in exchange for 76,964 shares of ou
common stock. The warrant liability of $1.3 millievas reclassified from long-term liabilities to #tzhal paid-in capital, a component of
stockholders' equity, and we ceased to record amlydr periodic fair value adjustments relatingtie warrant liability.

Quarterly Results of Operations and Other Data

The following table presents our quartedysolidated results of operations and other datadch of the quarters presented, both in
absolute dollars and as a percentage of revenu quiarterly consolidated information has been greg on the same basis as our audited
consolidated financial statements and, in the opimf management, the statement of operationsiniatades all adjustments, consisting of
normal recurring adjustments, necessary for threpfaisentation of the results of operations fos¢hgeriods. You should read this table in
conjunction with our audited consolidated finansi@tements and related notes located elsewhénesifRorm 10-K. The results of
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operations for any quarter are not necessarilycattlie of the results of operations for a full yeaany future periods.

Three Months Ended
March 31, June 30, Sept 30, Dec 31, March 31, June 30, Sept 30, Dec 31,
2012 2012 2012 2012 2013 2013 2013 2013
(In thousands)

Revenue $ 22,62¢ $ 27,61 $28,60F $ 30,66 $ 26,57. $32,54: $ 33,64. $ 35,75¢
Gross

margin 10,16: 13,28¢ 11,847 15,15( 13,02 16,73¢ 17,04¢ 17,85:
Gross

margin

percent 44 % 48.1% 41.4% 49.4% 49.(% 51.4% 50.7% 49.%%
Total

operatir

expens: 12,38: 12,91¢ 15,83: 12,37¢ 14,49¢ 14,77¢ 15,05: 15,39:
Income

(loss)

from

operatic (2,227 36¢ (3,989 2,772 (1,479 1,957 1,997 2,45¢
Net

income

(loss) $ 2,689 $ 51¢ $(4,09) $ 253: $ (147H) $ 97 $ 1,731 $ 2,27(
Net

income

(loss)

per

commo

share:

Basic $ 119 $ 022 $ (179 $ 102 $ (059 $ 03¢ $ 01z $ o0.1c
Diluted $ (1.19 $ 00 $ (179 $ 0.1z $ (059 $ 00t $ 007 $ o0.0¢

We have historically experienced seasoaghtions in our revenue as a result of holidagtesl factors that are common in our industry.
Our revenue is generally highest in the fourth tpradue to consumers' desire to complete their hastellations prior to the Thanksgiving ¢
Christmas holidays. We generally see decreased isatbe first quarter due to the number of inatahs that were completed in the fourth
guarter and the resulting decline in dealer agtivitthe first quarter.

Our gross margin percentage has improvad #4.9% in the first quarter of 2012 to 49.9%ha fourth quarter of 2013, but has been an
will continue to be impacted by a variety of getharad in some cases specific factors includingioflewing:

. Negotiated decreases in the price of componenthpaed from our contract manufacturers resultirigvrer product costs.

. The mix of customer type and products sold, inglgdncreased sales of third-party products soldubh our online distribution
platform where revenue is recognized on a net basis

. Price competition resulting in promotional digots or volume-incentive rebates.

. Achieving leverage in our fixed manufacturingedvead expense as a percent of revenue. The desiaaggoss margin
percentage in the first quarter of 2012 and thetfoguarter of 2013 were primarily due to higheefi overhead expense as a
percent of revenue.

. Our gross margin percentage in the third quart@0dP was negatively impacted by the loss on irmgmpurchase commitmer
resulting from our commitment to purchase enerdstee products from one of our contract manufactutieat we will not use
due to our decision to discontinue our energy pcotoe for utility customers.

. Our gross margin in the fourth quarter of 20&Rdfited from higher prices on certain productséde large international multi-
dwelling unit projects.
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. During the first and second quarters of 2013, weiked credits for duties paid in previous peripdsitively impacting our
gross margin percentages during those periods.

. In the second and fourth quarters of 2013, we dmmba gain related to inventory purchase commitenasiour ability to
consume common components exceeded our originalaes.

In the near term, we generally expect susg margin to increase modestly as a result otontinued efforts to work with our contract
manufacturers and component vendors to reduceoteof components we purchase, engineer produigrdasd cost improvements, manage
our supply chain and realize economies of scaleeagrow our business. We also expect increasedHfiairty product sales through our online
distribution platform to have a positive impactaur gross margin going forward. From time to titnewever, we may experience fluctuations
in our gross margin as a result of the factorsudised in the preceding paragraph.

Our operating expenses fluctuate from quaa quarter based on changes in the number afraptoyees and associated expenses, the
timing and magnitude of product development, thertg of marketing and sales expenditures and largefrequent transactions such as
litigation settlement expenses. Our quarterly ofiegeexpenses have generally increased in 2013 amdpo 2012 to support the growth in
business, including the transition to being a pubtimpany.

Sales and marketing expenses are typibalyer in the first and third quarters of each yaae to the timing of our primary trade shows.

We recorded litigation settlement experfs®2d9 million in the third quarter of 2012 and $@nillion in both the second and third quarter
of 2013.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Primary Sources of Liquidit

Historically, we have experienced negatiash flows from operating activities primarily dweour continued investment in research and
development and sales and marketing resources chéedesign, develop, market and sell our soluti@nhs future capital requirements will
depend on many factors, including our rate of reeegrowth, potential acquisitions of businessedrielogies or other assets, the expansic
our sales and marketing activities, continued itmesit in research and development, expansion enotarritories, the timing of new product
introductions and the continued market acceptahoeioproducts.

Through 2011, we funded our operations arily through private sales of equity securitied,a@o a lesser extent, from borrowings under
secured credit facilities. We raised $118.2 millibrough the sale of preferred stock to financral atrategic investors. Our last private
financing round was completed in February 2011héi financing round, we generated net procee@d8f8 million from the sale of Series H
Preferred Stock.

As of December 31, 2013, we had $84.5 amilin cash and cash equivalents, an increase 09 $68lion from December 31, 2012. The
increase in cash is primarily the result of thepreceeds received from our initial public offeriobcommon stock of approximately
$65.6 million offset by settlement obligation payrteof $3.0 million.
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The following table shows selected finahziformation and statistics as of December 31,12@D12 and 2013 (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013
Cash and cash equivalel $ 18,46¢ $ 18,69 $ 84,54¢
Accounts receivable, n 10,66: 13,07¢ 15,06¢
Inventories 9,497 12,51¢ 15,31:
Working capital 24,35t 23,29( 94,77¢

We closely monitor our inventory, our da&gdes outstanding and our payment terms with ojomrandors to maximize our cash flows
from operating activities. We turn our inventorypagximately 5 times per year. Our days sales outitg has averaged 39 over the past
12 months. We have 45- and 60-day payment terntsawit two major contract manufacturers.

We maintain a revolving credit facility $13.0 million. Borrowing under the revolving creiitility is subject to certain collateral
restrictions relating primarily to our accountsei®@ble and inventory levels. As of December 31,2®ur total borrowing capacity under the
revolving credit facility was approximately $13.0llion, and no borrowings were outstanding. Theofging credit facility has a maturity date
of May 29, 2015.

In June 2013, we were provided with an @aoleil $2.75 million in capacity with our term bowings to fund purchases of property and
equipment through May 2014, of which $2.0 millioasavailable at December 31, 2013. We have hisltyigsed the term borrowing facility
to fund capital purchases on a quarterly basisinguhe third and fourth quarters of 2013, we did Imorrow against the term facility as our
capital requirements were addressed from the recéfroceeds from our initial public offering. Wall continue to evaluate on a quarterly
basis whether to borrow additional amounts baseguoriuture cash needs.

Our credit facility and term loan agreensectintain various restrictive and financial coveaaamd we were in compliance with each of
these covenants as of December 31, 2013.

We believe that our existing cash and eaglivalents will be sufficient to fund our operatsofor at least the next 12 months. From tirr
time, we may explore additional financing sour@edévelop or enhance our product solutions, to fxmhnsion of our business, to respond tc
competitive pressures, or to acquire or invesbimglementary products, businesses or technoldgliescannot assure you that any additional
financing will be available to us on acceptablenterif at all. If we raise additional funds throutie issuance of equity or convertible debt or
other equity-linked securities, our existing stoaklers could suffer significant dilution, and arginequity securities we issue could have
rights, preferences and privileges senior to tlofselders of our common stock.

Cash Flow Analysis
A summary of our cash flows for the yeardedd December 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013 is setliettw (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013
Net cash (used in) provided by operat

activities (58¢€) 991 3,66¢
Net cash used in investing activiti (1,989 (2,360 (3,61%)
Net cash provided by financing activiti 14,99¢ 1,62¢ 65,80¢
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash an

cash equivalent (10) (28) (9
Net increase in cash for the per $ 12,41: $ 227 $ 65,85!
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Operating Activities
Cash provided by operating activities isineome adjusted for certain non-cash items amghgés in certain assets and liabilities.

The $1.6 million increase in cash flow froperating activities in 2012 compared to 2011 dizes to primarily from an increase in non-
cash adjustments associated with an increase tasimstock-based compensation expense and a #lod hoss on inventory purchase
commitments.

The increase in cash flows from operatictivdies of $2.7 million in 2013 compared to 20i$2ue primarily to the increase in net
income. The adjustments for non-cash items wereddw2013 due primarily to the loss on inventogyghase commitments recognized in
2012, partially offset by higher non-cash stockdahsompensation expense and warrant liability es@ém 2013. Cash used to fund working
capital and other operating accounts increaseditly fillion in 2013 compared to 2012 due primatdyincreases in our accounts receivable
and inventory balances associated with the groftiubbusiness. In addition, other liabilities degrsed as a result of payments totaling
$3.0 million related to litigation settlement oldigons.

Investing Activitie:

Investing cash flows consist primarily afpital expenditures and cash used for acquisitiOns.capital expenditures are primarily for
computer equipment and software used internallyyufacturing tooling and test equipment that we pase and own, but is located with at
partners' contract manufacturing locations, fumeitand fixtures for our facilities and lab and varese equipment for our engineering and
supply chain organizations.

Our capital expenditures during 2013 anti22@ere $3.5 million and $2.4 million, respectivélfe increase in capital expenditures du
2013 compared to 2012 was due primarily to thescassociated with expanding our facilities to acomdate our business growth including
our international expansion.

Financing Activities

Financing cash flows consist primarily odpeeds from the sale of common and preferred stssltance and repayment of loiegm deb
and proceeds from the sale of shares through em@leguity incentive programs.

In 2011, we received net proceeds of $i@lBon from the issuance of preferred stock. Appnoately $6.3 million of these proceeds w
used for repayment of our revolving line of credit.

As a result of our initial public offering August 2013, we raised a total of $73.6 milliorgross proceeds, or approximately $65.6 mi
in net proceeds after deducting underwriting dists@nd commissions of $5.2 million and offeringenses of approximately $2.8 million.

Net borrowings (repayments) on our terrmlagreements were $0.3 million, $0.8 million an@d.$) million in 2011, 2012 and 2013,
respectively. The decrease in cash flow from teramlborrowings during 2013 was a result of ourslenito fund capital purchases using
available cash instead of incremental borrowing.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

During the periods presented, we did ngage in any off-balance sheet activities. We dchaee any off-balance interest in variable
interest entities, which include special purposities and other structured finance entities.
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Contractual Obligations

We enter into long-term contractual obligas in the normal course of business, primarilgtasligations and non-cancellable operating
leases. In addition, in 2008 and 2012, we enteredsettlement agreements with two different pantedating to alleged patent infringements,
which included future payment obligations.

Our contractual cash obligations at Decamie 2013 are as follows:

Less than More than
Total 1 year 1-3years 3-5years 5 years
(in thousands)

Long-term debt obligations, includir

interest(3) $ 3,71 $ 1501 $ 1,98¢ $ 22C $ —
Operating lease obligatiol 6,711 1,61: 3,12¢ 1,98( —
Settlement agreements(1) 98( 94C 4C — —
Purchase commitmen 22,63¢ 22,63¢ — — —
Total contractual obligatior $ 34040 $ 2669C $ 515: § 2,200 $ =

(1)  The counterparty in one of the settlement agreesrtead the contractual right to accelerate $0.9onilbf the future
obligation due in 2014 to a $0.7 million paymengime 2013. That right was not exercised.

(2) Upon closing of our initial public offeringhé balance due on one of the settlement obligati@ssaccelerated and
became immediately due and payable. As a resulinade a final payment on this obligation of $2.1liom on
August 12, 2013. The difference between the cagryadue of the note and the payment was recordedb@s? million
charge to interest expense.

3) Interest was calculated on outstanding bomgwiat the date indicated in the table above asuhass the rate remains
constant during the following years. The crediilfachas a variable rate of interest of prime dBDR plus 2.50%, as
selected by us. The variable rate was 3.25% atibleee31, 2013. Term borrowings are payable in emaadthly
payments of principal plus interest and bear irsteat prime plus 0.50%, which was 3.75% at Decer8theP013

Critical Accounting Estimates and Policies

Our consolidated financial statements aepgred in accordance with GAAP. The preparatiothe$e consolidated financial statements
requires us to make estimates and assumptionaftieat the reported amounts of assets, liabilitiegenue, expenses and related disclosures.
We evaluate our estimates and assumptions on aingnasis. Our estimates are based on historqedreence and various other assumption:
that we believe to be reasonable under the ciramss. Our actual results could differ from thetermtes.

We believe that the assumptions and estisnadésociated with our revenue recognition, invgntaluation reserves, product warranty
liability, income taxes and stock-based compensdtave the greatest potential impact on our codatd financial statements. Therefore, we
consider these to be our critical accounting pesi@nd estimates. For further information on abwf significant accounting policies, please
Note 1 of the accompanying notes to our consoldifitancial statement

We are choosing to "opt out" of the extehttansition period provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B}he Securities Act for complying with new
or revised accounting standards and, as a reseilyilvcomply with new or revised accounting stare$aon the relevant dates on which
adoption of such standards is required for non-gingrgrowth companies. Section 107 of the JOBSpiatides that

58




Table of Contents
our decision to opt out of the extended transipieriod for complying with new or revised accountgstgndards is irrevocable.
Revenue Recognitio

We sell our products through a networknofeipendent dealers and distributors and not direxitonsumers. These dealers and
distributors generally sell our products to thestomer as part of a bundled sale, which typicalbtjudes other third-party products and related
services, project design and installation servarebsongoing support.

Our controllers include embedded softwhee is essential to the functionality of the coliéno Accordingly, the hardware and embedded
software components are sold together as one prddu2013, we began bundling MyHome software le@nwith our new controllers. These
software licenses do not include acceptance prnssirights to updates (e.g., when-and-if-avail@pleancements or upgrades to the
functionality of the software) or post-contract wmser support such as technical support. Whentaadd license and controller are sold
together, a multiple element arrangement existsranehue is allocated to each deliverable baseaélative selling prices. Typically, delivery
of both the product and the software license ocatitke same time. We recognize revenue when pgveuavidence of an arrangement exists,
delivery has occurred, the sales price is fixedaierminable, and collection is probable. Produdicensed software is considered delivered
once it has been shipped and title and risk of h@s® been transferred. For most of our produess#hese criteria are met at the time the
product is shipped.

We record estimated reductions to reveouééaler, retailer and distributor incentivespmaiily comprised of volume rebates, at the time
of the initial sale. The estimated reductions terie for rebates are based on the sales ternmuarmistorical experience and trend analysis.
The most common incentive relates to amounts paddenited to dealers and distributors for achigudefined volume levels or growth
objectives.

Software license revenue represents faeg@drom activating applications that allow consusto manage and control their automation
systems using tablets, smartphones and other phirty-devices. Software products such as Composare-and Media Editions are sold on a
limited basis and do not constitute a significamtiion of our revenue. Our perpetual software Iggndo not include acceptance provisions,
rights to updates or upgrades or post-contracboust support such as technical support. We gegerdbgnize revenue at the time the
software license is provided.

We offer a subscription service that all@messumers to control and monitor their homes retp@nd allows our dealers to perform
remote diagnostic services. Subscription revendefsrred at the time of payment and recognized stmaight-line basis over the period the
service is provided.

We recognize revenue net of cost of revdauhird-party products sold through our onlirrél@ring system. While we assume credit risk
on sales to our dealers and distributors, we daletrmine the product selling price, do not retegsociated inventory risks and are not the
primary obligor to the dealer or distributor.

Our agreements with dealers and distrilsug@nerally do not include rights of return or gtaace provisions. Even though contractual
agreements do not provide return privileges, tlaeeecircumstances in which we will accept retumsddition, agreements with certain retail
distributors contain price protection and limitéghts of return. We maintain a reserve for suchrret based on our historical return experie

Shipping charges billed to dealers andiBistors are included in product revenue and rdlatépping costs are included in cost of
revenue.
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Inventory Valuation

Inventories consist of hardware and rela@dponent parts and are stated at the lower ofocanarket using the first-in, firgtut method
We periodically assess the recoverability of oweimory and reduce the carrying value of the inegntvhen items are determined to be
obsolete, defective or in excess of forecastedsalguirements. Carrying value adjustments arecbasexpected demand and market
conditions. For example, we may incur inventoryte#offs during the introduction of new productsttieplace existing ones. We make
estimates regarding transition inventory and if estimates of demand for the "end-of—life" produwats wrong, we may be required to record
additional inventory carrying value adjustments.

Inventory write-downs for excess, defectwel obsolete inventory are recorded as cost efmey and totaled $1.3 million, $1.5 million
and $2.3 million in 2011, 2012 and 2013, respebtive

Product Warranty

We provide our customers a limited produatranty of two years, which requires us to repaireplace (at our option) defective products
during the warranty period at no cost to the custoe estimate the costs that may be incurredplace or repair defective products and
record a reserve at the time revenue is recognizaetors that affect our warranty liability incluthee number of installed systems, our
historical experience and management's judgmeatdeyy anticipated rates of product warranty retunet of refurbished products. We asses
the adequacy of our recorded warranty liabilityteperiod and make adjustments to the liability esassary. Our warranty liability was
$1.2 million at both December 31, 2012 and 2013.

Income Taxes

We recognize deferred tax assets and ili@siffor the future tax consequences attributédbbbe differences between the financial
statement carrying value of existing assets aruiliies and their respective tax bases. Deferagdassets and liabilities are measured using
enacted tax rates in effect for the fiscal yeawlnch those temporary differences are expectee teebovered or settled. Valuation allowances
are established when necessary to reduce defexessets to the amount expected to be realizedialnating our ability to recover our
deferred tax assets, in full or in part, we consalkavailable positive and negative evidenceluding our past operating results, our foreca
future market growth, forecasted earnings, futaxable income, and prudent and feasible tax plansiirategies. The assumptions utilized in
determining future taxable income require signific@dgment and are consistent with the plans atichates we are using to manage the
underlying businesses. Due to the net losses iedw@nd the uncertainty of realizing the deferredatssets, for all the periods presented, we
have a full valuation allowance against the defbteex assets of our domestic operations.

We operate in various tax jurisdictions anel subject to audit by various tax authoritieg p¥ovide for tax contingencies whenever it is
deemed probable that a tax asset has been imaigethx liability has been incurred for eventshsas tax claims or changes in tax laws. Tax
contingencies are based upon their technical meeitive tax law and the specific facts and ainstances as of each reporting period.
Changes in facts and circumstances could resufiiterial changes to the amounts recorded for sucbhdntingencies.

We recognize uncertain income tax positi@aken on income tax returns at the largest amiattis more-likely-than-not to be sustained
upon audit by the relevant taxing authority. An entain income tax position will not be recognizéd has less than a 50% likelihood of being
sustained.

Our policy for recording interest and péieal associated with uncertain tax positions ietwmrd such items as a component of our incom
tax provision. During the years ended DecembefB1],
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2012 and 2013, we did not record any material @sieincome, interest expense or penalties relateddertain tax positions or the settlemel
audits for prior periods.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation is measured gréim: date based on the fair value of the awaddsrecognized as expense, net of estimate
forfeitures, over the requisite service period,ahhis the vesting period of the respective award.

Determining the fair value of stock-basegads at the grant date requires judgment. Wehes8lack-Scholes option-pricing model to
determine the fair value of stock options. The deieation of the grant date fair value of optiorssng an option-pricing model is affected by
our estimated common stock fair value as well agragptions regarding a number of other complex aihjestive variables. These variables
include the fair value of our common stock, ourentpd stock price volatility over the expected tefrthe options, stock option exercise and
cancellation behaviors, risk-free interest rated expected dividends, which are estimated as fallow

. Fair Value of Our Common Stock Prior to August 2, 2013, the date our commonksb®gan trading on the NASDAQ Globall
Select Market, the fair value of common stock wetedmined by our board of directors, which intendkaptions granted to be
exercisable at a price per share not less thapethshare fair value of our common stock underlyhiase options on the date of
grant. The valuations of our common stock wererdateed in accordance with the guidelines outlinethie American Institute
of Certified Public Accountants Practice Aid, Vdioa of Privately-Held-Company Equity Securitiesusd as Compensation.
The assumptions we use in the valuation model Wased on future expectations combined with managejweégment. In the
absence of a public trading market, our board @atiors, with input from management, exercisediggmt judgment and
considered numerous objective and subjective fatctodetermine the fair value of our common stakfahe date of each
option grant. Since our IPO, we determine thevfaitue of our common stock based on the closinge@icquoted on the
NASDAQ Global Select Market of our common stock.

. Expected Volatility. As we do not have a trading history for our commtock, the expected stock price volatility for ou
common stock was estimated by taking the averagjeedfistorical volatilities of an index fund amalustry peers based on de
price observations over a period equivalent toettgected term of the stock option grants. We didrelg on implied volatilities
of traded options in our industry peers' commoulstmecause the volume of activity was relativeky.léVe intend to continue
consistently apply this process using the samématas public companies until a sufficient amouithistorical information
regarding the volatility of our own common stoclashprice becomes available.

. Risk-Free Interest Rate The risk-free interest rate is based on the Ur&asury yield in effect at the time of the gramtZero-
coupon U.S. Treasury notes with remaining termslairto the expected term of the options.

. Expected Dividend Yield. We have never declared or paid any cash dividandslo not presently plan to pay cash dividends
the foreseeable future. Consequently, we used pecéed dividend yield of zero.

. Expected Term The expected term represents the period thatttiok-based awards are expected to be outstarietingur
option grants, we used the simplified method t@eine the expected term as provided by the SEE sirhplified method
calculates the expected term as the average diftketo-vesting and the contractual life of theiops. We used the simplified
method to determine our expected term becauserdinoited history of stock option exercise activity
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In addition to the assumptions used inBlaek-Scholes option-pricing model, we must alsiinggte a forfeiture rate to calculate the stock
based compensation for our awards. Our forfeitate is based on an analysis of our actual forfeftuWe will continue to evaluate the
appropriateness of the forfeiture rate based amatrfeiture experience, analysis of employeaadwuer and other factors. Quarterly change
the estimated forfeiture rate can have a significapact on our stockased compensation expense as the cumulative effadjusting the rat
is recognized in the period the forfeiture estinmatehanged. If a revised forfeiture rate is higttran the previously estimated forfeiture rate, al
adjustment is made that will result in a decreagbé stock-based compensation expense recogmizld financial statements. If a revised
forfeiture rate is lower than the previously estietsforfeiture rate, an adjustment is made thdtrediult in an increase to the stock-based
compensation expense recognized in the finan@gstents.

We will continue to use judgment in evaingtthe expected volatility, expected terms andeiture rates utilized for our stock-based
compensation calculations on a prospective basisvé\continue to accumulate additional data relegexir common stock, we may have
refinements to the estimates of our expected Vityatexpected terms and forfeiture rates, whichldanaterially impact our future stock-based
compensation expense. If any of the assumptiorss inghe Black-Scholes model changes significastigck-based compensation for future
awards may differ materially compared with the algagranted previously.

The following table presents the weightedrage assumptions used to estimate the fair vdlaptions granted during the periods
presented:

Years Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013
Expected volatility 71-73% 59- 63% 56 - 59%
Expected dividend 0% 0% 0%
Expected terms (in year 5.0-6.1 5.0-6.1 3.3-7.2
Risk-free rate 11-25% 0.7-1.0% 0.8-1.7%
Forfeiture rate 11.6% 7.9% 7.2%

Transactions with Our Significant Stockholders

In January 2011, we entered into an OEMardware (with software) purchase and license ageaewith Cisco Systems, Inc. ("Cisco"),
which was amended and restated in February 201 fuatier amended in June 2012. Our agreement wibo®xpired in February 2014.
Although the parties currently intend to enter iatoew agreement that would revise and optimizexipected Control4 and Cisco
collaboration, innovation and channel capabilittegre can be no assurance that such a reviseenagne will be reached.

Purchase and payment terms with Cisco@msistent with other non-affiliated companies. émigection with our commercial agreements
with Cisco, we recognized revenue of approxima$élyp million, $2.6 million and $0.6 million for theears ended December 31, 2011, 2012
and 2013, respectively.

Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Pronouncest

For information with respect to recent againg pronouncements and the impact of these pirmrements on our consolidated financial
statements, see Note 1 "Description of BusinessSamamary of Significant Accounting Policies—RecAatounting Pronouncements"” in the
notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ITEM 7A. Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk in the omyimaurse of our business. Market risk represdrdgisk of loss that may impact our financial
position due to adverse changes in financial mgrkees and rates. Our market risk exposure isgmilgna result of fluctuations in interest re
and foreign currency exchange rates. We do not dwissue financial instruments for trading purpose

Interest Rate Risl

Our exposure to market risk for changeastierest rates relates primarily to our cash arsth eguivalents as we do not have any stesrt
investments as of December 31, 2013. Our cashastdequivalents as of December 31, 2013 was $8#idnmand consisted primarily of
cash and money market funds. Our primary exposuneatrket risk is interest income sensitivity, whistaffected by changes in the general
level of the interest rates in the United Statemwelver, because of the short-term nature of oerést-bearing securities, a 10% change in
market interest rates would not be expected to hawaterial impact on our consolidated financialdition or results of operations.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Our results of operations and cash flovessambject to fluctuations due to changes in foreigmency exchange rates, particularly change:
in the Canadian dollar, the Euro and the Britishrgb The volatility of exchange rates depends onynfactors that we cannot forecast with
reliable accuracy. We believe that our operatirtiy#ies act as a natural hedge for a substantaiqn of our foreign currency exposure
because we typically collect revenue and incurscimsthe currency in the location in which we pdw®/our solutions. Although we have
experienced and will continue to experience flutitwes in our net income (loss) as a result of @atisn gains (losses) related to transactions
denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dalla believe that a 10% change in foreign exchaatgs would not have a material impact
on our financial condition or results of operatiohe date, we have not entered into any foreigneruay hedging contracts, but we may
consider entering into such contracts in the futdieour international operations grow, we will tone to reassess our approach to managing
our risk relating to fluctuations in foreign curoynexchange rates.

ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Bta

The Consolidated Financial Statements a@&ules listed in the Index to Financial StatesieBthedules and Exhibits on page F-1 are
filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accouants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation wf Ghief Executive Officer and Chief Financial @#t, has evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as defineduiedR1l3a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securitiebdhge Act of 1934, as amended (the
"Exchange Act")), as of the end of the period ceddny this Form 10-K. Based on such evaluation Ghief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer have concluded that as of sude,daur disclosure controls and procedures weectfe.
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There were no changes in our internal obver financial reporting during our most recéatal quarter that have materially affected, or
are reasonably likely to materially affect, ourimtal control over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Controls

Our management, including our Chief Exeau®fficer and Chief Financial Officer, does nopegt that our disclosure controls and
procedures or our internal controls will prevetteator and all fraud. A control system, no matiew well conceived and operated, can pro
only reasonable, not absolute, assurance thatdjeetives of the control system are met. Becausbeoinherent limitations in all control
systems, no evaluation of controls can provide labs@ssurance that all control issues and instaotfraud, if any, within the Company have
been detected. These inherent limitations inclhde¢alities that judgments in decision-making loarfiaulty, and that breakdowns can occur
because of a simple error or mistake. Additionaltyntrols can be circumvented by the individuas aftsome persons, by collusion of two or
more people, or by management override of the obrthe design of any system of controls also Eeldan part upon certain assumptions
about the likelihood of future events, and thene loa no assurance that any design will succeedhieang its stated goals under all potential
future conditions. Over time, controls may beconsdequate because of changes in conditions, aetiee of compliance with the policies
procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inh&ngitations in a cost-effective control systemsstatements due to error or fraud may occu
and not be detected.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Finangal Reporting

This Form 10k does not include a report of management's assggaegarding internal control over financial repay due to a transitio
period established by the rules of the SEC for pgwblic companies. Additionally, our auditors wilbt be required to formally opine on the
effectiveness of our internal control over finahceporting pursuant to Section 404 until we ardarger an "emerging growth company" as
defined in the JOBS Act as we have taken advardhtiee exemptions available to us through the JOBS

ITEM 9B. Other Information
None.
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PART III.

We are incorporating by reference the imfation required by Part Ill of this Form 10-K framar proxy statement relating to our 2014
annual meeting of stockholders (the "2014 Proxyeatent"), which will be filed with the SEC withirRQ days after the end of the fiscal yee
which this report relates.

ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corpeate Governance

The information required by this Item vidk contained in the 2014 Proxy Statement and @rjiocated herein by reference.
ITEM 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item vl contained in the 2014 Proxy Statement and &rjiocated herein by reference.
ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficid Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Mé&rs

The information required by this Item vk contained in the 2014 Proxy Statement and &rjiocated herein by reference.
ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Tranactions and Director Independence

The information required by this Item vk contained in the 2014 Proxy Statement and &rjiecated herein by reference.
ITEM 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Service

The information required by this Item vk contained in the 2014 Proxy Statement and &rjiecated herein by reference.
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PART IV.
ITEM 15. Exhibits, Consolidated Financial Statenents and Financial Statement Schedules
(&) Documents filed as part of this report:

1. Consolidated Financial StatementsWe have filed the consolidated financial stagata listed in the index to Consolidated
Financial Statements, Schedules and Exhibits oe pat as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

2. Financial Statement Schedules and OtheAll financial statement schedules have beerttethbecause they are not
applicable, not material or the required informati® shown in the consolidated financial statementhe notes thereto.

3. Exhibits. The exhibits listed below are filed or incorat@d by reference as part of this Annual Repoff@m 10-K.

(b) Exhibits:
Incorporated by
Incorporated by Reference from
Exhibit Reference from Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibits Form Number Date Filed
3.1 Amended and Restated 10-Q 3.1  August 30, 2013
Certificate of Incorporation of
the Registrant
3.2 Amended and Restated Byla S-1 3.4 July 1, 2013
of the Registrant
4.1 Specimen Common Stock S-1/A 4.1 July 18, 2013
Certificate of the Registrar
4.2 Eighth Amended and Restated S-1 4.2 July 1, 2013
Investors' Rights Agreement,
dated January 21, 201
4.2 Warrant to Purchase Stock of S-1 4.4 July 1, 2013
the Registrant issued to Silic
Valley Bank, dated
December 29, 200!
4.4 Warrant to Purchase Stock of S-1 4.t July 1, 2013
the Registrant issued to Silic
Valley Bank, dated June 13,
2007.
10.1 Form of Director and S-1 10.1 July 1, 2013
Executive Officer
Indemnification Agreemen
10.z 2003 Equity Incentive Plan a S-1 10.2 July 1, 2013
forms of award agreements
thereunder
10.Z 2013 Stock Option and S-1 10.2 July 1, 2013
Incentive Plan and forms of
award agreements thereunc
10.4 Offer Letter to Martin Plaehn, S-1 10.4 July 1, 2013

dated August 20, 201
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Exhibit
Number

Description of Exhibits

Incorporated by
Reference from
Form

Incorporated by
Reference from
Exhibit
Number

Date Filed

10.t

10.€

10.7

10.¢

10.1¢(

10.11

10.1%

10.1:

10.1¢

21.1

23.1

31.1

Employment Agreement, dat

July 28, 2003 and as amended

on June 17, 2004 and
August 3, 2011, between the
Registrant and William B.
West.

Employment Agreement, dat
on or about January 4, 2008,
between the Registrant and
Dan Strong

Offer Letter to Jeff Dungan,
dated August 1, 200!

Offer Letter to Eric Anderson,
dated June 19, 201

Relationship Agreement, dat
June 27, 2013, between the
Registrant and Sanmina
Corporation

OEM Supply Agreement:
OEM Design, dated
December 3, 2010, between
the Registrant and Lite-On
Electronic Company Ltc

Amended and Restated Loan
and Security Agreement, dat
June 17, 2013, between the
Registrant and Silicon Valley
Bank.

Lease dated June 29, 2004 by
and between the Registrant
WNDCI, Inc., as amended on
May 24, 2006, February 25,
2011 and November 7, 201

Advisor Agreement, effective
as of February 28, 2013, by

and between the registrant and

Tom Kuhn.

Severance Agreement by and
between William B. West and
Control4 Corporation, dated
of December 21, 201

List of Subsidiaries of the
Registrant

Consent of Ernst &

Young LLP, Independent
Registered Public Accounting
Firm.

Certification of the Chief
Executive Officer pursuant to

S-1

S-1

S-1/A

S-1/A

S-1

S-1

S-1

8-K

S-1

Filed herewith

Filed herewith

10.5

10.€

10.7

10.€

10.€

10.1(

10.11

10.12

10.1:

10.1

21.1

July 1, 2013

July 1, 2013

July 1, 2013

July 1, 2013

July 18, 2013

July 18, 2013

July 1, 2013

July 1, 2013

July 1, 2013

December 23, 201

July 1, 2013



Section 302 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act.
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Incorporated
by Incorporated by
Reference Reference from
Exhibit from Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibits Form Number Date Filed
31.z Certification of the Chief Filed
Financial Officer pursuant to herewith
Section 302 of the Sarban€sdey
Act.
32.1° Certification of the Chief Furnished
Executive Officer and the Chief herewith
Financial Officer pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarban©sdey
Act.
101.INS™ XBRL Instance Document Filed
herewith
101.SCH”* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Filed
Schema Documel herewith
101.CAL™ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Filed
Calculation Linkbase Docume herewith
101.DEF™ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Filed
Definition Linkbase Documer herewith
101.LAB™ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Filed
Label Linkbase Documel herewith
101.PRF™ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Filed
Presentation Linkbase Docume herewith

**

The certifications furnished in Exhibit 32.1 leés are deemed to accompany this Annual Reporbom E0-K and will
not be deemed "filed" for purposes of Section 1&efSecurities Exchange Act of 1934, as amendeepe to the extent

that the Registrant specifically incorporates itréference.

Users of this data are advised that, pursuant te 86T of Regulation S-T, these interactive ddés fare deemed not
filed or part of a registration statement or prasps for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the S@esiAct of 1933 or
Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1984l @therwise are not subject to liability undersiasections
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Sedt®ar 15(d) of Securities Exchange Act of 1934, egistrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereuulp authorized.

Date: February 21, 201 CONTROL4 CORPORATION
By: /s/ DAN STRONG
Dan Strong

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting
Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Seeariixchange Act of 1934, this report has beenresidoelow by the following persons on behalf
of the Registrant and in the capacities indicate&ebruary 21, 2014.

Signature Title

/s/ MARTIN PLAEHN President, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

Martin Plaehr

/s/ DAN STRONG Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and

Accounting Officer)

Dan Strong

/s/ ROB BORN

Director
Rob Born
/s/ DAVID C. HABIGER
Director
David C. Habige
/s/ LEN JORDAN
Director
Len Jordar
/s/ CHRISTOPHER B. PAISLEY
Director
Christopher B. Paisle
/s SCOTT PETTY
Director
Scott Petty
/s/ STEVEN VASSALLO
Director

Steven Vassall
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Control4 Corporation

We have audited the accompanying conselitialance sheets of Control4 Corporation as oéBer 31, 2013 and 2012, and the rel
consolidated statements of operations, comprehemsbome (loss), redeemable convertible preferrecksand stockholders' equity (deficit),
and cash flows for each of the three years in gr®g ended December 31, 2013. These financiamsgtts are the responsibility of the
Company's management. Our responsibility is toesgan opinion on these financial statements b@sedr audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance thighstandards of the Public Company Accounting Slgat Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &andbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. We were not engaged to perform a @fuithe Company's internal control over finanaigborting. Our audits included
consideration of internal control over financigbogting as a basis for designing audit procedurasdre appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion oreffectiveness of the Company's internal contr@rdinancial reporting. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includesnéxiag, on a test basis, evidence supporting theusts and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principlesars significant estimates made by managementeaadating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statementieneed to above present fairly, in all materialpests, the consolidated financial position of
Control4 Corporation as of December 31, 2013 arid®28nd the consolidated results of its operatsonbits cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2013, ifocmity with U.S. generally accepted accountingpiples.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Salt Lake City, Utah
February 21, 2014
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CONTROL4 CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except share data)

Assets
Current assett
Cash and cash equivalel
Accounts receivable, n
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Total current asse
Property and equipment, r
Intangible assets, n
Other asset
Total asset

Liabilities, redeemable convertible preferred stockand
stockholders' equity (deficit)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accrued liabilities
Deferred revenu
Current portion of notes payat
Total current liabilities
Notes payabli
Warrant liability
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingenci

Redeemable convertible preferred stock, $0.0001 glae;
83,163,408 and no shares authorized; 15,293,960 @stares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2012 anendesr 31,
2013, respectively; aggregate liquidation prefeeenfic$118,150 ar
$0 at December 31, 2012 and December 31, 201X ateply

Stockholders' equity (deficit

Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value, no and 25,000s8ares
authorized; no shares issued and outstanding atrbleer 31,

2012 and December 31, 2013, respecti

Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 127,836,592 afcb0,000
shares authorized; 2,490,870 and 22,785,104 slsaesd and
outstanding at December 31, 2012 and December03dB, 2

respectively
Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated defici
Accumulated other comprehensive income (li
Total stockholders' equity (defici

Total liabilities, redeemable convertible preferstock and

stockholders' equity (defici

December 31

December 31

2012 2013
$ 18,69 $ 84,54
13,07¢ 15,06«
12,51 15,31
1,871 1,77¢
46,15¢ 116,69
2,66¢ 3,94:
92€ 92¢
887 1,12(
$ 50,63t $ 122,68
$ 1443t $ 13,31
6,571 6,821
542 644
1,321 1,13¢
22,86¢ 21,91
1,83¢ 1,82¢
601 —
1,62( 467
26,92¢ 24,21
116,31 —
— 2
12,98¢ 200,54
(105,58) (102,089
(4) 11
(92,60 98,47
$ 50,63t $ 122,68

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsgistents.
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CONTROL4 CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except per share data)

Years Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013
Revenue $ 93,37¢ $ 109,561: $ 128,51:
Cost of revenu 50,53¢ 57,22¢ 64,23¢
Cost of reventL—inventory purchase commitme — 1,84( (380)
Gross margit 42,84 50,44 64,657
Operating expense

Research and developm 19,21: 20,31( 24,97¢

Sales and marketir 17,54¢ 20,18: 21,97

General and administratiy 9,80¢ 10,15( 12,32¢

Litigation settlemen — 2,86¢ 44C
Total operating expens 46,56. 53,51: 59,72
Income (loss) from operatiol (3,720 (3,069 4,93¢
Other income (expense

Interest incomq 4 13 16

Interest expens (39¢6) (277) (470

Other income (expens 221 (254) (729)
Total other income (expens (165) (518) (1,189
Income (loss) before income tax (3,88%) (3,587) 3,751
Income tax expens — (147) (24¢8)
Net income (loss $ (3,88) & (3,72) $ 3,50
Net income (loss) per common she

Basic $ (202 $ (1.5 % 0.3¢

Diluted $ (202 $ (159 $ 0.1€
Weightec-average number of shari

Basic 1,92¢ 2,36( 10,60¢

Diluted 1,92 2,36( 22,26

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@&stents.
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CONTROL4 CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LO SS)

(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013

Net income (loss $ (3,889 $ (3,729 $ 3,50¢
Other comprehensive income (los

Foreign currency translation adjustm (20 (28) 15

Total other comprehensive income (lo (10) (28) 15

Comprehensive income (los $ (3,895 $ (3,75) $ 3,51¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@&sients.
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CONTROL4 CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE P REFERRED STOCK AND
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)

(in thousands, except share data)

Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)

Redeemable Common Stock

Convertible
Preferred Stock

Accumulated Total
Other Stockholders'
Additional Comprehensive
Number of Paid-In  Accumulated Equity
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit (Loss) Income (Deficit)

Balance at
December 31,
2010 13,279,31 $ 97,67( 1,664,04. $ — 3 4971 $ (97,979 $ 34 % (92,979
Net loss — — — — — (3,885 — (3,885
Other

comprehens
loss — — — — — — (10) (10)
Issuance of
Series H
redeemable
convertible
preferred
stock for
cashin
February
2011, net of
issuance
costs of $21: 2,014,64 18,64: — — — — — —
Issuance of
common
stock
warrants — — — — 1,14¢ — — 1,14¢
Stock-based
compensatia — — — — 1,98¢ — — 1,98¢
Issuance of
common
stock upon
exercise of
stock option: — — 577,43 — 1,204 — — 1,20¢
Issuance of
common
stock in
exchange fol
services — — 4,04( — 25 — — 25

Balance at
December 31,
2011 15,293,96 116,31: 2,245,52 — 9,33¢ (101,86¢) 24 (92,50¢)
Net loss — — — — — (3,729 — (3,729
Other

comprehens
loss — — — — — — (28) (28)
Stock-based
compensatia — — — — 2,86¢ — — 2,86¢
Issuance of
common
stock upon
exercise of
stock options — — 245,34¢ — 78E — — 78t

Balance at
December 31,
2012 15,293,96 116,31: 2,490,87! — 12,98¢ (105,58) (4) (92,607)
Net income — — — — — 3,507 — 3,50
Other

comprehens
income — — — — — — 15 15
Stock-based
compensatia — — — — 3,76( — — 3,76(
Issuance of
common
stock options
in connectior
with a
business
acquisition — — — — 174 — — 174




Conversion of
redeemable
convertible
preferred
stock into
common
stock

Issuance of
common
stock, net of
issuance
costs

Issuance of
common
stock upon
net exercise
of common
stock
warrants

Reclassificatio
of
redeemable
convertible
preferred
stock warran
liability upon
conversion t
preferred
stock

Issuance of
common
stock upon
exercise of
stock options

Balance at

December 31,

2013

(15,293,96) (116,31) | 15,293,96 2 11631 = = 116,31
— — | 4.600,00 — 65,55t — — 65,55t
= = 293,23 = = = = =
— — — — 1,31¢ — — 1,31
= = 107,04 = 44¢ = = 44¢
— % — | 2278510 3 2 $ 20054' $  (102,08) $ 1 $ 98,47

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsdistents.
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CONTROL4 CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31
2011 2012 2013

Operating activities
Net income (loss $ (3,885 $ (3,729 $ 3,50¢
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to reshc(used in)

provided by operating activitie

Depreciation expens 1,61¢ 1,71¢ 2,201
Amortization of intangible asse 13¢ 271 31¢
Provision for doubtful accoun 28¢ 184 15¢
Loss (gain) on inventory purchase commitrr — 1,84( (380
Loss on disposal of property and equiprr — 107 —
Stoclk-based compensatic 2,01z 2,86¢ 3,76(
Warrant liability expens (227) 254 70¢
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Accounts receivabl (2,645 (2,600 (2,109
Inventories 2,32 (4,859 (2,729
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 39¢ (352) 111
Other asset 15& (823 (233
Accounts payabl (975) 4,62 (1,227
Accrued liabilities 882 2,117 62C
Deferred revenu (95) (20 10z
Other lon¢-term liabilities (56E) (621) (1,155
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activi (58€) 991 3,66¢
Investing activities
Purchases of property and equipm (1,269  (2,360) (3,470
Business acquisitio (725) — (147)
Net cash used in investing activiti (1,989 (2,360) (3,619

Financing activities
Net proceeds from issuance of redeemable convegitgferrec

stock and common stock warra 19,78¢ — —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net chms=icost — — 65,55¢
Proceeds from exercise of options for common s 1,20¢ 78t 44¢€
Net repayment of revolving line of cre: (6,319 — —
Proceeds from notes payal 1,06¢ 1,87¢ 1,14t
Repayment of notes payal (744) (1,037 (1,339
Net cash provided by financing activiti 14,99¢ 1,62¢ 65,80¢
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casvatnts (10) (28) (9)
Net increase in cash and cash equival 12,41 227 65,85
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of pe 6,05¢  18,46¢ 18,69¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe $18,46f $ 18,69 $ 84,54¢
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informatior
Cash paid for intere: $ 3% $ 27¢ % 461
Cash paid for taxe — 26 152
Supplemental schedule of nc-cash investing and financing
activities
Options for common stock granted in connection w&ithusines:
acquisition — — 174
Elimination of liability upon net exercise of wanta to purchas
preferred stocl — — 1,31(C
Conversion of redeemable convertible preferredkstoc
common stocl — — 116,31

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsistents.
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Control4 Corporation

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Description of Business and Summary of Significe Accounting Policies

Control4 Corporation ("Control4" or the "@pany") is a leading provider of automation andtamrsolutions for the connected home. -
Company unlocks the potential of connected deviteking entertainment systems easier to use, haroes comfortable, appliances more
energy efficient, and families more secure. The g@amy was incorporated in the state of Delaware anciM27, 2003.

Reclassifications

Certain prior-year amounts have been reiflad in order to conform to the current-year prasation. The reclassification is related to
gains or losses on inventory purchase commitmeois &ccrued liabilities into the applicable captamthe statements of cash flows. This
reclassification had no effect on the previouslyorted net cash (used in) provided by operatintyities.

Basis of Presentatiol

The consolidated financial statements idelthe accounts of the Company and its wholly-owswdasidiaries. All intercompany balances
and transactions have been eliminated in the cintaget financial statements.

Initial Public Offering

On August 7, 2013, the Company completeéhitial public offering ("IPO") of common stock iwhich the Company sold and issued
4,600,000 shares of common stock at a price ofd®lger share. As a result of the IPO, the Comparsgd a total of $73.6 million in gross
proceeds, or approximately $65.6 million in netqereds after deducting underwriting discounts amdroissions of $5.2 million and offering
expenses of approximately $2.8 million.

Stock Split

In July 2013, the Company's board of doectind stockholders approved an amendment todhg@ny's amended and restated
certificate of incorporation. The amendment prodifier a 1-for-5.2 reverse stock split of the outsiag common stock and outstanding
convertible preferred stock (collectively, "Capigtbck"), which became effective on July 18, 204&ordingly, (i) every 5.2 shares of Capital
Stock have been combined into one share of Ceiitalk, (ii) the number of shares of Capital Stawtk iwhich each outstanding option or
warrant to purchase Capital Stock is exercisalsi¢h@ case may be, have been proportionately dssmiemn a 5.2-for-1 basis, and (jii) the
exercise price for each such outstanding optiomasrant to purchase Capital Stock has been prapatily increased on a 1-for-5.2 basis. All
of the share numbers, share prices, and exerdisEsgrave been adjusted within these financiaéstahts, on a retroactive basis, to reflect this
1-for-5.2 reverse stock split.

Segment Reportin

Operating segments are identified as coraptznof an enterprise about which separate disfingtecial information is available for
evaluation by the chief operating decision-makes, Chief Executive Officer, in making decisionsartjing resource allocation and accessing
performance. To date, the Company has viewed égsatipns and manages its business as one opesatjngent.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contirad)
1. Description of Business and Summary of Significe Accounting Policies (Continued)
Concentrations of Risk

The Company's accounts receivable are el@fiom revenue earned from dealers and distribygomarily located in the United States
and Canada. The Company's sales to dealers antiutists located outside the United States are gdigelenominated in United States
dollars, except for sales to dealers and distritsuticated in the United Kingdom, which are denated in pounds sterling. There were no
individual account balances greater than 10% af txtcounts receivable at December 31, 2012 andrbieer 31, 2013.

No dealer or distributor accounted for mibren 10% of total revenue for the years ended Déee 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013.

The Company relies on a limited numberugfdiers for its contract manufacturing. A signéit disruption in the operations of these
manufacturers would impact the production of thenpany's products for a substantial period of timigich could have a material adverse
effect on the Company's business, financial coowligind results of operations.

Geographic Information

The Company's revenue includes amountsedahrough sales to dealers and distributors ldcaitside of the United States. With the
exception of Canada, no single foreign country entad for more than 10% of total revenue for thergyeended December 31, 2011, 2012 anc
2013. The following table sets forth revenue fréva U.S., Canadian and all other international deaad distributors combined (in
thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013
Revenu-United State: $ 63628 $ 69,957 $ 85,52¢
Revenu-Canads 10,48( 12,45: 14,07¢
Revenu-all other international sourc: 19,27: 27,10: 28,907
Total revenue $ 93,37¢ $ 109,51: $ 128,51:
International revenue (excluding Canada) as a peafdotal
revenue 21% 25% 22%

Use of Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statementsdnformity with GAAP requires management to makéreses and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities asefitite of the financial statements and the repanealints of revenues and expenses during tt
reporting period. On an ongoing basis, the Comgaajuates its estimates including those relatedvenue recognition, sales returns,
provisions for doubtful accounts, product warraiygentory obsolescence, litigation, determinatdfair value of stock options, deferred tax
asset valuation allowances and income taxes. Aotsalts may differ from those estimates.

Product Warranty

The Company provides its customers a lidhgeduct warranty of two years, which requires@uenpany to repair or replace (at its
option) defective products during the warranty gt no cost
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Control4 Corporation
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contirad)
1. Description of Business and Summary of Significe Accounting Policies (Continued)

to the customer. The Company estimates the costsrily be incurred to replace or repair defectioelpcts and records a reserve at the time
revenue is recognized. Factors that affect the Garylp warranty liability include the number of mli#d systems, the Company's historical
experience and management's judgment regardingjated rates of product warranty returns, net@frbished products. The Company
assesses the adequacy of its recorded warranijtjiaach period and makes adjustments to thelifpalas necessary. Warranty costs accrued
includes amounts accrued for products at the tifehipment, adjustments for changes in estimatstsdor warranties on products shipped in
the period, and changes in estimated costs forantes on products shipped in prior periods. ftaspracticable for the Company to determine
the amounts applicable to each of these components.

The following table presents the changdbénproduct warranty liability (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013
Balance at the beginning of the per $ 775 $ 1,03C $ 1,15t
Warranty costs accrue 727 1,05( 1,02¢
Warranty claims (472) (925) (967)
Balance at the end of the peri $ 1,03C $ 1,158 $ 1,21

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts reported in the aca@mgmg consolidated financial statements for caghaash equivalents, accounts payable anc
accrued liabilities approximate their fair valuectese of the short-term nature of the accountsfdihgalue of the notes payable approximate
its carrying value based on the variable naturiatefest rates and current market rates availablleet Company.

Net Income (Loss) Per Shat

Basic net income (loss) per share is cortpusing the weightedverage number of common shares outstanding dtivengeriod. Dilute:
net income (loss) per share is computed using #ighted-average number of common shares outstaadishgotentially dilutive common
shares outstanding during the period that havéutivd effect on net income per share. Potentidilytive common shares result from the
assumed exercise of outstanding stock optionstedgsumed conversion of outstanding convertildéemed stock and warrants using the if-
converted method. In a net loss position, dilutetloss per share is computed using only the wedyhterage number of common shares
outstanding during the period, as any additionatmon shares would be anti-dilutive.

F-10




Table of Contents

Control4 Corporation
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1. Description of Business and Summary of Significe Accounting Policies (Continued)

The following table presents the recontidia of the numerator and denominator used in gieutation of basic and diluted net income
(loss) per share (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31
2011 2012 2013

Numerator:
Net income (loss $ (3,88Y) $ (3,729 $ 3,50:

Denominator:
Weighted average common stock outstanding for beticncom

(loss) per common sha 1,92 2,36( 10,60¢
Effect of dilutive securities—stock options, conigle preferred

stock, and warrants to purchase common stock afdrped

stock — — 11,65¢
Weighted average common shares and dilutive sesurit
outstanding 1,92:% 2,36( 22,26

The following weighted-average common steqgliivalents were anti-dilutive and therefore wexeluded from the calculation of diluted
net income (loss) per share (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013
Convertible preferred stoc 15,257 15,29 —
Options to purchase common stc 3,95: 4,317  35¢€
Warrants to purchase common st 51C 541 1
Warrants to purchase preferred st 194 194 —
Total 19,91+ 20,34¢ 357

Revenue Recoghnitio

The Company sells its products throughtavork of independent dealers, regional and natiogialilers and distributors. These dealers,
retailers and distributors generally sell the Conymproducts to the end consumer as part of albdrsdile, which typically includes other
third-party products and related services, prajesign and installation services and on-going stppo

The Company's products include embeddesvaod that is essential to the functionality of Heedware. Accordingly, the hardware and
embedded software are accounted for as a singleegable. In 2013, the Company began bundling Myld@oftware licenses with its new
controllers. These software licenses do not inclhmseptance provisions, rights to updates (e.genvand-if-available enhancements or
upgrades to the functionality of the software) ostgontract customer support such as technical suppirén a software license and contrc
are sold together, a multiple element arrangemdastsand revenue is allocated to each deliveratded on relative selling prices. Typically,
delivery of both the product and the software lsgpnccurs at the same time. The Company recogrézeaue when persuasive evidence of al
arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, thes galee is fixed or determinable, and collectiongasonably assured. Product or licensed
software is considered delivered once it has bbgiped and title and risk of loss have been transfie For most of the Company's product
sales, these criteria are met at the time the ptddwshipped.
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1. Description of Business and Summary of Significe Accounting Policies (Continued)

The Company records estimated reductiomsvtenue for dealer, retailer and distributor inixars, primarily comprised of volume rebat
at the time of the initial sale. The estimated wdituns to revenue for rebates are based on the &alas and the Company's historical
experience and trend analysis. The most commomiiveerelates to amounts paid or credited to deaed distributors for achieving defined
volume levels or growth objectives.

Software license revenue represents faegeédrom activating applications which allow ermhsumers to manage and control their
automation systems using tablets, smartphonesthed thirdparty devices. Software products such as Composeretand Media Editions ¢
sold on a limited basis and do not constitute aifiggnt portion of revenue. The Company's perpetafiware licenses do not include
acceptance provisions, rights to updates or upgradpost-contract customer support such as teghsupport; the Company generally
recognizes revenue at the time the software licengeovided.

The Company offers a subscription servieg allows consumers to control and monitor theinks remotely and allows the Company's
dealers to perform remote diagnostic services. Sigin revenue is deferred at the time of paynasrt recognized on a straight-line basis
over the period the service is provided.

Total revenue for subscription servicegaspnts less than 10% of total revenue for albgsrpresented.

The Company recognizes revenue net ofafagtvenue for thirgsarty products sold through the Company's onlimkidng system. Whil
the Company assumes credit risk on sales to itemdeand distributors for third-party products, @@mpany does not determine the product
selling price, does not retain associated inventisks and is not the primary obligor to the endszomer.

The Company's agreements with dealers etidbditors generally do not include rights of meter acceptance provisions. Even though
contractual agreements do not provide return giyk, there are circumstances in which the Compéhgccept returns. In addition,
agreements with certain retail distributors confaice protection and limited rights of return. TBempany maintains a reserve for such ret
based on the Company's historical return experience

Shipping charges billed to dealers andiBistors are included in revenue and related shippbsts are included in cost of revenue.
Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue includes the following: tost of inventory sold during the period, invegtarite-down costs, payroll and other direct
installation services costs, purchasing costs,ltppbligations, shipping expenses to dealers asilildutors and warehousing costs, which
include inbound freight costs from manufactureestand payroll and benefit costs.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid giterm investments with original maturities oféermonths or less at the time of purchase to
be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents consist plynoh money market funds.
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1. Description of Business and Summary of Significe Accounting Policies (Continued)
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company extends credit to the majaftits dealers and distributors, which consist ity of small, local businesses. Issuance of
credit is based on ongoing credit evaluations leyGbmpany of dealers' and distributors' finanatdition and generally requires no collate
Trade accounts receivable are recorded at thedgada@mount and do not bear interest. The Compaimtaies an allowance for doubtful
accounts to reserve for potential uncollectibleeregbles. The allowance is based upon the credihivm@ss of the Company's dealers and
distributors, the dealers' and distributors' hisadrpayment experience, the age of the receivasidscurrent market and economic conditions.
Provisions for potentially uncollectible accounts secorded in sales and marketing expenses. Thp&uy writes off accounts receivable
balances to the allowance for doubtful accountsrwhbecomes likely that they will not be collected

The following table presents the changdbénallowance for doubtful accounts (in thousands)

Years Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013
Balance at beginning of perit $ 61¢ $ 651 $ 643
Provision 282 184 15¢
Deductions (257) (192) (197)
Balance at end of peric $ 651 $§ 64 $ 60F

Inventories

Inventories consist of hardware and rela@dponent parts and are stated at the lower ofocanarket using the first-in, firgtut method
The Company periodically assesses the recovesabflits inventory and reduces the carrying valtithe inventory when items are determi
to be obsolete, defective or in excess of foredastdes requirements. Inventory write-downs foress¢ defective and obsolete inventory are
recorded as a cost of revenue and totaled $1.8mi$1.5 million, and $2.3 million for the yeansded December 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013,
respectively.

In December 2012, the Company finalizethteation of a sales contract and, as a resulteottntract termination, recorded a
$1.8 million expense associated with an anticip&dss on firm purchase commitments for compondrswould have been required to meet
the Company's obligations under the terminatedraohtThe $1.8 million charge has been recorde@cess of Revenue—Inventory Purchase
Commitment in the accompanying consolidated stat¢mieoperations during the year ended Decembe2®12.

In 2013, the Company recorded a gain reélaenventory purchase commitments of approxinya®él.4 million, as the proceeds from
liquidating the underlying inventory and the Comyarability to consume common components exceedgihal estimates.
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1. Description of Business and Summary of Significe Accounting Policies (Continued)
Property and Equipmen

Property and equipment are recorded abifiistl cost, less accumulated depreciation. Deptieci is computed using the straight-line
method over the following estimated useful lives:

Furniture and fixture 2 -5 year:
Manufacturing tooling and test equipm 2 - 3 years
Lab and warehouse equipmt 2 - 4 years
Computer equipment and softw: 3- 4 years
Marketing equipmer 2 - 3 years

Maintenance and repairs that do not extbadife of or improve the asset are expensedadry#ar incurred. Leasehold improvements are
depreciated over the estimated useful life (usugyyears) or the life of the associated leaséchdver is less.

Intangible Asset:

Intangible assets primarily consist of daceplitechnology. The Company amortizes, to coseeénue, definite-lived intangible assets on ¢
straight-line basis over the life of the technology

Impairment of Lon¢-Lived Assets

The carrying value of long-lived asseteeigiewed for impairment whenever events or chamgescumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of an asset or asset group may not be resddee An impairment loss is recognized when they@igg amount of an asset exceeds the
estimated undiscounted future cash flows expectedsult from the use of the asset and its evenfispbsition. The amount of the impairment
loss to be recorded is calculated by the excetiseddisset's carrying value over its fair valuer #alue is generally determined using a
discounted cash flow analysis.

Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock Warr.

Freestanding warrants and other similarumsents related to shares that are redeemabbeaoeinted for in accordance with ASC 480,
"Distinguishing Liabilities and Equity." Under ASAB0, freestanding warrants that relate to the Cayipaedeemable convertible preferred
stock are classified as a liability on the balasiveet. The warrant to purchase Series G-1 redeernabVertible preferred stock was subject to
re-measurement at each balance sheet date antiamyecin fair value was recognized as a comporfesther income or expense. Fair value
was measured using the Black-Scholes option prigindel. The Company continued to adjust the ligbibr changes in fair value until the
closing of its initial public offering, at whichrtie the redeemable convertible preferred stock weanaere exercised and converted into
common stock and, accordingly, the liability waslassified to equity.

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency of the Companyssidiaries in England, China, Hong Kong and Ind&the pound sterling, the Chinese Yuan,
the Hong Kong Dollar and the Indian Rupee, respelti The subsidiary's assets and liabilities Hasen translated to U.S. dollars using the
exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet. d&ttgements of operations amounts have beendtadslising the
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1. Description of Business and Summary of Significe Accounting Policies (Continued)

average exchange rate for each year. Resulting gailosses from translating foreign currency feiahstatements are recorded as other
comprehensive income (loss). Foreign currency &etisn gains (losses) resulting from exchangeftatéuations on transactions denominatec
in a currency other than the local currency artuthed in earnings and have not been material ®y#ars ended December 31, 2011, 2012 ol
2013.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes compensation exdensdl stockbased awards issued to employees and directord basestimated grant d¢
fair values. The Company selected the Black-Schab¢ien-pricing model to determine the estimatedvfalue at the date of grant for stock
options. The Company elected to amortize compemsatipense using the straight-line attribution reéttunder which stock-based
compensation expense is recognized on a straighblasis over the period the employee performsallaged services, generally the vesting
period of four years, net of estimated forfeiturBise Company has estimated forfeiture rates baseéts distorical experience and will update
the rates, as necessary, in subsequent periodsi#ldorfeitures differ from initial estimates.

The Black-Scholes option-pricing model rieggl management assumptions regarding variousréatttat require extensive use of
accounting judgment and financial estimates. The@any estimates the expected term for options ubimgimplified method, which utilizes
the weighted average expected life of each tran€liee stock option, determined based on the sueach tranche's vesting period plus one-
half of the period from the vesting date of eaamthe to the stock option's expiration, becaus€trapany's options are considered "plain
vanilla." The Company computed the expected vitiatiising multiple peer companies for a period agpnating the expected term. The risk-
free interest rate was determined using the implietdl on U.S. Treasury issues with a remainingnteithin the expected life of the award.

The Company accounts for stock-based imstnis and awards issued to non-employees at faie wsing the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model. Management believes that the fdineaf the stock-based awards is more reliably mregsthan the fair value of the services
received. The fair value of each non-employee ausard-measured each period until a commitment idateached, which is generally the
vesting date.

Income Taxes

The Company recognizes deferred tax assetdiabilities for the future tax consequencesiaittable to the differences between the
financial statement carrying value of existing &ss@d liabilities and their respective tax bafederred tax assets and liabilities are measure
using enacted tax rates in effect for the fiscalrye which those temporary differences are expkttide recovered or settled. Valuation
allowances are established when necessary to reldfiered tax assets to the amount expected tedbeed.

The Company operates in various tax juctsolis and is subject to audit by various tax arities. The Company provides for tax
contingencies whenever it is deemed probable that asset has been impaired or a tax liabilitydeen incurred for events such as tax claim:
or changes in tax laws. Tax contingencies are baged their technical merits, relative tax law dmel specific facts and circumstances as of
each reporting period. Changes in facts and cirtamegs could result in material changes to the amsaecorded for such tax contingencies.
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The Company recognizes uncertain incomgteitions taken on income tax returns at the Etrgmount that is more-likely-tharet to be
sustained upon audit by the relevant taxing authhofin uncertain income tax position will not beognized if it has less than a 50% likelih
of being sustained.

The Company's policy for recording interastl penalties associated with uncertain tax postis to record such items as a component ¢
its income tax provision. During the years endedddeber 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013, we did not recoydraaterial interest income, interest
expense or penalties related to uncertain taxipasior the settlement of audits for prior periods.

Presentation of Certain Taxe

The Company collects various taxes fromatsand distributors and remits these amountse@pplicable taxing authorities. The
Company's accounting policy is to exclude theseddrom revenue and cost of revenue.

Research and Developme

Research and development expenses conisigtry of personnel costs, including incentivengeensation, depreciation associated with
research and development equipment, contract kEtmbconsulting services, facilities-related costsl travel-related costs. Research and
development costs are expensed as incurred.

Recent Accounting Pronouncemen

In February 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2023 Comprehensive Income: Reporting of Amounts Refiled€)ut of Accumulated Other
Comprehensive IncomeThe amended guidance requires an entity to préisemffects on the line items of net income of gigant
reclassifications out of accumulated other compmeive income if the amount being reclassified guieed under U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles to be reclassified in itsrety to net income in the same reporting peridie §uidance is effective prospectively for the
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 20h% new guidance was effective for the Compaggifning January 1, 2013. The
adoption of this guidance did not have an impadhenCompany's results of operations, financialtfuss or cash flows as it relates only to
financial statement presentation.

2. Balance Sheet Components

Inventories consisted of the following (fmusands):

December 31 December 31
2012 2013
Finished good $ 12,30¢ $ 14,06
Component part 20¢ 1,251

$ 12,51 $ 15,31
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2. Balance Sheet Components (Continued)

Property and equipment, net consisted @fdhowing (in thousands):

Computer equipment and softw:
Manufacturing tooling and test equipm
Furniture and fixture

Lab and warehouse equipm
Marketing equipmer

Leasehold improvemen

Less: accumulated depreciati

Intangible assets, net consisted of thieviehg (in thousands):

Acquired technolog'
Less: accumulated amortizati

Other assets consisted of the followinglimusands):

Prepaid licensin
Deposits

Accrued liabilities consisted of the follmg (in thousands):

Current portion of settlement obligations (see
Note 6)

Sales returns and warranty accrt

Compensation accrue

Other accrued liabilitie
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December 31

December 31

2012 2013
$ 351 $ 4,15
2,731 2,65.
1,801 2,04¢
1,974 2,374
41¢ 604
802 1,45(
11,24¢ 13,27¢
(8,580) (9,33%)
$ 2,666 $ 3,94:

December 31

December 31

2012 2013
$ 1,351 § 167t
(431) (750)
$ 92¢ §$ 92¢

December 31

December 31

December 31

2012 2013
$ 70C $ 71€

187 404
$ 887 $ 1,12(

December 31

2012 2013
$ 2,22¢ % 907
2,04t 2,131
1,49¢ 3,23
80z 544
$ 6,571 $ 6,821
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3. Fair Value Measurements

The Company's financial instruments thatraeasured at fair value on a recurring basis sbakmoney market funds and redeemable
preferred stock warrants. The following three Iswv&flinputs are used to measure the fair valuegahtial instruments:

Level 1: Quoted prices in active marketsidentical assets or liabilities. The Company sifiss its money market funds as Lewv:
instruments as they are traded in active markets sufficient volume and frequency of transactions.

Level 2: Observable prices that are basethjputs not quoted on active markets, but corrateol by market data. The Company
did not have any Level 2 instruments during thertgu periods.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs are used wi#e or no market data is available. The Compatilzed a Black-Scholes option-

pricing model in order to determine the fair vabighe redeemable preferred stock warrant, witthhsuadue determined on an as-
converted basis. Certain inputs used in the mageliaobservable.

The fair market value of the Company's camrstock was used to value the warrant liabilitye Tair value of the warrants was calcule
using the income approach and is based on theafiipassumptions:

December 31

2012
Dividend yield 0%
Expected volatility 54%
Risk-free interest rat 0.1€%
Remaining contractual term (in yea 1.t

The fair values of these financial assatsthe redeemable preferred stock warrants wef@law/s (in thousands):

Fair value measurements a
December 31, 2012 using
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash equivalents:
Money market fund $ 1555 § — $ — $ 15,55«
Other liabilities:
Redeemable preferred stock
warrants — — 601 601

Fair value measurements a
December 31, 2013 usin
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash equivalents:
Money market fund $ 7901 § — $ — $ 79,01
Other liabilities:
Redeemable preferred stock
warrants — — — —

During the years ended December 31, 20812843, the change in fair value for the redeemptdéerred stock warrant liability of
$0.3 million and $0.7 million were recorded to ategpense. Upon
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3. Fair Value Measurements (Continued)

the closing of the Company's initial public offegjrthe warrants to purchase shares of the Compaedéemable convertible preferred stock
were net exercised. The then-current aggregatedie of the warrant liability of $1.3 million wasclassified from long-term liabilities to
additional paid-in capital, a component of stockleos' equity, and the Company ceased to recordiuather periodic fair value adjustments
relating to the warrant liability.

4. Acquisition

On June 21, 2013, the Company acquireddbets of a technology company, which constititesiness. The fair value of the
consideration to purchase the business was appatedyn$259,000, which consisted of cash paymerdsations to purchase shares of
common stock with an exercise price of $11.28. @$tenated fair value of separately identifiablemgible assets will be amortized over an
estimated useful life of two to three years. Agsult, future amortization expense related to tugsition will be $96,000, $88,000, and
$40,000 for the years ending December 31, 20145,281d 2016, respectively.

5. Intangible Assets

In 2011, the Company entered into a purelaseement to acquire software technology to bd irscertain software applications. The
total purchase price was determined based on awevgharing formula for software licenses sold whi acquired technology between
December 2011 and November 2012. The purchaseragnééncluded a minimum purchase price of $0.7iamlbnd a maximum purchase
price of $2.0 million. In 2011, the Company recatdefinite-lived intangible asset and correspondihtigation for the minimum purchase
price of $0.7 million, based on estimated futucetlise sales under the agreement. Based on saileg that period, the final purchase price
$0.7 million. The asset is being amortized and aspd to cost of revenue on a straight-line basis the estimated life of the associated
technology, which was determined to be five years.

In 2010, the Company completed the acdoisitf software technology to be used in certaiitvgare applications for a total purchase
price that consisted of a cash payment of appraeiiyn&0.3 million and the issuance of a warrantdechase 71,153 shares of the Company's
common stock at a fair value of $0.3 million. Théat purchase price of approximately $0.6 millioaswvecorded as a finite-lived intangible
asset and is being amortized and expensed to trstenue on a straight-line basis over the estrhéife of the associated technology which
was determined to be five years.

Amortization of finite-lived intangible a=is as of December 31, 2013 is as follows for e three years:

2014 $ 39z
2015 362
2016 173

$ 92¢
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6. Long-Term Obligations
Loan and Security Agreemet

In June 2013, the Company entered into merded and Restated Loan and Security AgreememtSiliton Valley Bank (the "SVB
Agreement"), which consists of a revolving creditifity of $13.0 million (subject to certain borrowg base restrictions) and term borrowings
to fund purchases of property and equipment. Altdoeings under the SVB Agreement are collateralizgdhe general assets of the Comp:
The credit facility has a variable rate of interefsprime (as published in the Wall Street Jouroal) IBOR plus 2.50%, as selected by the
Company. The rate was 3.25% at December 31, 2@18ldition, the Company pays an annual commitrmesnbf $20,000 and a quarterly
unused line fee of 0.375% based on the differeeteden the borrowing commitment of $13.0 milliomddhe then-current balance. The SVB
Agreement provided for an additional $2.75 milliarterm borrowings to fund purchase of property agdipment through May 2014, of
which $2.0 million was available at December 31120Term borrowings are payable in 36 equal monplalyments of principal plus interest
and bear interest at prime plus 0.50%, which w@s%.at December 31, 2013.

Borrowing under the revolving credit fatyilis subject to certain collateral restrictiontieg primarily to the Company's accounts
receivable and inventory levels. As of December2®1,3, the total borrowing capacity was approxinya$4 3.0 million, and no borrowings
were outstanding. The revolving credit facility leamaturity date of May 29, 2015.

The SVB Agreement contains various resugcand financial covenants and the Company wasinpliance with each of these covenant
as of December 31, 2013.

Future principal payments on outstandimmtborrowings as of December 31, 2013 are as fallpwthousands):

2014 $ 1,13¢
2015 91t
2016 727
2017 18¢€

$ 2,96¢

Settlement Obligatior

The Company has entered into various sedite agreements relating to alleged patent infrimgrgs, which included future payments
under non-interest bearing, unsecured notes pay&iecarrying values of the notes payable hava degounted using an implied interest
rate of 3.75% and are included in accrued and dtimgr-term liabilities in the accompanying consatigd balance sheets.

Upon closing of the Company's initial pahdiffering, the balance due on one of the settl¢rokligations was accelerated and became
immediately due and payable. As a result, the Compaade a final payment on this obligation of $@illion on August 12, 2013. The
difference between the carrying value of the noie the payment was recorded as a $0.2 million ehtargnterest expense.
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6. Long-Term Obligations (Continued)

Future annual payments on the settlemdigailons as of December 31, 2013 are shown irighke below (in thousands):

2014 $ 94C
2015 20
2016 20

98C
Less amount representing inter (33
Present value of settlement obligatis 947
Less current portion of settlement obligatic (907)
Long-term portion of settlement obligatio $ 4C

7. Income Taxes

The domestic and foreign components ofmeime (loss) before income tax expense considtsedfollowing for the periods shown
below (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013
Income (loss) before income tax:
Domestic $ (4,697 $ (4,055 $ 3,63
Foreign 812 472 11¢€

Total income (loss) before income ta $ (3,885 $ (3,589 $ 3,757

The provision for income taxes consistetheffollowing components (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013
Current:
Domestic
Federal $ — $ 15 % 64
State — 57 53
Foreign — 69 147
Total current tax expen: — 141 264
Deferred:
Domestic
Federal (1,779 (710) 1,572
State (280) (65) 44
Foreign 251 88 (16)
Valuation allowanct 1,80z 687 (1,61€)
Total deferred tax bene! — — (16)
Total income tax expen: $ — $ 141 $  24¢
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7. Income Taxes (Continued)
A reconciliation from the U.S. statutorylézal income tax rate to the effective income & follows:

Years Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013
Federal income tax ra (34.0% (34.0% 34.(%
State taxes, net of federal ben (4.2 11 11
Stoclk-based compensatic 9.1 15.C 221
Stock warran — — 6.4
Research and development cre (16.0 — (18.9)
Change in valuation allowan: 46.4 17.2 (42.0
Other, ne (1.4 4.5 2.7
Effective income tax rat 0.C% 3.€% 6.€%

Deferred tax assets and (liabilities) amprised of the following (in thousands):

December 31

2012 2013
Deferred Tax Asset:
Reserves and accrui $ 339 $ 2,14¢
Inventories 60€ 1,05¢
Net operating loss carryforwar 30,16¢ 27,86"
Property, plant and equipme 1,05¢ 1,32
Stocl-based compensatic 783 1,23
Research and development credit carryforw. 3,254 4,091
Other 204 16:
Total deferred tax asse 39,46: 37,88
Valuation allowanct (39,467) (37,847)
Total deferred tax asse $ — 3 42
Deferred Tax Liabilities
Undistributed earnings of foreign subsidial — 9 (15)
Property and equipme — (17)
Total deferred tax liabilitie $ — 9 (26)
Net deferred tax ass $ — $ 16

During the year ended December 31, 20B2Cimpany reversed the valuation allowance forrdedeax assets related to its subsidiary
operating in the UK totaling $92,000. This subsgigiiaad a history of generating income and useckitgining net operating loss carryforwa
in the year ended December 31, 2012.

At December 31, 2012 and 2013, the Comaalya full valuation allowance against the defeteadassets of its domestic operations as
believes it is more likely than not that these Hignavill not be realized. Significant judgmentrisquired in making this assessment, and it is
very difficult to predict
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7. Income Taxes (Continued)

when, if ever, the assessment may conclude thagthaining portion of the deferred tax assets @aéizable. The net valuation allowance
increased by approximately $0.7 million and deceddsy approximately $1.6 million during the yeamsled December 31, 2012 and 2013,
respectively.

Net operating loss and tax credit carryfands as of December 31, 2013 are as follows (inshods):

Amount Expiration Years
Net operating losses, fede $ 77,43¢ 2023- 2031
Net operating losses, st: 75,64( 2018- 2031
Tax credit carryforwards, feder 3,15¢ 2023- 2033
Tax credit carryforwards, sta 1,41: 2018- 2028
Net operating losses, foreir 21 None

Approximately $2.7 million of the net optng losses reported above represents unrecorddzbteefits for stock-based compensation,
which will be recorded in additional paid in capitghen realized. Utilization of the net operating$ carryforwards and credits may be subjec
to a substantial annual limitation due to the owhgr change limitations provided by the InternaV&wie Code of 1986, as amended (the
"IRC"), and similar state provisions. The Compaag hot performed a detailed analysis to determimether an ownership change under
Section 382 of the IRC has occurred or will ocdure effect of an ownership change would be the Bitjpm of an annual limitation on the use
of net operating loss carryforwards attributabl@peniods before the change.

The following is a reconciliation of theastges in the gross balance of unrecognized taxXiterexcluding interest and penalties (in
thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013
Balance at the beginning of the per $ 1,86z $ 2,31¢ $ 2,31¢
Current year additior 45€ — 62E
Balance at the end of the peri $ 2,318 $ 2,31¢ $ 2,948

The Company does not believe there wilhbg material changes in its unrecognized tax benetfier the next 12 months. As of
December 31, 2013, the amount of unrecognizedeaaxfits that would, if recognized, impact the Comps effective income tax rate is
approximately $2.9 million.

The Company files income tax returns inlthmited States, including various state and lagasglictions. The Company's subsidiaries file
income tax returns in the United Kingdom, Hong Ko@gina and India. The Company is subject to exation in the United States, the
United Kingdom, Hong Kong, China, and India as veslivarious state jurisdictions. As of December2®1,3, the Company was not under
examination by any tax authorities. Tax years bagoin 2008 are subject to examination by taxingtéd States tax authorities, although net
operating loss and credit carryforwards from alingeare subject to examinations and adjustmentst feast three years following the year in
which the attributes are used. Tax years beginm09 are subject to examination by the taxinfpauities in the United Kingdom.
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7. Income Taxes (Continued)

At December 31, 2013, the Company had wrilliged foreign earnings of $0.8 million, whictet@ompany intends to permanently
reinvest in the foreign subsidiary. Unrecognizefeded tax liabilities of $0.3 million from tempasadifferences related to the investment in
this foreign subsidiary would have been taxabtaéf Company repatriated the foreign earnings. Tomgany anticipates that future overseas
earnings will also be reinvested indefinitely. btardance with the indefinite reversal criteriag foreign currency gains recorded in other
comprehensive income related to foreign currereydiation have not been tax effected.

8. Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stobklders' Equity (Deficit)
Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stc

Upon closing of the Company's initial pahdiffering, the 15,293,960 shares of issued anstauding redeemable convertible preferred
stock were converted into common stock. Each shiaredeemable convertible preferred stock, showissased and outstanding in the table
below, was converted into one share of common sfblok carrying value of the redeemable preferredksat August 7, 2013 of $116.3 milli
was reclassified to common stock and additional{raicapital.

Redeemable convertible preferred stockistets of the following at December 31, 2012 and ésig/, 2013 (in thousands, except share
data):

Shares Aggregate

Shares Issued and Liquidation

Authorized Outstanding Preference
Series A 8,150,001 1,567,301 $ 4,07t
Series B 18,124,23 3,485,42! 14,73¢
Series C 14,215,79 2,726,47 15,00(
Series C 7,789,21! 1,497,92 15,89(
Series E 5,045,66: 965,92 11,00(
Series F 5,988,02. 1,151,54. 20,00(
Series C 8,677,33! 1,668,70 15,45(
Series (-1 2,073,14: 216,01! 2,00(
Series H 13,100,00 2,014,64. 20,00(

83,163,40 15,293,96 $ 118,15(

Prior to their conversion, the Series A;i&eB, Series C, Series D, Series E, Series ke$Sé, Series G-1 and Series H redeemable
convertible preferred stockholders were entitleceteive, when, as and if declared by the Compdunésd of Directors, dividends at a rate of
$0.21, $0.34, $0.44, $0.85, $0.91, $1.39, $0.7445@&nd $0.79 per share per year, respectivelyh&@extent that additional dividends were
declared by the Board of Directors, those amoumtsidvhave been distributed equally among the PredeBtockholders and common
stockholders. As of December 31, 2013, no dividdratsbeen declared by the Board of Directors.
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Warrants to Purchase Stock and Preferred Stock Waant Liability
Warrants to purchase common and prefetmk sre summarized in the following table:

Number of Shares Subject to Warrant

December 31 December 31
2012 2013 Exercise Price
Warrants to purchase shares of common ¢ 71,15; — 3 7.4¢
Warrants to purchase shares of common ¢ 470,08: — 9.9:
Warrants to purchase Series C redeemable conwe
preferred stock(1 7,32¢ — 5.5C
Warrants to purchase Series E redeemable conwe
preferred stock(1 4,39( — 11.3¢
Warrants to purchase shares of common stoc — 7,32t 5.5C
Warrants to purchase shares of common stoc — 4,39( 11.3¢
Warrants to purchase Series G-1 redeemable
convertible preferred stoc 182,66t — 9.2¢
735,61t 11,71t

Q) Warrants to purchase Series C and Seriesé¢eneable convertible preferred stock were convertiedwarrants to
purchase shares of common stock upon the closittged€ompany's initial public offerin

Upon the closing of the Company's initiabfic offering, warrants to purchase 723,901 shaféke Company's common and preferred
stock were net exercised, and the Company issug@2® shares of common stock to the holders oivdreants.

In 2009, the Series G-1 investors receivatrants to purchase 182,666 shares of Seriese@elemable convertible preferred stock at a
price of $9.26 per share. The warrants became inateyl exercisable upon the closing of the Seriek fihancing and the fair value of
$0.4 million was recorded as a liability with thiésetting charge to expense. Because the holdeteqgireferred stock were able to elect to
redeem the shares for cash, the Company's outstppckferred stock warrants were classified aglili@s and were revalued at the end of €
reporting period using the Black-Scholes optioreipgd valuation model. Changes in fair value wefleoted in the Company's statements of
operations as other income or expense. Upon teetafé date of the Company's initial public offeyithe Company adjusted the liability ba
upon the offering price of $16.00 per share. Duthgyears ended December 31, 2012 and 2013, #&mgehn fair value for the redeemable
preferred stock warrant liability of $0.3 milliomé $0.7 million were recorded to other expense.

As discussed above, upon the closing ofimpany's initial public offering, the warrantsaarchase shares of the Company's redeet
convertible preferred stock were net exercisedh®f293,232 shares issued, the Company issued4/ét@Bes of common stock to the warran
holder of Series G-1 redeemable convertible pretestock. The then-current aggregate fair valudefvarrant liability of $1.3 million was
reclassified from long-term liabilities to addit@mpaid-in capital, a component of stockholdersiiggand the Company ceased to record any
further periodic fair value adjustments relatinghe warrant liability.
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8. Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stobbklders' Equity (Deficit) (Continued)
Stock Options

In 2003, the Board of Directors adopted2063 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2003 Plan"), whiarovided for the granting of nonqualified
and incentive stock options, stock appreciatiohtsgstock awards and restricted stock. Under @08 Plan, the Company was able to grant
nonqualified and incentive stock options to direst@mployees and non-employees providing sertect®e Company. On June 11, 2013, the
Company's Board of Directors adopted the 2013 S@uton and Incentive Plan (the "2013 Plan"), whids subsequently approved by the
Company's stockholders. The 2013 Plan became ifeas of the closing of the Company's initial paloffering. To the extent that any
awards outstanding under the 2003 Plan are fodfeitdapse unexercised subsequent to August 1, 208 3hares of common stock subject to
such awards will become available for issuance utide2013 Plan. The 2013 Plan provides for animeagéases in the number of reserved
shares of up to 5% of the outstanding number afeshaf the Company's Common Stock.

A summary of stock option activity for tiiears ended December 31, 2011, 2012 and 20135srmesl below:

Weighted
Weighted Average
Shares Subjec Average Weighted Remaining
to Options Grant Date Average Contractual
Outstanding Fair Value Exercise Price Life (Years)
Balance at December 31, 2C 3,373,111 2.0z 3.51 6.8
Granted 1,988,04. 3.94 6.1¢
Exercisec (577,43) 1.2C 2.0¢
Expired (186,736 2.3¢ 4.3:
Forfeited (244,279 3.22 5.3(C
Balance at December 31, 20 4,352,70. 2.9:¢ 4.7¢ 7.€
Granted 715,20! 5.31 9.4t
Exercisec (245,349 1.9z 3.2C
Expired (14,149 2.97 491
Forfeited (159,174 3.63 5.71
Balance at December 31, 20 4,649,23! 3.3¢ 5.5€ 7.2
Granted 480,69¢ 10.0¢ 13.2C
Exercisec (107,049 2.3¢€ 417
Expired (27,772 3.43 5.7¢
Forfeited (89,909) 4.44 7.14
Balance at December 31, 2C 4,905,21. $ 3.9t % 6.31 6.4
Exercisable options at December 31,
2012 2,640,27: $ 25C $ 4.2¢ 5.8
Vested during the year ended
December 31, 201 824,08 3.6¢ 5.9:
Vested and expected to vest at
December 31, 201 4,280,08 3.22 5.41
Non-vested options at December 31,
2012 2,009,50! 4.37 7.2¢
Exercisable options at December 31,
2013 3,285,69! 2.91 4.8¢ 5.5
Vested during the year ended
December 31, 201 845,96! 4.0¢ 6.97
Vested and expected to vest at
December 31, 201 4,544,94. 3.82 6.1¢F
Non-vested options at December 31,
2013 1,619,571 6.11 9.27
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The following table summarizes informatedpout stock options outstanding and exercisableaember 31, 2013:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted- Weighted-
Weighted Average Average
Average Number of Remaining Number of Remaining
Exercise  Underlying Contractual Underlying Contractual
Range of Exercise Price Price Shares Life (in years) Shares Life (in years)
$0.26- 1.30 $ 0.5 187,28 1.C 187,28 1.C
1.35- 2.60 2.1¢ 473,34 2.5 473,34 2.5
2.65- 3.90 3.2t 325,52: 3.€ 325,52: 3.€
3.95-5.20 4.87i 941,82 5.2 937,78! 5.2
5.25- 6.50 6.1¢ 1,686,51. 7.7 1,033,88 7.7
6.55- 7.80 7.4¢ 118,94 6.5 100,62( 6.5
7.85-9.10 8.84 238,45: 8.5 94,53¢ 8.t
9.15- 22.77 11.5¢ 933,32. 8.7 132,71t 8.¢
4,905,21. 3,285,69'

The following table summarizes the aggregatrinsic-value of options exercised, outstanding exercisable (in thousands):

For the Years Ended and as ¢
December 31,

2011 2012 2013
Options Exercise $ 240C $ 1,31C $ 1,31¢
Options Outstandin 9,11( 23,48( 56,19"
Options Exercisabl 7,10C 16,80( 42,11¢

The fair value of each option award isreated on the date of grant using the Black-Schati®n-pricing model with the following
assumptions:

Years Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013
Expected volatility 71-73% 59-63% 56-59%
Expected dividend 0% 0% 0%
Expected terms (in year 5.0-6.1 5.0-6.1 3.3-7.2
Risk-free rate 11-25% 0.7-1.0% 0.8-1.7%
Forfeiture rate 11.6% 7.9% 7.2%
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Total stock-based compensation expensédwes classified as follows in the accompanyingestants of operations (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013
Cost of revenu $ 49 3 78 $ 63
Research and developme 492 704 1,414
Sales and marketir 523 58C 743
General and administrati\ 94¢ 1,507 1,54(
Total stocl-based compensation expel $ 2,012 $ 2,86¢ $ 3,76(

At December 31, 2013, there was $7.2 mmilli total unrecognized compensation cost reladetbh-vested stock option awards that will
be recognized over a weighted-average period of&a®s.

9. Related Party Transactions

The Company has entered into sales agrésmétih certain of its investors. The following tatsets forth revenue from product sales to
companies affiliated with these investors (in themds):

Years Ended December 31

2011 2012 2013
Company 1 $ 99t $ 2,14: $ 2,88¢
Company = 2,13¢ 1,29( 95(
Company : 47¢€ 791 42¢€
Company < — 1,807 12¢

$ 3607 $ 6,03C $ 4,39/

As of December 31, 2012 and 2013, the Compad accounts receivable from these companiabrgt$1.5 million and $0.6 million,
respectively. Purchase and payment terms with tredated parties are consistent with other noniatifid companies.

10. Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Leases

The Company leases office and warehouseegmader operating leases that expire between 20d£2018. The terms of the leases incl
periods of free rent, options for the Company tteed the leases (three to five years) and incrgasintal rates over time. The Company
recognizes rental expense under these operatisgdem a straight-line basis over the lives ofe¢hses and has accrued for rental expense
recorded but not paid.

Rental expense was approximately $1.0 onil1.1 million and $1.4 million for the years eddDecember 31, 2011, 2012 and 2013,
respectively.
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Future minimum rental payments requiredaumibn-cancelable operating leases with initialeonaining terms in excess of one year
consist of the following as of December 31, 20h3tliousands):

2014 $ 1,61:
2015 1,62(
2016 1,50¢
2017 1,28¢
2018 697
Thereaftel —

$ 6,71

Purchase Commitment

The Company had non-cancellable purchasegbments for the purchase of inventory, which agtéhrough May 2014 totaling
approximately $22.6 million at December 31, 2013.

Indemnification

The Company has agreed to indemnify it&efé and directors for certain events or occuenwhile the officer or director is or was
serving at the Company's request in such capaldity.maximum amount of potential future indemnificatis unlimited; however, the
Company has a director and officer insurance pdhey provides corporate reimbursement coveragdithis its exposure and enables it to
recover a portion of any future amounts paid. Thenany is unable to reasonably estimate the maxiamunt that could be payable under
these arrangements since these obligations amapped but are conditional to the unique factsamdimstances involved. Accordingly, the
Company has no liabilities recorded for these agesds as of December 31, 2013.

Employment Agreement

The Company has signed employment agreemntit certain executive officers who are entitledeceive certain benefits if their
employment is terminated by the Company, includgiegerance payments, accelerated vesting of stdanemnd continuation of certain
insurance benefits.

Legal Matters

The Company is subject to various lawsaiitd other claims that arise from time to time ia ¢indinary course of business. These actions
may be based on alleged patent infringement or otlagters. The Company intends to defend itselbnigsly against any such actions. The
Company establishes reserves for specific liabdith connection with legal actions that it deembée probable and estimable.

In management's opinion, the Company isoaently involved in any legal proceedings thadjvidually or in the aggregate, could have
a material effect on the Company's financial caadjtoperations, or cash flows.
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Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by refeecincthe Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333326) pertaining to the Control4
Corporation 2013 Stock Option and Incentive Plashlue Control4 Corporation 2003 Equity IncentivarPbf our report dated February 21,
2014, with respect to the consolidated financialeshents of Control4 Corporation included in thimAal Report (Form 10-K) for the year
ended December 31, 2013.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Salt Lake City, Utah
February 21, 2014
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Martin Plaehn, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Repartrmrm 10-K of Control4 Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this repodsdnot contain any untrue statement of a mat@galbr omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisleding with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the finansatements, and other financial information ineltiéh this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifyin§iagr(s) and | are responsible for establishing arahtaining disclosure controls and procedures (z
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}5¢r the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls@odedures, or caused such disclosure controlprrugdures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duritg teriod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of thgsteant's disclosure controls and procedures agskpted in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougyeldis report based on such
evaluation; and

(c) Disclosed in this report any chanmgéhie registrant's internal control over finaneggorting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regig's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the gant's internal control over financial reportiaggd

5. The registrant's other certifyinfjadr(s) and | have disclosed, based on our masinteevaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thetamnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and miad weaknesses in the design or operation of @lezontrol over financial reporting whi
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig's ability to record, process, summarize apdrt financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not materialat involves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the registran
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 21, 2014 By: /s/ MARTIN PLAEHN

Martin Plaehn
President, Chairman and Chief Executive Offi
(Principal Executive Officer
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Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Dan Strong, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Repartrmrm 10-K of Control4 Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this repodsdnot contain any untrue statement of a mat@galbr omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisleding with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the finansatements, and other financial information ineltiéh this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifyin§iagr(s) and | are responsible for establishing arahtaining disclosure controls and procedures (z
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}5¢r the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls@odedures, or caused such disclosure controlprrugdures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duritg teriod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Evaluated the effectiveness of thgsteant's disclosure controls and procedures agskpted in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougyeldis report based on such
evaluation; and

(c) Disclosed in this report any chanmgéhie registrant's internal control over finaneggorting that occurred during the
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the regig's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahneport) that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the gant's internal control over financial reportiaggd

5. The registrant's other certifyinfjadr(s) and | have disclosed, based on our masinteevaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thetamnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and miad weaknesses in the design or operation of @lezontrol over financial reporting whi
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig's ability to record, process, summarize apdrt financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not materialat involves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the registran
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 21, 2014 By: /s/ DAN STRONG

Dan Strong
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR 15d-a%OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADCED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACTF2002
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Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF  FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report onfdt0-K of Control4 Corporation for the year endegtBmber 31, 2013 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the dateh@he "Report"), Martin Plaehn, as Chief Execat®fficer of Control4 Corporation,
hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. SectiorD135 adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sasb@mley Act of 2002, that, to the best of
his knowledge, the Report fully complies with tleguirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SéiesrExchange Act of 1934, and the
information contained in the Report fairly preseiviall material respects, the financial conditand results of operations of Control4
Corporation.

Date: February 21, 2014 By: /s/ MARTIN PLAEHN

Martin Plaehn
President, Chairman and Chief Executive Offi
(Principal Executive Officer

In connection with the Annual Report onfdt0-K of Control4 Corporation for the year endegtBmber 31, 2013 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date@h@he "Report"), Dan Strong, as Chief Financiffie@r of Control4 Corporation, hereby
certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,capted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanesy@deof 2002, that, to the best of his
knowledge, the Report fully complies with the reguients of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securrshange Act of 1934, and the
information contained in the Report fairly preseimisall material respects, the financial conditand results of operations of Control4
Corporation.

Date: February 21, 2014 By: /s/ DAN STRONG

Dan Strong
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office
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CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEFINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1BAS
ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBAN-OXLEY ACT OF 2002



